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As a leading medical technology company, NxStage has been innovating 

improvements in renal care for a little more than a decade.  Our greatest 

successes come from our belief that we can create a therapy paradigm 

that provides dialysis patients with better clinical results and the freedom to 

live their lives on their own terms.  Consistent with this vision, the NxStage® 

System One™ has provided life-changing therapy to over 30 thousand 

patients in their homes around the world. We continue to make significant 

and exciting progress.

EACH YEAR, OUR COMPANY HAS 
BEEN GETTING STRONGER.
 

2016 was a great year for NxStage. We achieved our financial objectives, 

advanced our innovative pipeline, and continued to execute on our 

strategic goals. Our focus on innovation and execution is delivering results 

and setting the foundation for our next wave of growth.  Most importantly, 

we believe we are having a positive impact on patients’ lives. 

Our 2016 Performance

We delivered $366 million in revenue for 2016 and cut our net loss by 

over two-thirds when compared with the prior year. We also had our ninth 

straight quarter of operating profitability in our Products Business, more 

than doubling it year over year.  Beyond the numbers, our team has been 

working hard to expand adoption of our home therapy within the United 

States and internationally, advance our innovative product pipeline, and 

deliver new customer wins within our Critical Care market.  

Over the past year, we also saw a significant publication from the American 

Journal of Kidney Disease highlighting the compelling clinical data in 

support of more frequent hemodialysis, a meaningful improvement in 

training reimbursement from the Centers of Medicare & Medicaid Services, 

continued progress with our patient marketing activities, and growing 

adoption of our Nx2me Connected Health® solution. In addition, we 

continue to build a presence within the skilled nursing market, where the 

System One provides on-site dialysis, eliminating the burden of travel to 

and from a dialysis clinic for these patients.  

SETTING THE FOUNDATION FOR 
OUR NEXT WAVE OF GROWTH.
Our Innovative Pipeline

For over a decade, NxStage has been changing the way people think about 

dialysis.  We are proud that our current portfolio of products includes many 

of the industry’s ‘firsts’ in terms of technology and clearances that are 

having a wonderful impact on patients’ lives and transforming renal care. 

We are committed to continuing this rich history of innovation with three 

major system introductions that are uniquely designed to improve ease 

of use, reduce burden of therapy, improve clinical flexibility and improve 

the economics of our therapy. With continued execution, we believe these 

innovations can take us from our current $1 billion market opportunity to a 

$5 billion opportunity.   

Our Next Generation Hemodialysis System

Our next generation hemodialysis system is designed to maintain and 

extend NxStage’s leadership in home hemodialysis. We began a multi-

phase launch of this system in August of 2016. To date, this launch has 

included software improvements and a cycler with a new touch screen user 

interface and integrated blood pressure monitor.  These features and new 

functionality deliver significant benefits to our patients, including improved 

setup time and ease of use.  We will continue to invest in bringing additional 

next generation capabilities to our patients and customers as we move 

forward. 

Our Peritoneal Dialysis System

We believe the peritoneal dialysis (PD) market is a significant opportunity for 

NxStage. PD is an established $3 billion worldwide market that we believe 

will continue to grow faster than the overall dialysis market. Our goal is 

to deliver a compelling and differentiated PD system that gives physicians 

and patients exciting new options and improves clinical outcomes. We are 

building off our success in on-site fluid systems to change how PD is done 

- very similar to our approach in home hemodialysis.  

Our Next Generation Critical Care System

Our next generation critical care system is the result of the work we have 

been doing with the U.S. Department of Defense through its DARPA 

program. We believe we have developed some amazing technology with 

this program, and we expect to delight the Critical Care market in terms 

of flexibility, simplicity, and ease of use, all in a surprisingly small package. 

We believe this new system will expand our market gains in the United 

States, and provide us with the feature set to successfully compete within 

the international critical care market. 

WE ARE SEEING EVIDENCE THAT 
OUR VISION IS BECOMING REALITY.
 

We are confident in our strategy and believe that we are well positioned to 

capitalize on the opportunities ahead to deliver exciting long-term growth.  

We are seeing evidence that our vision to change renal care and deliver 

solid returns to our shareholders is becoming a reality. We have much more 

to accomplish, but our future has never been brighter.  We plan to keep 

our heads down, stay focused and continue executing, exactly as we have 

done in the past.  

I believe NxStage can help improve the lives of many more patients, and I 

appreciate the commitment of everyone who shares in our vision. On behalf 

of the Board of Directors and the employees of NxStage, thank you for your 

continued support. 

We look forward to another great year.

Sincerely,

Founder and Chief Executive Officer  

Why offer

at my Skilled Nursing Facility?
On-Site Hemodialysis

Differentiate services and  gain referrals

Less disruptions to patient  care schedules, 
meals, and  medications

Decreased transportation  expenses of 
patients going  to and from dialysis centers

More time for patient  rehabilitation needs

Increased patient census1
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CAUTIONARY NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report and certain information incorporated by reference herein contain forward-looking statements concerning
our business, operations and financial condition, including statements with respect to:

• the growth of our business;
• our vision of enabling better clinical outcomes for patients at a lower cost to the healthcare system;
• the ability of our product pipeline to help us expand existing markets and enter new ones;
• achieving greater operating leverage and improved financial results in the future;
• expectations about achieving overall company profitability in 2017;
• our belief that the significant majority of our near-term revenues will come from sales of the System One in the U.S.;
• financial performance of our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers and our continued investments in them;
• estimates of the number of end-stage renal disease (ESRD) patients that could be treated at home with the System One;
• potential value and components of the global market for ESRD and critical care products;
• our strategic initiatives to grow home hemodialysis adoption, expand globally, enhance our product offerings, expand into

high growth adjacencies and enter peritoneal dialysis and their ability to unlock commercial opportunities and drive future
growth;

• our belief that peritoneal dialysis is ripe for technology innovation and that we are well-positioned to launch into this
market;

• access to home and more frequent hemodialysis;
• the potential for our nocturnal clearance and other initiatives to expand the home hemodialysis market and improve patient

care;
• our plans for, and expected design and functionality of, our next-generation hemodialysis system, next-generation critical

care system and peritoneal dialysis system;
• the development and commercialization of new products and improvements to existing products;
• sales to our key customers, including DaVita HealthCare Partners and Fresenius Medical Care;
• the adequacy of our funding;
• expectations with respect to future demand for our products and revenue growth, with components of such revenue growth

including sales of disposable products;
• future financial results for our System One, In-Center and Services segments and total company;
• expectation of sustaining gross profit as a percentage of revenue in our System One segment above 50% and the underlying

elements of such objective;
• future selling and marketing, research and development, distribution, and general and administrative expenses and the

drivers for such expenses;
• our manufacturing operations and supply chain;
• the scope and impact of our research and development efforts;
• availability of suitable facilities;
• expectations with respect to our working capital levels and requirements;
• availability of credit under our revolving credit facility;
• global economic conditions;
• expectations with respect to achieving positive operating margins and maintaining positive cash flows;
• volatility of our stock price;
• expectation to retain earnings and not issue dividends;
• legal proceedings;
• expectations with respect to product reliability;
• impact of the adoption of new accounting standards;
• future realization of our deferred tax assets;
• anticipated benefits of manufacturing dialyzers for sale to Asahi Kasei Kuraray Medical Co. (Asahi) and future sales to

Asahi;
• our ability to withstand supply chain disruptions;
• the scope and adequacy of patent protection with respect to our products;
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• the availability of, and changes in, reimbursement for home and more frequent hemodialysis, including home nocturnal
hemodialysis; and

• the financial, commercial and operational impact of any of the above.

All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Annual Report regarding our strategies, prospects,
financial condition, costs, plans and objectives are forward-looking statements. When used in this Annual Report, the words
“expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “plan”, “believe”, “seek”, “estimate”, “potential”, “continue”, “predict”, “may”, "will" and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these
identifying words. Because these forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, actual results could differ materially
from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.

Readers should carefully review the Risk Factors and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations set forth in this Annual Report, as these sections describe important factors that could cause actual results to
differ materially from those indicated by our forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to revise or update publicly
any forward-looking statement.

NOTE REGARDING TRADEMARKS

NxStage®, Streamline®, ButtonHole®, MasterGuard®, Medisystems®, Nx2me Connected Health®, Nx2me®, LockSite® and
OneSite® are registered trademarks of NxStage Medical, Inc. PureFlow SLTM and System OneTM are trademarks of NxStage
Medical, Inc. iPad® is a registered trademark of Apple Inc.
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PART I

For convenience, in this Annual Report “NxStage,” “we,” “us,” and “the Company” refer to NxStage Medical, Inc. and
our consolidated subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
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Item 1. Business

Our Company

NxStage Medical, Inc. is a medical technology company that develops, manufactures and markets innovative products and
services for patients suffering from chronic or acute kidney failure. Since our initial public offering in 2005, we have built a
strong business that we believe serves as a solid foundation for future growth. As a leader in home hemodialysis, we remain
committed to not only growing this and our other existing areas, but also expanding to new markets where we believe our
current and future technology has the ability to deliver value for both patients and our customers.

Our vision is to improve the standard of kidney care through technology leadership, therapy innovation and the efficient
use of healthcare resources. By creating technology that is designed to have broad capability, be simple to use in a variety of
settings, and incorporate greater automation with reduced equipment and supply costs, we believe we can ultimately enable
better clinical outcomes for patients at a lower overall cost to the healthcare system. We work with our customers, patients,
physicians, industry partners and government leaders to advance this vision.

Our primary product, the System One, was designed to satisfy an unmet clinical need for a system capable of delivering
the therapeutic flexibility and clinical benefits of traditional dialysis machines in a smaller, portable, easy-to-use form that can
be used by healthcare professionals and trained lay users alike in a variety of settings, including patient homes, as well as more
traditional care settings such as hospitals and dialysis centers. Given its design, the System One is particularly well-suited for
home hemodialysis and a range of dialysis therapies that are more practical to deliver in the home setting, including more
frequent hemodialysis and nocturnal hemodialysis. Clinical literature suggests such therapies provide patients better clinical
outcomes and improved quality of life.

We also operate a small number of NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, independently and in some instances as joint
ventures, that treat end-stage renal disease patients directly. These centers provide us with valuable experience to better meet
and anticipate the needs of both our customers and patients, while optimizing our product technology.

Our research and development efforts are important to our future success. Our product development organization is
working to develop innovative technical approaches that address the limitations of current dialysis systems and disposable
products. We are also working on enhancements to our product designs to improve ease of use, functionality, reliability and
safety and to reduce product cost. We believe that our product pipeline will help us to both expand existing markets and enter
new ones.

We report our operating results through three segments: System One, In-Center and Services. We sell our products in and
provide our services in three markets: home, critical care and in-center. Our other business activities excluded from segment
operating performance measures relate primarily to the manufacturing of dialyzers for sale to Asahi Kasei Kuraray Medical Co.
(Asahi). Together with certain research and development and general and administrative expenses that are excluded from our
business segment operating results, these business activities are reported in the Other category. The operating results of
NxStage Kidney Care are included in our Services segment. For convenience, we use the term “products business” to refer
collectively to our System One segment, In-Center segment, and Other category.

We are headquartered in Lawrence, Massachusetts, with manufacturing facilities in Mexico, Germany and Italy. Through
our international network of affiliates and distribution partners, patients in over 21 countries have been treated with our
products.
Our Financial Performance

The table below provides a three year history of revenues and income (loss) from operations summarized for the products
business (which includes the results of our System One segment, In-Center segment and Other category), Services segment and
in total. For detail below this summary level, please see further segment discussion under Item 7, Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.



(in thousands) 2016 2015 2014
Products Business (System One
Segment, In-Center Segment & Other)

Revenues $ 359,127 $ 332,845 $ 300,598
Income (Loss) from operations $ 22,695 $ 9,197 $ (7,261)

Services Segment
Revenues $ 14,781 $ 6,412 $ 1,749
Loss from operations $ (26,233) $ (23,826) $ (14,926)

Eliminations
Elimination of intersegment revenues $ (7,530) $ (3,134) $ (846)
Elimination of intersegment gross profit $ (747) $ — $ —

Total Company
Revenues $ 366,378 $ 336,123 $ 301,501
Loss from operations $ (4,285) $ (14,629) $ (22,187)

Since inception, we have focused on building a long-term sustainable business model based on innovative technologies
and offerings. Although we have driven significant revenue growth, and have a robust product portfolio and product
development pipeline, we have historically operated at a net loss. In recent years, we have started to achieve greater operating
leverage and financial improvements, while still maintaining our focus on product development and topline growth. During
2016, we continued to generate operating income in our products business, and we expect to continue our focus on driving
improvements in 2017 and beyond within this business, while we continue to invest in our existing NxStage Kidney Care
dialysis centers. We expect to achieve positive net income for the full 2017 fiscal year as our products business continues to
grow.

Our Market

Kidney Failure: Chronic and Acute

Chronic kidney disease is typically characterized by the progressive loss of kidney function due to damage caused by
diabetes, high blood pressure and other causes. The final stage of chronic kidney disease is called end-stage renal disease
(ESRD), which is an irreversible, life-threatening loss of kidney function that is treated predominantly with dialysis. Dialysis is
a kidney replacement therapy that removes toxins and excess fluids from the bloodstream. Unless the patient receives a kidney
transplant, dialysis is required for the remainder of the patient’s life. The primary types of dialysis are hemodialysis and
peritoneal dialysis. Hemodialysis diverts the patient’s blood to an external dialyzer, where a filter and cleansing fluid
(“dialysate”) remove toxins and excess fluids, and then returns the cleansed blood to the patient. Hemodialysis is traditionally
performed by healthcare professionals in a dialysis clinic on a fixed schedule three times per week, referred to as “in-center”
treatment, but can be performed by the patient, with the availability of a care partner, in the home three to seven times per
week. Peritoneal dialysis is a home therapy in which toxins are removed through the peritoneum, a part of the patient’s
abdomen, through multiple fluid exchanges each day.

Acute kidney failure happens suddenly, as a result of illness, injury or other conditions. Acute kidney failure is typically
treated with renal replacement therapies, including hemodialysis, in a hospital or similar critical care setting.

Approximately 470,000 ESRD patients in the U.S. and 2.6 million ESRD patients worldwide rely on life-sustaining
dialysis treatment.
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Dialysis Modality Prevalence (U.S.)

Although in-center hemodialysis is the most common ESRD therapy in the U.S., surveys of healthcare professionals
suggest that a larger proportion of patients could take responsibility for their own care. In fact, more than 90% of surveyed
U.S. nephrologists have said they would choose a home dialysis therapy for themselves if informed they needed renal
replacement therapy, with home hemodialysis being the preferred option. With our current technology, we believe that
approximately 10-15% of ESRD patients in the U.S. would be appropriate candidates for home hemodialysis with the System
One.

Studies have consistently shown that home hemodialysis may be a viable alternative for ESRD patients to experience
enhanced health, control and freedom. Home hemodialysis offers patients numerous benefits when compared with traditional
in-center hemodialysis, including:

- improved survival;
- independence and the ability to better understand and take control of one’s care;
- freedom from specific time constraints with greater ability to work and participate in “normal” life activities;
- greater freedom to travel;
- convenience of not driving to and from the dialysis center three times a week; and
- privacy and comfort of being at home.
In addition, home hemodialysis presents the most practical setting for performing therapy at the frequency and duration

that best suits a patient’s clinical needs. Traditional in-center hemodialysis treatment schedules are constrained by staffing and
time slot availability, which presents practical and economic limitations on the ability to explore or implement innovative
therapy delivery models that are more tailored to the unique clinical and lifestyle needs of patients, as well as responsive to the
growing body of clinical literature reporting on the benefits of different therapy delivery models. Although the significant
majority of ESRD patients are cared for in-center under a delivery model that provides for three treatments a week (Monday,
Wednesday and Friday, or Tuesday, Thursday and Saturday), typically at 3 to 4 hours per session, there is mounting clinical
evidence demonstrating the quality of life and clinical benefits of alternative therapy delivery schedules, including additional
dialysis sessions (from four to seven sessions per week) as well as longer, nocturnal therapy sessions. More frequent therapy,
in particular, has been shown to lead to better clinical outcomes such as:

- improved survival;
- reduced risk of cardiovascular morbidity;
- improved regulation of blood pressure and phosphorus and reduced need for related medications;
- improved physical and mental quality of life; and
- better therapy tolerance.
For more information about the clinical benefits of more frequent hemodialysis, please review the section below entitled

“Clinical Evidence.”
Products Market
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Based on the prevalence of kidney failure and related healthcare data, we estimate the potential value of the global market
for ESRD and critical care products to be allocated among the following constituents:

Market Opportunity: Global ESRD & Critical Care Products

While we believe the significant majority of our near-term revenues will come from sales of the System One in the U.S.,
we are working on a number of strategic initiatives that we believe will unlock a greater market opportunity for us over the next
few years.

Strategic Initiatives

Grow Adoption of Home Hemodialysis with the System One

To increase patient awareness and demand for home and more frequent hemodialysis, we conduct and sponsor local and
national patient outreach and awareness campaigns, participate in preeminent nephrology conferences, organize educational
programs for patients and clinicians in collaboration with local service providers, collaborate with local and national kidney
patient organizations, utilize direct mail and Internet campaigns to provide product literature and clinically relevant
information, employ patient advocates, advertise in trade publications and broader media outlets and conduct numerous other
educational and promotional activities. In addition, our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers are working to expand access to
home therapies and are helping us to devise best practices for successful home dialysis programs.

We also advocate for increased access to the life changing benefits of home hemodialysis and more frequent hemodialysis
for medically suitable patients. Even though healthcare professionals would choose home hemodialysis for themselves more
than any other modality, many of their patients do not have adequate access to this option. According to data from the Centers
for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), only 18% of U.S. dialysis clinics actively offer home hemodialysis to their patients,
and only 27% are certified to offer the therapy. Although access to home and more frequent hemodialysis continues to grow,
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we believe that current Medicare reimbursement policies lead to adoption rates lower than rates commensurate with the
percentage of patients experts believe can perform and medically benefit from this therapy. We believe further improving
Medicare reimbursement for home hemodialysis training, as well as more predictable Medicare reimbursement for more
frequent dialysis with less administrative burden and payment for medical oversight equal to that provided for overseeing in-
center patients would allow U.S. adoption of home hemodialysis at rates more consistent with what is deemed to be appropriate
by the medical community. We continue to engage in regular dialogue with CMS, Medicare contractors, policymakers and
industry experts on such issues to encourage broader adoption of home and more frequent hemodialysis.

Drive Global Expansion

Historically, predominantly all of our revenues have come from sales of our products in the U.S. However, the U.S.
represents a small portion of the global market for ESRD products. Accordingly, the international market represents a
significant growth opportunity.

We commenced international sales in 2009 and have sold the System One in 21 countries. We seek to increase our product
revenues by expanding our international presence within countries where we have an established footprint and entering new
regions through third-party distributors who have an established presence in such regions. Furthermore, our product pipeline is
expected to introduce features and enhancements that we believe will increase the appeal of our products to international
customers.

Enhance the Ease of Use and Clinical Flexibility of our Product Offering

We promote our products’ ease of use and clinical flexibility. Accordingly, we continue to add new features and tools
associated with our next-generation hemodialysis system to enhance usability and reduce the burden of therapy, and we
continue work to expand the System One's applications.

In 2014, the System One became the first and only hemodialysis machine cleared in the U.S. to perform hemodialysis
overnight while the patient and care partner sleep. The System One also is CE marked for home nocturnal hemodialysis in the
EU. Home nocturnal hemodialysis is an important patient option associated with a number of lifestyle and clinical advantages.
By doing therapy while sleeping, patients free up their day to pursue other activities thereby reducing the overall burden of
therapy. A longer, overnight therapy also allows for greatly expanded flexibility in dialysis dose and schedule, better enabling
physicians to match the dialysis prescription to individual patient needs. We believe that this nocturnal clearance will open
home hemodialysis therapy to new segments of patients, and improve care for ESRD patients by expanding therapeutic options
and flexibility.

We have also seen strong interest in Nx2me Connected Health, our telehealth platform for the collection and delivery of
treatment and medical information for patients using the System One. By enhancing the ease of information collection and
availability to the patient and care team, Nx2me may foster improved home patient retention and communication.

In addition, our research and development organization continues to work on enhancements to our product designs and is
currently developing, among other things, our next-generation critical care system. Additional information about our
innovative product pipeline is provided below in the sections entitled “Enter Peritoneal Dialysis,” “Next-Generation
Hemodialysis System,” "Next-Generation Critical Care System" and “Product Development.”

In addition, our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers are gaining valuable clinical insights that will help us to optimize
our product technology.

We believe that technological improvements which make the administration of home hemodialysis less burdensome can
help to expand the commercial potential of home hemodialysis.

Expand into High Growth Adjacencies
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We focus on expanding into adjacent markets, including skilled nursing facilities where we believe our product technology
offers a differentiated and compelling value proposition.

Nursing home residents represent approximately 8% of all ESRD patients. Nursing home patients are generally
transported off-site to dialysis clinics, which may introduce several risks to their health and compromise their care. The System
One can be used at skilled nursing facilities to offer residents on-site hemodialysis, which may eliminate patient discomfort
from traveling to an outside facility and the accompanying disruptions in rehabilitation, medication schedules and social
activities. Offering on-site hemodialysis also eliminates the high costs of transporting patients to dialysis clinics, which is not
always covered by reimbursement.

Enter Peritoneal Dialysis

The commercial opportunity with peritoneal dialysis is significantly larger than that for home hemodialysis and is well
established as it is generally favored by healthcare programs and payors. We believe, however, that peritoneal dialysis is ripe
for technology innovation and that we are well-positioned to launch into this market based on our capabilities and decade long
history of technological innovation and leadership within home hemodialysis. We are developing our peritoneal dialysis
system to offer a differentiated therapy solution with on-site dialysate generation from concentrate without the need for
premixed bagged fluids, with pre-connected, ready to use disposables that require fewer touch contamination points, and
automation to improve setup, training and use.

Future Peritoneal Dialysis System
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Our Products and Services

We have over a decade long history of product innovation. Our products and services currently target the home, critical
care and in-center markets. The following timeline highlights some of our key product introductions since 2003:



The following section describes our product offerings.

Home Dialysis

Our home product offerings currently target the home hemodialysis market. The NxStage System One is a small, portable,
easy-to-use hemodialysis system that is used to perform treatments during the day or at night, while sleeping. The System One
is the only portable hemodialysis system that is cleared by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for in-center and
hospital use (2002), for home hemodialysis (2005) and home nocturnal hemodialysis (2014). Its simplicity and compact size
are intended to allow for easy use in patients’ homes or other home-like settings and give patients the opportunity to travel with
their therapy.

System One - Home

In addition to our machine, we provide patients with the following proprietary consumables and services which are used
for each treatment with the System One:

- The NxStage Cartridge. A disposable, integrated treatment cartridge that loads simply and easily into the System One.
The cartridge incorporates a proprietary volumetric fluid management system and includes a pre-attached dialyzer.

- PureFlow SL and Premixed Dialysate. Our PureFlow SL accessory prepares on-site premixed dialysate fluid in
batches before treatment in the patient’s home using ordinary tap water and dialysate concentrate. The volume of
fluids used varies with treatment options, prescription and setting. To accommodate patient travel with the System
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One or in other circumstances in which the PureFlow SL is not available, we also supply premixed dialysate in sterile
five liter bags.

- Nx2me Connected Health. Our Nx2me Connected Health platform leverages cloud-based computing and wireless
communications by using an application we developed for the iPad. The Nx2me Connected Health application collects
important System One cycler data, as well as patient information such as blood pressure and weight. Patients can
review, confirm, and transmit this data to their dialysis centers after each treatment and dialysis center staff can access
the transmitted data with their own clinician portal. This gives the staff enhanced capabilities to review and follow
treatment adherence and progress as well as the ability to transfer this data directly into their electronic health records
system.

Unlike traditional dialysis systems, the System One does not require any special disinfection and its operation does not
require specialized electrical or plumbing infrastructure or modifications to the home. Trained patients can bring the System
One home, plug it into a conventional electrical outlet and operate it, thereby eliminating what can be expensive plumbing and
electrical household modifications required by traditional dialysis systems.

Next-Generation Hemodialysis System

In 2016, we commenced a phased launch of our next-generation hemodialysis system. The first phase included software
changes improving ease of use and set up time. In 2017, we expect to launch a second phase of enhancements, including a
touch screen user interface and integrated blood pressure cuff, upon regulatory clearance. The third phase of our next-
generation system includes a new on-site on-demand bicarbonate-based dialysis generation system. We have elected to develop
a second generation of this system before investing in the regulatory process for its market clearance. We expect this
development cycle to further enhance its capabilities as well as further optimize and reduce the cost of the system.

Next-Generation Hemodialysis System

Critical Care

The System One also delivers a range of renal replacement therapies within the critical care market. The System One sold
to hospitals for critical care is based on the same technology platform used in the home market but offers a wider range of
therapies, including therapeutic plasma exchange. We configure our critical care system with an intuitive touch screen display
that provides real-time treatment information as well as easy troubleshooting capabilities for hospital staff and an ergonomic
mobile stand for exceptional portability.

System One - Critical Care
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We also supply related disposable cartridges and treatment fluids necessary to perform dialysis treatment in the critical care
market.

The clinical flexibility of the System One, coupled with its ease of use and portability, make our system well suited for
hospital critical care environments.

Next-Generation Critical Care System

In June 2013, we entered into a research and development program sponsored by the Defense Advanced Research Projects
Agency of the U.S. Department of Defense to develop an innovative device for use in military applications under a government
sponsored program. This program aligns well with our technology and we expect that we will continue to leverage this product
development work in the advancement of our next-generation critical care system. We expect that the design of our next-
generation critical care system will incorporate a small footprint, intuitive touch screen interface, multi-stream fluid
management system, and the option of on-demand fluid generation.

In-Center

We sell extracorporeal disposable products under our Medisystems brand that are primarily used for in-center hemodialysis
treatments for ESRD patients. These products include hemodialysis blood tubing sets, arteriovenous (AV) fistula needles,
apheresis needles, safety accessories and access management disposables.

Our Streamline blood tubing sets feature an efficient and airless design intended to enable providers to optimize dose
delivery, and includes our patented LockSite needleless access sites, eliminating the need for sharp needles or costlier guarded
needles to be used with the tubing set in connection with dialysis therapy. In addition, our Streamline Express dialyzer features
a pre-attached blood tubing set, which is designed to reduce the number of touch point contamination sites. Our AV fistula and
apheresis needles have been designed to achieve a smooth blood flow throughout the treatment, intended to result in less
clotting, fewer pressure drops, and less stress on the patient’s blood. We also offer ButtonHole needles for hemodialysis
therapies, which are used by patients that employ the constant-site technique, whereby a fistula needle is inserted in the same
place each treatment.

NxStage Kidney Care

We operate a small number of NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, independently and in some instances as joint
ventures, that treat ESRD patients directly. These centers provide us with valuable experience to better meet and anticipate the
needs of both our customers and patients, while optimizing our product technology. In addition, these centers provide us with
the opportunity to innovate and foster new care delivery models to advance the standard of renal care across other settings.
More specifically, at NxStage Kidney Care we offer a range of treatment options, including home hemodialysis, peritoneal
dialysis and flexible in-center hemodialysis. These centers also help us to devise best practices for successful home dialysis
programs and provide sites for future clinical trials of our products.
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Our Reporting Segments

We report our operating results through three segments: System One, In-Center and Services. Our other business activities
relate primarily to the manufacturing of dialyzers for sale to Asahi Kasei Kuraray Medical Co. (Asahi). Together with certain



research and development and general and administrative expenses that are excluded from our business segment operating
results, these business activities are reported in the Other category. We refer to our System One segment, In-Center segment
and Other category as our products business. Additional financial information regarding our business segments and geographic
data about our assets are contained in Note 9, Business Segment and Geographic Information to our consolidated financial
statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this
Annual Report. A discussion of the risks attendant to our operations is set forth in the Risk Factors section of this Annual
Report.

System One

Our System One segment includes worldwide revenues from the sale and rental of the System One and PureFlow SL
dialysate preparation equipment and the sale of disposable products in the home and critical care markets. Some of our largest
customers in the home market provide outsourced renal dialysis services to some of our customers in critical care. Sales of
products to both markets are made primarily through dedicated sales forces to dialysis centers and hospitals and delivered
directly to the customer, or their patients, with certain products sold through distributors. In addition to specialized sales
representatives, we also employ nurses in our sales force as clinical educators to support our sales efforts. We have a staff of
customer support specialists to assist patients, clinics and hospitals with product orders and deliveries. We also provide
technical support 24 hours a day, seven days a week through a dedicated staff of technical support representatives, to respond to
questions raised by patients, clinics and hospitals concerning the System One.

Home. We market and sell the System One to dialysis clinics in the U.S. and other markets, which in turn provide the
System One to their ESRD patients for chronic home hemodialysis treatment. In the U.S., Medicare regulations require that all
chronic ESRD patients be under the care of a dialysis clinic, whether they are treated at home or in clinic. As a result, we do
not sell the System One directly to Medicare patients. A significant majority of System One equipment in the home is
purchased rather than rented by our customers. Purchased equipment pricing includes service for an initial contractual period
after which the customer pays a standard service fee. We use a depot service model for equipment servicing and repair. If a
device requires repair, we arrange for a replacement device to be shipped to the site of care, whether it is a patient’s home or a
clinic, and for pick up and return to us of the system requiring service. This shipment is done by common carrier and, as there
are no special installation requirements, the patient or clinic can quickly and easily set up the new machine.

After selling or renting a System One to a new clinic customer, our clinical educators train the clinic’s nurses and dialysis
technicians on the proper use of the System One using our proprietary training materials. We then rely on our customers’
trained technicians and nurses to train home patients, their care partners and other technicians and nurses using the System One.
In general, we are not responsible for, and do not provide, patient training except for NxStage Kidney Care patients. Patient
training takes place at the clinic primarily during the patient’s prescribed treatment sessions. Training typically takes three to
four weeks and consists of (1) basic education about ESRD, (2) training patients and care partners on inserting needles into the
patient’s vascular access site and (3) instruction on the use and operation of the System One. Reimbursement for training
sessions is provided by Medicare, at a fixed rate, and private insurance.

For each month that a patient is treated with the System One, we bill the clinic for the purchase of the related disposable
cartridges and treatment fluids necessary to perform treatment, and other related services, where applicable.

Our customers for products used in the home are highly consolidated. DaVita HealthCare Partners (DaVita) and Fresenius
Medical Care (Fresenius) own and operate the two largest chains of dialysis clinics in the U.S. and are our two largest
customers for products used in the home. Collectively, they provide treatment to more than two-thirds of U.S. dialysis patients
and a similar portion of our home patients, and account for the majority of our System One segment revenues. Increased sales
to DaVita and Fresenius have driven a large portion of our historical revenue growth and will be important to future growth.
Our home agreements with DaVita and Fresenius are intended to support the continued expansion of patient access to home
hemodialysis with the System One, but like all our agreements with home market customers, these agreements are not
requirements contracts and contain no minimum purchase volumes. Our home agreement with DaVita extends through
December 31, 2018, with monthly renewals thereafter unless terminated by either party with 30 days' prior notice. Our home
agreement with Fresenius continues to renew on a monthly basis unless we and Fresenius choose to modify the terms with an
amendment or new agreement.

Critical Care. We market the System One directly to hospitals for treatment of acute kidney failure and fluid overload in
the U.S. and other geographies. Most of our customers in the critical care market use the System One to perform prolonged or
continuous renal replacement therapy for their acute kidney failure or fluid overload patients. We position the System One as a
differentiated platform for the delivery of renal care in acute settings because of its technologically innovative features, ease of
use and portability. The System One’s continuous volumetric balancing offers a simple effluent drainage capacity. It also uses
a disposable, integrated treatment cartridge to minimize maintenance and disinfection requirements, and pre-mixed dialysate to
free it from cumbersome water processing systems.
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A significant majority of System One equipment in the critical care market is purchased rather than rented by our
customers. Purchased equipment pricing includes service during our standard one-year warranty period, and we sell one- and
two-year service contracts for post-warranty periods. We also offer a bio-medical training program, whereby we train bio-
medical engineers on how to service and repair certain aspects of the System One in the critical care setting. Unlike the home
market, we do not use a depot service model for equipment servicing and repair, but instead generally service critical care
equipment in the field. The nature of the hospital critical care setting, coupled with the practices of other intensive care unit
dialysis equipment suppliers, requires that we offer on-site support for our systems in this environment, or for the use of a
trained bio-medical engineer.

After selling or renting a System One to a new hospital customer, our clinical educators generally train the hospital’s
intensive care unit and acute dialysis nurses on the proper use of the System One using our proprietary training materials. We
then rely on the trained nurses to train other nurses. By adopting this “train the trainer” approach, our sales nurses do not need
to return to the hospital each time a new nurse requires training.

We also supply hospitals using the System One with related disposable cartridges and treatment fluids necessary to perform
treatment.

International. We sell the System One and certain other products internationally, through a combination of direct sales to
dialysis clinics and hospitals in the United Kingdom and Canada, and sales through distributors in Europe and other select
markets. Products sold to distributors are shipped directly to distributor warehouses and the distributors sell or rent our
products to dialysis providers or hospitals and are responsible for marketing, clinic training and equipment servicing and repair.

We entered the international market in 2009 and to date our international sales have been limited and focused primarily on
the home market. While we are still early in our international commercialization efforts, we believe that there is a large
opportunity for us to expand outside the U.S. Several of our product development initiatives, including our peritoneal dialysis
system and next-generation critical care system, will be important to these efforts.

In-Center

Our In-Center segment includes revenues from the sale of blood tubing sets and needles for hemodialysis, primarily for the
treatment of ESRD patients at dialysis clinics, and needles for apheresis. In this market, our customers are independent dialysis
clinics as well as dialysis clinics that are part of national or regional chains. Although in many instances we have direct
contractual relationships with our customers, nearly all of our sales in this segment are made through national distributors in
order to leverage national networks, shipping efficiencies and existing customer relationships. We plan our manufacturing and
distribution activities based on distributor purchase orders. Finished goods are shipped directly to distributor warehouses. We
support distributor selling and marketing efforts with brand marketing support and a team of clinical educators who assist with
clinical in-service activities.

We market our extracorporeal disposable products under the Medisystems brand, which we acquired in 2007.
Medisystems branded products have an established reputation for quality, ease of use and innovation, and have been in the in-
center market since 1981. In our marketing efforts, we emphasize our Medisystems products’ strong clinical performance and
cost-effectiveness.

Our In-Center segment revenues are highly concentrated in several significant purchasers. Henry Schein, Inc., accounted
for 28% of our 2016 In-Center segment revenues. Gambro AB (a subsidiary of Baxter International, Inc.) accounted for 20% of
our 2016 In-Center segment revenues, with all of Gambro's sales of our products being to DaVita.

Services

Our Services segment includes revenues from dialysis services provided to patients at our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis
centers. As of February 3, 2017, we had 20 centers accepting patients in13 states, of which 19 have received Medicare
certification. We continue to explore innovative service delivery models with our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers to
advance the standard of renal care. Some of our service models vary on the number of treatment stations within a center, the
configuration of the center and hours of operation. However, at all of our centers, we provide patients with a range of therapy
options to address their clinical and lifestyle needs. For appropriate patients, such therapies may include home hemodialysis,
flexible in-center hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis.
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Clinical Evidence

The vast majority of ESRD patients in the U.S. are prescribed traditional in-center hemodialysis, which consists of three
dialysis sessions per week, typically at 3 to 4 hours per session, in a clinical setting. Despite falling mortality rates in
hemodialysis patients during the past decade, rates remain much higher than in age-matched U.S. residents. Notably, among
patients under age 50, mortality rates are 25 to 55 times higher than in general U.S. residents. Significant clinical literature
strongly supports that home and more frequent hemodialysis therapy can lead to improved clinical outcomes.



Home Hemodialysis

Studies have consistently shown that home hemodialysis may offer enhanced health, control and freedom to ESRD
patients. Several observational studies have found home hemodialysis to be associated with a lower mortality risk compared to
in-center hemodialysis. Home therapy may also be an effective way by which to increase patient engagement in the delivery of
dialysis, with accumulating health services research suggesting improved outcomes with higher patient activation. In addition,
home patients are afforded a newfound independence and control over their care that can result in an improved quality of life.

More Frequent Hemodialysis

The traditional thrice weekly hemodialysis schedule is a clear departure from normal physiology in which the kidneys
continuously filter blood. Accompanying each interval between consecutive dialysis sessions, changes in serum biochemistry
and volume status may increase risks of both acute (e.g., cardiac arrhythmia) and chronic (e.g., end organ damage)
complications. The roughly 72-hour interval between consecutive sessions on Friday and Monday or Saturday and Tuesday
appears to be especially problematic. Multiple studies have suggested that this interval is associated with increased risks of
mortality and morbidity.

More frequent hemodialysis, defined as the range of schedules that eliminates multiple-day intervals between consecutive
sessions, mitigates the “unphysiology” of the usual hemodialysis schedule. Regimens range from every-other-day dialysis to
daily dialysis. Accumulating evidence, including randomized clinical trials and large observational studies, indicates that more
frequent hemodialysis confers multiple benefits, including reduced risk of cardiovascular morbidity, improved regulation of
blood pressure and phosphorus and reduced need for related medications, better tolerability of hemodialysis and improved
physical and mental quality of life.

Cardiovascular Disease. Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death in hemodialysis patients. An important
predictor of cardiovascular mortality and morbidity in dialysis patients is left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), a condition
marked by enlargement and thickening of the walls of the left ventricle. LVH is an adaptive response to increased cardiac work,
typically caused by combined pressure and volume overload. Multiple studies show that more frequent hemodialysis reduces
left ventricular mass and is associated with significantly lower risk of cardiovascular mortality and morbidity, particularly due
to heart failure and hypertensive disease.

Blood Pressure and Antihypertensive Medications. Hypertension is a cardinal feature of ESRD, with the prevalence of
hypertension exceeding 85% in new ESRD patients. Highly elevated blood pressure is associated with poor outcomes in
dialysis patients. With three hemodialysis sessions per week, blood pressure climbs during the interdialytic interval, in step
with interdialytic weight gain, particularly among elderly patients and those with higher dry weight. Multiple randomized
clinical trials show that frequent hemodialysis reduces blood pressure and the need for oral medications indicated for
hypertension.

Serum Phosphorus and Phosphate Binders. ESRD patients commonly have elevated levels of serum phosphorus
(“hyperphosphatemia”). Hyperphosphatemia is associated with higher risk of cardiovascular death. The treatment of
hyperphosphatemia is burdensome. Dialysis patients consume on average 19 pills per day and 9 are phosphate binders.
Moreover, Medicare Part D expenditures on binders for dialysis patients exceeded $840 million in 2014. Meanwhile,
adherence to phosphate binders is poor, especially in younger patients and those with high pill burden. Multiple randomized
clinical trials show that frequent hemodialysis reduces serum phosphorus. In observational research, frequent hemodialysis is
also associated with a lower percentage of patients using binders.

Dialysis Tolerability. Dialysis treatment can be difficult to tolerate. Recurrent complications during and after the
hemodialysis session may limit treatment persistence and engender withdrawal, which is the primary cause of death in 10% to
15% of patients. Long recovery time after treatment is common with the thrice-weekly hemodialysis schedule. In one study,
recovery time was between two and six hours for 41% of hemodialysis patients and greater than six hours for 27%; recovery
time greater than six hours was associated with substantially higher risks of death and hospitalization. In our prospective,
observational FREEDOM (Following Rehabilitation, Economics, and Everyday Dialysis Outcome Measurements) study of
daily home hemodialysis, recovery time was sharply reduced after 12 months of treatment, from roughly eight hours at baseline
to merely one hour in per-protocol analysis. Meanwhile, recovery time after nocturnal hemodialysis may be only minutes in
duration. In matched cohort studies, daily home hemodialysis was associated with almost 40% lower risk of death due to
withdrawal or cachexia, relative to each of thrice-weekly in-center hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis. By decreasing
recovery time after treatment, frequent hemodialysis can improve the tolerability of dialysis treatment and may reduce the
incidence of withdrawal from dialysis.

Quality of Life: Physical Health. Characteristics of poor physical health-related quality of life (HRQoL) include
limitations in physical, self-care and social activities; severe bodily pain; frequent tiredness; and low self-rating of physical
health. Mean physical HRQoL in hemodialysis patients is much lower than the U.S. general population norm. In both
randomized clinical trials and prospective cohort studies, more frequent hemodialysis improves physical HRQoL. More
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frequent hemodialysis is also associated with improvements in restless legs, especially in patients with severe symptoms, and
sleep disturbances, including daytime somnolence.

Quality of Life: Mental Health. Characteristics of poor mental HRQoL include frequent psychological distress, social
disability due to emotional problems and low self-rating of mental health. Poorer mental health, as measured by the Kidney
Disease Quality of Life Short Form, has been associated with increased risks of both death and hospitalization in hemodialysis
patients. Frequent hemodialysis can address depressive symptoms, as shown in our FREEDOM study. More frequent
hemodialysis also has led to improvement in overall mental health, including large improvements in vitality and social
functioning.

Potential Risks
In spite of the benefits of more frequent hemodialysis on cardiovascular function, health-related quality of life, and

treatment tolerability, more frequent hemodialysis, including more frequent hemodialysis performed at home, may introduce
specific risks pertaining to vascular access complications, infections, loss of residual renal function and increased burden on
caregivers. All forms of hemodialysis, including treatments performed in-center and at home, involve some risks. In addition,
there are certain risks unique to treatment in the home environment. Patients differ and not everyone will experience the
reported benefits of home or more frequent hemodialysis. Certain risks associated with hemodialysis treatment are increased
when performing nocturnal therapy due to the length of treatment time and because therapy is performed while the patient and
care partner are sleeping.
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Our Competition

The dialysis therapy market is mature, and we face competition from many sources. We believe that our competitive
strengths include the quality and ease of use of our products and our history of leveraging innovative technology to deliver high
value, clinically flexible solutions.

Home Hemodialysis

The System One is the first portable system indicated for home hemodialysis and is also indicated for home nocturnal
hemodialysis in the U.S. We believe the System One's design is unique in terms of product quality and ease of use compared to
other products cleared for home use in the U.S. because of its design, portability and avoidance of home modifications.
Multiple competitors provide more traditional systems, against which the System One competes in the home hemodialysis
market.

Critical Care

The System One is also used in the critical care market. Other providers of products for hemodialysis in the critical care
market include Gambro (a subsidiary of Baxter), Fresenius, Nikkiso Co. Ltd., B. Braun Medical, Inc. (B. Braun) and several
smaller companies. In addition, multiple competitors provide more traditional systems used in intensive care units.

We believe we compete favorably in terms of product quality and ease of use due to our System One design, portability,
drop-in cartridge and use of premixed fluids.

In-Center

Our Medisystems branded bloodlines, needles and other consumables are sold to U.S. in-center providers and compete
against products produced by Fresenius, Nipro Medical Corporation, JMS Co. Ltd. and others. Outside the U.S., we face
competition from several firms, including B. Braun and Baxter, together with its subsidiary Gambro.

We believe that we compete favorably with a strong Medisystems brand and with respect to product quality, ease of use,
cost effectiveness, clinical flexibility and performance.

Services

The U.S. dialysis services industry is highly competitive. A majority of U.S. dialysis centers are operated by the two
largest dialysis organizations, DaVita and Fresenius, with the remaining facilities allocated among several mid-sized dialysis
organizations and a number of small dialysis organizations and local hospitals.

Intellectual Property

We seek to protect our investment in the research, development, manufacturing and marketing of our products through the
use of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret law. We own rights to a number of patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade
secrets and other intellectual property directly related and important to our business both in the U.S. and abroad. We also have
domestic and foreign pending patent applications. Any of our trade secrets, know-how or other technology not protected by a
patent could be misappropriated, or independently developed by, a competitor and could, under some circumstances, be used to
prevent us from further use of such information, know-how or technology. We require our employees, consultants and advisors



to execute confidentiality agreements with us. We also require our employees to agree to disclose and assign to us inventions
conceived by them during their employment. Similar obligations are imposed upon consultants and advisors performing work
for us relating to the design or manufacture of our products. Despite efforts to protect our intellectual property, unauthorized
parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary.

Patents. Our strategy is to develop patent portfolios for our research and development projects. Patents for individual
products extend for varying periods of time according to the date a patent application is filed or a patent is granted and the term
of the patent protection available in the jurisdiction granting the patent. The scope of protection provided by a patent can vary
significantly from country to country.

As of December 31, 2016, we had 137 U.S. and foreign counterpart patents and 52 U.S. and foreign counterpart patents
pending. The issued patents and pending patent applications cover, among other things:

• safety technology for automated blood treatments;
• control and mechanical features aimed at set-up including priming of blood circuits and preparation of fluids including

dialysate for hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis;
• blood circuit improvements aimed at safety, cost effectiveness and convenience;
• control technology aimed at reliability and safety of blood treatment machines;
• sensor technology including temperature and pressure sensors; and
• administration of peritoneal dialysis.
The approximate expiration periods for our issued patents are as follows:

Expiration Portion of Patent Portfolio
Within the next 5 years 29%

6-10 years 26%
11-15 years 12%
16-20 years 33%

Hemodialysis technologies have been in existence for over fifty years, and there are thousands of patents held by third
parties that relate to dialytic technologies. Collectively, our patents and other intellectual property are important to us, although
there is no single patent that is solely responsible for protecting our products. We believe that the duration of our patents is
adequate relative to the expected lives of our products.
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Product Development

Our product development organization is working to develop innovative technical approaches that address the limitations
of current dialysis systems and disposable products. We focus our development innovation on new hardware and disposables
that allow for lower cost and higher capability. This includes developing new sensors, software, disposable designs, pump
designs, manufacturing techniques, assembly automation, plastic processing technologies, and user interfaces, to name a few of
our important development areas. Our development team has skills across the range of technologies required to develop and
maintain dialysis systems and products, including filters, tubing sets, mechanical systems, fluids, software and electronics.

We are continually working on enhancements to our product designs to improve ease of use, functionality, reliability and
safety and to reduce product cost. We also seek to develop new products that supplement our existing product offerings, such
as our peritoneal dialysis system and next-generation critical care system, and intend to continue to actively pursue research
and development opportunities for complementary products.

We believe our research and development efforts are critical to our success and continue to make significant investments in
our product pipeline. Our research and development expenses were $31.0 million (8% of total revenues), $26.2 million (8% of
total revenues) and $22.6 million (8% of total revenues) during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Manufacturing

We have significant manufacturing infrastructure dedicated to high-volume plastics disposables production. We have
manufacturing facilities in Mexico, Germany and Italy. Manufacturing innovation of process and automation is a critical
capability that has contributed to our ability to manufacture high quality, low-cost products. We have designed most of our
production automation ourselves. At our facility in Tijuana, Mexico, we perform a number of manufacturing operations
relating to our System One equipment and disposables and in-center bloodlines, and we service System One equipment. We
manufacture our dialyzer filters at a facility in Germany owned by Asahi and operated by us, and we perform molding activities
at our facility in Italy. We complement our internal production capabilities by outsourcing the manufacture of premixed
dialysate, needles and some components.



We depend upon a number of single-source suppliers for certain of our raw materials, components and finished goods,
including the fiber used in our System One filters, our needles and sterile bags, as well as sterilization services. Finding
alternative sources for these raw materials, components, finished goods and sterilization services would be difficult and in
many cases entail a significant amount of time, disruption and cost. Where obtaining a second source is more difficult, we have
tried to establish supply agreements that better protect our continuity of supply, although we do not have supply agreements
with all of our single-source suppliers. Where we have no agreements in place, we work, to the extent economically feasible, to
maintain enough inventory of the single-sourced component to allow us to, if needed, satisfy our requirements for the
component while we secure an alternative source of supply.

Some of our most critical supply relationships are with Membrana GmbH and Laboratorios PiSA S.A. de C.V.

Membrana is our only supplier of the fiber used in our filters for System One products under an agreement that expires in
December 2023, and contractually we cannot obtain an alternative source of fiber for our System One products. While our
relationship with Asahi could afford us back-up supply in the event of supply disruptions at Membrana, we do not have the
regulatory approvals necessary to use Asahi fiber in our System One cartridge.

Laboratorios PiSA supplies substantially all of our premixed dialysate. Our supply agreement with Laboratorios PiSA
extends through December 2019. We have committed to purchase from Laboratorios PiSA a minimum quantity of premixed
dialysate over the term of the agreement. While we purchase premixed dialysate from another qualified supplier, any significant
disruption in Laboratorios PiSA’s ability to supply premixed dialysate to us would impair our business, at least in the near term.
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Government Regulation

In the U.S., numerous laws and regulations govern all the processes by which medical devices are brought to market and,
for our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, the manner in which we administer and submit claims for patient care. In the
foreign countries in which we market and sell our products, we are subject to local regulations affecting, among other things,
design and product standards, packaging and labeling and promotion requirements.

Food and Drug Administration

In the U.S., our products are subject to regulation by the FDA as medical devices. The FDA regulates the design,
development, clinical testing, manufacture, labeling, distribution, import and export, sale and promotion of medical devices.
Noncompliance with applicable FDA requirements can result in, among other things:

- violation letters;
- fines, injunctions, and civil penalties;
- recall or seizure of products;
- administrative detention, which is the detention by the FDA of medical devices believed to be adulterated or

misbranded;
- operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production;
- failure of the government to grant pre-market clearance or pre-market approval for devices;
- withdrawal of marketing clearances or approvals; and
- criminal prosecution.
Unless an exemption applies, all medical devices must receive either 510(k) clearance or an approved pre-market

application (PMA) from the FDA before they may be commercially distributed in the U.S. To obtain a 510(k) clearance for a
device, a pre-market notification to the FDA must be submitted demonstrating that the device is substantially equivalent to a
legally marketed predicate device. The FDA attempts to respond to a 510(k) pre-market notification within 90 days of
submission, but as a practical matter, pre-market clearance can take significantly longer, potentially up to one year or more.
The PMA process is much more demanding and uncertain than the 510(k) pre-market notification process and must be
supported by extensive clinical, technical and other information, including at least one adequate and well-controlled clinical
investigation. The FDA has 180 days from the date of filing to review an accepted PMA, although the review generally occurs
over a significantly longer period of time, and can take up to several years.

FDA Regulatory Clearance Status

We currently have all of the regulatory clearances required to market the System One in the U.S. in both the home and
critical care markets, all of which have thus far been granted as 510(k) clearances. The FDA has cleared the System One for the
treatment, under a physician’s prescription, of renal failure or fluid overload using hemofiltration, hemodialysis and/or
ultrafiltration. The FDA has also specifically cleared the System One for both home hemodialysis and home nocturnal
hemodialysis use under a physician’s prescription.



We continue to seek opportunities for product improvements and feature enhancements, which will, from time to time,
require FDA clearance before market launch. In total, we have received from the FDA 41 product clearances for the System
One and related products and 25 product clearances for our Medisystems branded extracorporeal disposable products.

Continuing FDA Regulation

After a device is placed on the market, numerous regulatory requirements apply, including:

- Quality System Regulations, which require manufacturers to have a quality system for the design, testing,
manufacture, packaging, labeling, storage, installation, and servicing of finished medical devices;

- labeling regulations, which govern product labels and labeling, prohibit the promotion of products for unapproved, or
off-label, uses and impose other restrictions on labeling and promotional activities;

- clearance of product modifications that could significantly affect safety or effectiveness or that would constitute a
major change in intended use of one of our cleared devices;

- medical device reporting (MDR) regulations, which require that manufacturers evaluate and investigate potential
adverse events and malfunctions, and report to the FDA if their device may have caused or contributed to a death or
serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if it were to
recur;

- the FDA’s recall authority, whereby it can ask, or under certain conditions order, device manufacturers to recall from
the market a product that is in violation of governing laws and regulations;

- regulations pertaining to voluntary recalls;
- notices of corrections or removals; and
- product listing and establishment registration, which helps facilitate FDA inspections and other regulatory action.
We are registered with the FDA as a medical device manufacturer. The FDA seeks to ensure compliance with regulatory

requirements through periodic facility inspections and these inspections may include the manufacturing facilities of our
subcontractors.

21

Foreign Regulation of Medical Devices

We are also subject to regulations in the foreign countries in which we market and sell our products. We currently have
limited sales outside of the U.S. Foreign regulations, which may vary substantially from country to country, relate to, among
other things, product standards, packaging, labeling and promotion requirements, import restrictions, tariff regulations, duties
and tax requirements.

Clearance or approval of our products by regulatory authorities comparable to the FDA, or in the case of the EU the
affixing of the CE mark, may be necessary in foreign countries prior to marketing the product in those countries, whether or not
FDA clearance has been obtained. The regulatory requirements for medical devices vary significantly from country to country.
They can involve requirements for additional testing and may be time consuming and expensive. We cannot provide assurance
that we will be able to obtain regulatory approvals in any other markets or be able to affix the CE mark to new products in the
EU.

In the specific case of the EU, manufacturers of medical devices are required to conduct an assessment of the conformity
of the devices with the Essential Requirements found in Annex I to Council Directive 93/42/EEC of 14 June 1993 concerning
medical devices, commonly known as the Medical Devices Directive, and to affix a CE mark to these devices prior to
marketing these within the EU. The Essential Requirements govern the quality, safety and performance of the medical devices.
The classification of individual medical devices will determine whether the participation by a notified body in the conformity
assessment process will be necessary. Notified bodies are private organizations that are licensed by the competent authorities of
individual EU Member States to conduct conformity assessment procedures and to verify the conformity of manufacturers and
their medical devices with the Essential Requirements. If, where the participation by a notified body is necessary, the outcome
of the conformity assessment procedure is positive the notified body will issue a related CE Certificate of Conformity. The
manufacturer of the device will then complete the technical file for the medical device and, after having prepared and signed a
related Declaration of Conformity, affix the CE mark to the product.

CE Certificates of Conformity have been issued in relation to all of our products that require such certificates and we have
affixed a CE mark to these products. However, if we introduce any substantial change to any of our CE marked medical devices
in the EU this may require an additional conformity assessment process in relation to the substantial changes and modification
or preparation of new CE Certificates of Conformity and Declarations of Conformity.

In the EU we must comply with a number of regulatory requirements for products that have been CE marked and placed
on the market relating to:



- registration of medical devices;
- pricing and reimbursement of medical devices;
- establishment of post-marketing surveillance and adverse event reporting procedures;
- field safety corrective actions, including product recalls and withdrawals;
- marketing and promotion of medical devices; and
- interactions with physicians.
Failure to comply with these requirements may result in enforcement measures being taken by the competent authorities of

the EU Member States. These can include fines, administrative penalties, compulsory product withdrawals, injunctions and
criminal prosecution. Such enforcement measures would have an adverse effect on the marketing of our products in the EU
and, consequently, on our business and financial position.
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Licensure and Certification

Our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers must be certified by CMS to receive Medicare payments. In some states, these
centers must also secure additional state licenses, permits or certificates of needs. Governmental authorities, primarily state
departments of health, periodically inspect our centers to determine if we satisfy applicable federal and state standards and
requirements, including the conditions of coverage by the Medicare ESRD program.

Fraud and Abuse Laws

U.S. federal healthcare laws apply when our customers and NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers submit claims for items
or services that are reimbursed under Medicare, Medicaid, or other federally-funded healthcare programs. The principal federal
fraud and abuse laws include:

• the Anti-Kickback Statute, which among other things prohibits the offer or payment of any remuneration for the
purpose of inducing or rewarding patient referrals or the order, purchase or recommendation of items or services
reimbursable by a federal healthcare program;

• the False Claims Act, which prohibits the submission of false or otherwise improper claims for payment to a federally-
funded healthcare program or causing such claims to be submitted; and

• criminal healthcare fraud statutes that prohibit false statements and improper claims to any third-party payors.

There are often similar state anti-kickback and false claims laws that apply to state-funded Medicaid and other healthcare
programs, as well as to private third-party payors. In addition, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act can be used to prosecute
companies in the U.S. for arrangements with physicians or other parties outside the U.S. if the physician or party is a
government official of another country and the arrangement violates the laws of that country. Sanctions under these federal and
state laws may include civil monetary penalties, exclusion of a manufacturer’s products or of a provider’s services from
reimbursement under government programs, criminal fines and imprisonment.

Similar laws are increasingly being introduced in the individual European states. The provision of benefits or advantages to
physicians to induce or encourage the prescription, recommendation, endorsement, purchase, supply, order or use of medical
devices is prohibited. The provision of benefits or advantages to physicians is also governed by the national anti-bribery laws of
European states. One such example is the UK Bribery Act. Payments made to physicians in certain EU Member States must
also be publicly disclosed. Moreover, agreements with physicians must often be the subject of prior notification and approval
by the physician’s employer or competent professional organization or the competent authorities of the individual European
states. These requirements are provided in the national laws, industry codes or professional codes of conduct applicable in the
European states. Failure to comply with these requirements could result in reputational harm, public reprimands, administrative
penalties, fines or imprisonment.

Anti-Kickback and Related Statutes

The federal healthcare program Anti-Kickback Statute, and similar state laws, prohibit payments and other forms of
remuneration that are intended to induce healthcare professionals or others either to refer patients or to purchase, lease, order or
arrange for or recommend the purchase, lease or order of healthcare products or services. Other laws prohibit remuneration that
the offeror knows or should know is likely to induce patients to select a particular provider of services, including for dialysis. A
number of states have enacted laws that require pharmaceutical and medical device companies to monitor and report payments,
gifts and other remuneration made to physicians and other healthcare professionals and healthcare organizations or marketing
expenditures. In addition, some state statutes, most notably laws in Massachusetts and Vermont, impose outright bans on
certain manufacturer gifts to physicians. Some of these laws, referred to as “aggregate spend” or “gift” laws, carry substantial
fines if they are violated. The federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act was enacted by Congress in 2010 as part of the
comprehensive health care reform legislation, and the implementing regulations, released in February 2013, require us to



collect and report certain data on payments and other transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals annually to CMS
for public reporting. It is widely believed that public reporting under the Sunshine Act results in increased scrutiny of the
financial relationships between industry, physicians and teaching hospitals.

The Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and potentially prohibits many arrangements and practices that are lawful in businesses
outside of the healthcare industry. Recognizing that the Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and may technically prohibit many
innocuous or beneficial arrangements, the statute contains some exceptions and the Office of Inspector General of the
Department of Health and Human Services (OIG) issued a series of regulations, known as the safe harbors, implementing these
exceptions and establishing some additional protected areas of conduct. These safe harbors set forth conditions that, if met, will
assure healthcare providers and other parties that they will not be prosecuted under the Anti-Kickback Statute. The failure of a
transaction or arrangement to fit precisely within a safe harbor does not necessarily mean that it is illegal or that prosecution
will be pursued. However, conduct and business arrangements that do not fully satisfy an applicable safe harbor may result in
increased scrutiny by government enforcement authorities such as the OIG. If scrutinized, arrangements that implicate the Anti-
Kickback Statute, and that do not fall within a safe harbor, are analyzed by the OIG and other enforcement authorities on a
case-by-case basis with review based on the totality of the facts and circumstances.

Government officials have focused recent enforcement efforts on, among other things, the sales and marketing activities of
medical device manufacturers and other healthcare companies, and recently have brought cases against individuals or entities
with personnel who allegedly offered unlawful inducements to potential or existing customers in an attempt to procure their
business. Judgments and settlements of these cases by healthcare companies have involved significant fines and, in some
instances, criminal pleas and convictions. Further, the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act specified that any
claims submitted as a result of a violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute are also false claims and subject to enforcement under
the False Claims Act.

In addition to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, many states have their own anti-kickback laws. Often, these laws closely
follow the language of the federal law, although they do not always have the same exceptions or safe harbors. In some states,
these anti-kickback laws apply with respect to all payors, including commercial health insurance companies.

The national legislation and industry codes of many foreign countries includes provisions equivalent in content and
consequences to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and the Sunshine Act.

False Claims Laws

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim for
payment to the federal government or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false statement to get a false claim paid. Our
NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers are directly subject to these laws with respect to the reimbursement claims they file with
government payors. In addition, medical device manufacturers can be held liable under false claims laws, even if they do not
submit claims to the government, if they are found to have caused the submission of false claims, including through
arrangements that violate the Anti-Kickback Statute. The federal False Claims Act also includes whistleblower provisions that
allow private citizens to bring suit against an entity or individual on behalf of the U.S. and to recover a portion of any monetary
recovery. Many of the recent highly publicized settlements in the healthcare industry related to the sales and marketing
practices of pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers have been cases brought under the False Claims Act. In addition,
amendments to the False Claims Act included in the Affordable Care Act impose severe penalties for the knowing and improper
retention of identified overpayments collected from governmental payors. Within 60 days of identifying an overpayment, a
provider is required to notify CMS or its contractor of the overpayment and the reason for it and return the overpayment. These
amendments could subject our procedures for identifying and processing overpayments to greater scrutiny.

Violations of The Ethics in Patient Referrals Act, commonly known as the Stark Act, can also form the basis for False
Claims Act liability. The Stark Act generally prohibits a physician from referring a patient to an entity for certain designated
health services payable by Medicare or Medicaid when the physician has a financial relationship with the entity, such as an
investment interest or a medical directorship, unless an exception applies. While outpatient dialysis services and most drugs
furnished by our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers are excluded from the Stark Act’s prohibitions on self-referrals, certain
outpatient prescription drugs may be subject to the Stark Act.

The majority of states also have statutes or regulations similar to the federal false claims laws, which apply to items and
services reimbursed under Medicaid and other state programs. Several states have false claims laws that apply regardless of the
payor. Sanctions under these federal and state laws may include civil monetary penalties, exclusion of a manufacturer’s
products from reimbursement under government programs, criminal fines and imprisonment.

The national legislation of many foreign countries includes provisions equivalent in content and consequences to the
federal false claims laws.

Compliance Program
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The healthcare laws and fraud and abuse laws applicable to our business are complex and subject to variable
interpretations. We maintain certain compliance review, education and training and other programs to further our commitment
to high standards of ethical and legal conduct and to endeavor to minimize the likelihood that we would engage in conduct or
enter into arrangements in violation of applicable authorities. For example, we have (1) established a compliance team
consisting of representatives from our Legal, Finance, Human Resources, Regulatory Affairs/Quality Assurance and
Commercial departments that meets regularly; (2) established a compliance hotline that permits our employees to report
anonymously any compliance issues that may arise; and (3) instituted other safeguards intended to help prevent any violations
of the applicable fraud and abuse laws and healthcare laws, and to remediate any situations that could give rise to violations.
We also review many of our transactions and agreements, both past and present, with qualified legal counsel to help ensure they
are compliant.

Through our compliance efforts, we constantly strive to structure our business operations and relationships with our
customers to comply with all applicable legal requirements. However, many of the laws and regulations applicable to us are
broad in scope and may be interpreted or applied by prosecutorial, regulatory or judicial authorities in ways that we cannot
predict. Thus, it is possible that governmental entities or other third parties could interpret these laws differently or assert non-
compliance with respect to one or more of our business operations and relationships. Moreover, the standards of business
conduct expected of healthcare companies under these laws and regulations have become more stringent in recent years, even
in instances where there has been no change in statutory or regulatory language. If a claim were asserted against us for alleged
non-compliance with fraud and abuse laws, false claims laws or other healthcare laws, and we were not to prevail, possible
penalties and sanctions could have a material effect on our financial condition and ability to conduct our operations.

Privacy and Security

In the course of performing our business we obtain, from time to time, confidential patient health information. For
example, we learn patient names and addresses when we ship our System One supplies and related products to home
hemodialysis patients. We may learn patient names and be exposed to confidential patient health information when we provide
training on our products to our customers’ staff. Our home hemodialysis patients call our customer service representatives
directly and during the call may disclose confidential patient health information. We also receive and maintain confidential
patient health information in connection with the operation of our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers. U.S. federal and state
laws protect the confidentiality of certain patient health information, in particular individually identifiable information, and
restrict the use and disclosure of that information. At the federal level, the Department of Health and Human Services
promulgated health information privacy, security and breach notification regulations under the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act of 1996 and the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (collectively,
HIPAA). We are subject to HIPAA with regard to certain aspects of our business. In addition, many other state and federal laws
regulate the use and disclosure of health information, including state medical privacy laws, state breach notification laws, and
federal and state consumer protection laws. In many cases, these laws are not necessarily preempted by HIPAA, particularly if
they afford greater protection to the individual than does HIPAA. These various laws may be subject to varying interpretations
by courts and government agencies creating potentially complex compliance issues for our business. Violations of HIPAA may
result in penalties and enforcement actions by the Department of Health and Human Services Office for Civil Rights (OCR).
OCR has recently focused its enforcement efforts on compliance with the HIPAA security regulations (Security Rule), bringing
actions against entities which have failed to implement security measures sufficient to reduce risks to electronic protected
health information or to conduct an accurate and thorough risk analysis, among other violations. Enforcement actions may lead
to monetary penalties and costly and restrictive corrective action plans.

We are also subject to laws and regulations in foreign countries covering data privacy and other protection of health and
employee information that may be more onerous than corresponding U.S. laws. These regulations may require that we obtain
individual consent before we collect or process any personal data, restrict our use or transfer of personal data, impose technical
and organizational measures to ensure the security of personal data, and require that we notify regulatory agencies, individuals
or the public about any data security breaches. As we expand our international operations, we may be required to expend
significant time and resources to put in place additional mechanisms to ensure compliance with multiple data privacy laws.
The regulatory framework for privacy and security issues worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for
the foreseeable future. For example, in October 2015, the European Court of Justice invalidated an international safe harbor
agreement that provided a mechanism for transferring personal data between the U.S. and Europe. Although U.S. and
European authorities have agreed to a replacement data-sharing framework called the Privacy Shield, some aspects of the new
framework have been subject to challenges, whose outcomes remain uncertain. Failure to comply with these laws may result in
significant fines and other administrative penalties and harm our business.
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Reimbursement

Home and In-Center

Medicare regulations require that all Medicare ESRD patients requiring dialysis be under the care of a dialysis clinic,



whether they are treated at home or in-clinic. We sell or rent our System One and sell our needles and blood tubing sets to
dialysis clinics. These clinics, in turn, are reimbursed by Medicare, Medicaid and private insurers. According to the 2016
United States Renal Data Systems (USRDS) Annual Data Report, Medicare or Medicaid is the primary payor for approximately
83% of dialysis patients using hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis. The report also indicates that approximately 5% of patients
are covered by commercial insurance with Medicare as the secondary payor, with the remaining 12% of patients classified by
the USRDS as “other” or “unknown.” Certain centers have indicated that more frequent home hemodialysis therapy with the
System One attracts a higher percentage of commercial insurance patients than other forms of dialysis.

Medicare. Medicare generally provides health insurance coverage for persons who are age 65 or older and for persons who
are completely disabled. For ESRD patients, however, Medicare coverage is not dependent on age or disability. Patients are
eligible for Medicare based solely on ESRD. Coverage for patients eligible for Medicare based solely on ESRD begins on the
first day of the fourth month after the patient begins dialysis treatments. During the three-month waiting period, Medicaid,
private insurance or the patient is responsible for payment for dialysis services. Medicare waives this waiting period for
individuals who participate in a home dialysis training program, or are hospitalized for a kidney transplant and the surgery
occurs within a specified time period.

For ESRD patients under age 65 who have any employer group health insurance coverage, regardless of the size of the
employer or the individual’s employment status, Medicare coverage is generally secondary to the employer coverage during the
30-month period that follows the establishment of Medicare eligibility or entitlement based on ESRD. During this period, the
patient’s existing insurer is responsible for paying primary benefits at the rate specified in the applicable group health plan,
which may be a negotiated rate or the healthcare provider’s usual and customary rate. As the secondary payor during this
period, Medicare will make payments up to the applicable Medicare payment rate for dialysis services to supplement any
primary payments by the employer group health plan if the plan covers the services but pays only a portion of the charge for the
services.

Medicare generally is the primary payor for ESRD patients after the 30-month coordination period. Under current rules,
Medicare is also the primary payor for ESRD patients during the 30-month period under certain circumstances. Medicare
remains the primary payor when an individual becomes eligible for Medicare on the basis of ESRD if (1) the individual was
already age 65 or over or was eligible for Medicare based on disability and (2) the individual’s private insurance coverage is not
by reason of current employment or, if it is, the employer has fewer than 20 employees (in the case of eligibility by reason of
age) or fewer than 100 employees (in the case of eligibility by reason of disability). The rules regarding entitlement to primary
Medicare coverage when the patient is eligible for Medicare on the basis of both ESRD and age, or disability, have been, and
may continue to be, the subject of frequent legislative and regulatory changes.

When Medicare is the primary payor for services furnished by dialysis clinics, it reimburses dialysis clinics for 80% of the
allowable rate, leaving the secondary insurance or the patient responsible for the remaining 20%.

As a result of legislation passed by the U.S. Congress more than 30 years ago, Medicare provides broad and well
established reimbursement in the U.S. for ESRD. Effective January 1, 2011, CMS implemented a new prospective payment
system for dialysis treatment. Under the ESRD prospective payment system, CMS makes a single bundled payment to the
dialysis facility for each dialysis treatment that covers all renal dialysis services and home dialysis and includes certain drugs
(including erythropoiesis stimulating agents, iron and Vitamin D). The prospective payment system replaced the former system,
which paid facilities a composite rate for a defined set of items and services, while paying separately for drugs, laboratory tests,
and other services that were not included in the composite rate. With a vast majority of U.S. ESRD patients covered by
Medicare, the Medicare reimbursement rate is an important factor in a potential customer’s decision to use the System One or
our other products and limits the fees for which we can sell or rent our products. Additionally, current CMS rules limit the
number of hemodialysis treatments paid for by Medicare to three times a week, unless there is medical justification provided by
the dialysis facility based on information from the patient’s physician for additional treatments. Because the home setting
provides the most practical and economic setting for the implementation of alternative therapy delivery models that have been
well-documented to offer significant clinical and quality of life benefits, most patients using the System One in the home have
been prescribed to receive more than three treatments per week. To the extent that Medicare contractors determine they will not
pay for additional treatments, adoption of the System One would likely be impaired and revenues from our NxStage Kidney
Care dialysis centers likely would be reduced.

Medicare has been consolidating the Medicare contractors that process and pay Medicare claims. Accordingly, there have
been and may continue to be changes in the contractors that determine medical justification for dialysis treatments. This change
in the reviewing entity for Medicare claims could lead to a change in whether a customer receives Medicare reimbursement for
additional treatments. If an adverse change to historical payment practices occurs, adoption of our System One in the home
market may be impaired and revenues from our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers likely would be reduced.

Based on a 2008 analysis of historical Medicare payment files by the University of Michigan Kidney Epidemiology and
Cost Center, those delivering more frequent dialysis at home receive reimbursement, on average, for 1.5 times the number of
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treatments per month versus conventional dialysis, although this amount varies by jurisdiction. This variance arises from
Medicare contractor policies, as well as from varying center billing practices. Currently, only four of the twelve Medicare
contractor jurisdictions have issued formal local coverage determinations that describe medical justification for more frequent
hemodialysis. In the remaining jurisdictions, medical justification is determined on a case by case basis. As there is no
consistent national standard for what constitutes medical justification, a clinic’s decision as to how much it is willing to spend
on home dialysis equipment and services will be at least partly dependent on the level of confidence the center has in the
predictability of receiving reimbursement from Medicare for additional treatments per week based on submitted claims for
medical justification.

A stated goal of the ESRD prospective payment system was to encourage home dialysis. To date, it has not had a positive
impact on the adoption of home or more frequent hemodialysis or the price for which we can sell our products. However, the
prospective payment system has had a significant positive impact on the adoption of peritoneal dialysis as evidenced by the
significantly increased rates of training for peritoneal dialysis. We believe this increased focus on peritoneal dialysis growth and
peritoneal dialysis training has been to the detriment of home hemodialysis training rates, as home training resources, including
home training nurses in particular, have been more devoted to peritoneal dialysis training, leaving less time for home
hemodialysis training.

CMS issued the 2017 final rule for the end-stage renal disease prospective payment system, which increases the base
reimbursement rate less than 1% over 2016 rates. In addition, CMS increased the home and self-dialysis training add-on
payment to $95.60 in 2017. The effect of these changes on the adoption of home and more frequent hemodialysis is not yet
known.

Medicaid. Medicaid programs are state-administered programs partially funded by the federal government. These programs
are intended to provide coverage for certain categories of patients whose income and assets fall below state defined levels and
who are otherwise uninsured. For those who are eligible, the programs serve as supplemental insurance programs for the
Medicare co-insurance portion and provide certain coverage, such as for self-administered outpatient prescription medications,
that is not provided by Medicare. For ESRD treatment, state regulations generally follow Medicare coverage and
reimbursement levels, but without any co-insurance amounts, which is pertinent mostly for the three-month waiting period for
Medicare coverage. Certain states, however, require beneficiaries to pay a monthly share of the cost based upon levels of
income or assets.

Private Insurers. Some ESRD patients have private insurance that covers dialysis services. Healthcare providers, including
our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, receive reimbursement for ESRD treatments from the patient or private insurance
during a waiting period of up to three months before the patient becomes eligible for Medicare. In addition, if the private payor
is an employer group health plan, it is generally required to continue to make primary payments for dialysis services during the
30-month period following eligibility or entitlement to Medicare. In general, employers may not reduce coverage or otherwise
discriminate against ESRD patients by taking into account the patient’s eligibility or entitlement to Medicare benefits. On
average, private insurance pays significantly more for dialysis services than Medicare and these patients with private insurance
are generally viewed as more profitable to dialysis service providers.

Critical Care

For Medicare patients, both acute kidney failure and fluid overload therapies provided in an in-patient hospital setting are
reimbursed under a traditional Medicare severity diagnosis related group system. Under this system, reimbursement is
determined based on a patient’s primary diagnosis and is intended to cover all of the hospital’s costs of treating the patient. The
presence of acute kidney failure or fluid overload increases the severity of the primary diagnosis and, accordingly, could
increase the amount reimbursed. Longer hospitalization stays and higher labor needs, which are typical for patients with acute
kidney failure and fluid overload, must be managed for care of these patients to be cost-effective. We believe that there is a
significant incentive for hospitals to find a more cost-efficient way to treat these patients in order to improve hospital
economics for these therapies.

Reimbursement Outside of the U.S.

The use of our products outside the U.S. is similarly affected by reimbursement policies adopted by foreign regulatory
agencies, government managed health care systems and private insurance. Reimbursement for the treatment of patients using
medical devices in the EU Member States is governed by complex mechanisms established on a national level in each country.
These mechanisms vary widely among the EU Member States. Moreover, these mechanisms evolve constantly, reflecting the
efforts of these countries to reduce public spending on healthcare.

The rules on the coverage and reimbursement of medical devices outside the U.S. and EU vary widely from country to
country and often from hospital to hospital. In addition, healthcare reform proposals and medical cost containment measures in
many foreign countries could, among other things, limit the use of our products and treatments in those countries and further
reduce reimbursement available for such use or eliminate coverage altogether. These reforms or cost containment measures,
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including the uncertainty in the medical community regarding their nature and effect, could have an adverse effect on our
customers’ purchasing decisions regarding our products and treatments within these regions, as well as limit the prices we may
charge for our products.
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Our Employees

As of December 31, 2016, we had approximately 3,400 employees, including full-time, part-time and temporary
employees. From time to time we also employ independent contractors to support our engineering, marketing, sales, clinical
and administrative organizations. Most of our employees are involved in the manufacture of our products and are employed
outside of the U.S., with the significant majority employed in Mexico.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1998 under the name QB Medical, Inc., and later changed our name to NxStage
Medical, Inc. Our principal executive offices are located at 350 Merrimack Street, Lawrence, Massachusetts 01843.

Where You Can Find More Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of
charge through our website (www.nxstage.com) under the “Investor Relations” subsection of the “Our Company” section of the
site as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). We are not including the information contained on our website as part of, or incorporating it by
reference into, this Annual Report.

Executive Officers

Our executive officers as of February 28, 2017 were as follows:

Jeffrey H. Burbank, 54, is our Chief Executive Officer and a member of our Board of Directors and has served in these
positions since he founded the company in December 1998. Mr. Burbank has over 30 years of in-depth management experience
with companies developing, marketing and manufacturing products for ESRD patients. He has led NxStage since its inception,
guiding it through all of its developmental phases to the successful initiation and rapid growth of commercial activities, its
initial public offering, the acquisition of Medisystems Corporation, the evolution of the product line, and into services. Prior to
founding NxStage, Mr. Burbank co-founded Vasca, Inc., a company providing innovative implantable access devices, where he
was the President and Chief Executive Officer, as well as Chairman of the Board. He gained significant renal industry
experience during his nine years in the Renal Division at Gambro, Inc., a medical technology company, with his last position as
Director of Marketing and Advanced Technologies. During his career he has been an inventor on over 50 U.S. patents for
medical devices. Mr. Burbank received his BS in Industrial Engineering from Lehigh University.

Robert S. Brown, 58, is the President of NxStage Kidney Care and has served in this position since June 2013. Before that,
he served as our Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since 2006. Mr. Brown has more than 20 years of
financial experience. Prior to joining NxStage, Mr. Brown held several leadership positions in the financial group of Boston
Scientific Corporation, a medical device company, including Vice President, Corporate Analysis & Control, where he and his
team were responsible for the company’s financial, compliance, and operational audits and reported directly to the audit
committee of the board of directors. Mr. Brown also served as Vice President, International at Boston Scientific where he was
responsible for the financial functions of the company's $2.5 billion international division in over 40 countries. Previous
experience also includes financial reporting and special projects at United Technologies, a high technology manufacturer, and
public accounting and consulting at Deloitte & Touche, an auditing firm. Mr. Brown received his BBA from The University of
Toledo and his MBA from The University of Michigan. He is also a Certified Public Accountant.

Winifred L. Swan, 52, is our Senior Vice President and General Counsel and has served in these positions since January
2005. Before that, she served as our Vice President and General Counsel since November 2000. Ms. Swan has over 20 years
of legal expertise in medical devices. Prior to joining NxStage, Ms. Swan was Senior Corporate Counsel at Boston Scientific
Corporation, a medical device company, where she focused on mergers and acquisitions and business development transactions.
Before that, she was an associate at Goodwin Procter LLP, a law firm, specializing in corporate and securities law. Prior to law
school, Ms. Swan served as a financial analyst in the Capital Markets Group of Merrill Lynch, a financial management and
advisory company. Ms. Swan received a BA in Economics and Public Policy from Duke University and her JD from the
University of Pennsylvania.

Matthew W. Towse, 54, is our Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer and has served in these positions
since July 2013. He has also served as our Chief Accounting Officer since January 2015. Mr. Towse has over 25 years of
experience in global financial management with both public and private companies across multiple industries. Prior to joining
NxStage, he served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Vette Corp., a venture-capital backed global design,
engineering and manufacturing technology company from 2006 until its acquisition by a strategic buyer in April 2012. From



2003 to 2005, he served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Fairchild Semiconductor International, Inc.
Previously, Mr. Towse served as Fairchild’s Vice President and Corporate Treasurer from 1997 to 2003, and held various
financial positions with National Semiconductor from 1991 to 1997 before becoming part of the team that spunoff Fairchild
from National. Earlier in his career, Mr. Towse was an audit manager with Ernst & Young LLP, an auditing firm, and most
recently, he served as an Interim Chief Financial Officer with Tatum, LLC, an executive services firm. Mr. Towse is a Certified
Public Accountant and received his BBA from the University of Notre Dame.

Joseph E. Turk, Jr., 49, is our President and has served in this position since November 2013. Before that, Mr. Turk served
as our President of North American Operations from December 2010 to November 2013, Senior Vice President, Commercial
Operations from January 2005 to December 2010 and Vice President, Sales and Marketing from May 2000 to January 2005.
Mr. Turk brings a strong strategy and market development background to NxStage. Prior to joining NxStage, he served as
Director of New Business Development at Boston Scientific Corporation, a medical device company. Before that, he was one
of the leaders of the Midwest Health Care and Biotechnology Practice of McKinsey & Company, a management consulting
firm, as a Senior Engagement Manager in the firm's Chicago office. Mr. Turk received an AB in Economics from Wabash
College and his MBA in Marketing and Finance from Northwestern University's J.L. Kellogg School.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

We face a number of risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict and many of which are outside of our control. In
this section, we describe what we believe are the material risks to our business and future development. This is not an
exhaustive list of risks affecting our business. There may be other risks that are not currently known to us or that we currently
believe are immaterial but turn out to be material in the future. If any of these risks were to materialize, it could adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operation, reputation and growth prospects, and cause actual results to differ
materially from those projected in any of our forward-looking statements. In that case, the value of our common stock could
decline substantially.

Investors should carefully consider the risk factors described below together with the other cautionary statements included
in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and elsewhere in this Annual
Report.
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Risks Related to our Business

The home hemodialysis market may not expand sufficiently to support our growth prospects.

While we believe our largest growth opportunity with our existing products is within the home hemodialysis market, home
hemodialysis therapies have not been extensively adopted. With our current technology, we believe that approximately 10-15%
of end-stage renal disease patients in the U.S. would be appropriate candidates for home hemodialysis. However, only 2% of
U.S. chronic dialysis patients receive hemodialysis treatments at home.

Our growth requires that we continue to shift patients’ and the medical community’s understanding and view of home
hemodialysis, and will require further increases in the number of patients who adopt home hemodialysis from current levels,
physicians who are willing to prescribe home hemodialysis, and dialysis centers that are willing to support home hemodialysis
growth. Most dialysis centers presently do not have the infrastructure to support a significant home hemodialysis patient
population, including the availability of home hemodialysis training nurses, and may not be motivated to invest in home
hemodialysis programs due, in part, to certain Medicare reimbursement policies. We will need to continue to devote significant
resources to expanding the home hemodialysis market, but these efforts ultimately may not be successful.

Medicare reimbursement policies may limit patient access to our home hemodialysis products.

Medicare regulations that, directly or indirectly, have a disproportionate impact on home hemodialysis therapy may limit
patient access to our home hemodialysis products. In 2011, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services implemented a
prospective payment system for dialysis treatment. Under this prospective payment system, the Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services makes a single bundled payment to the dialysis center for each dialysis treatment that covers all renal
dialysis services, inclusive of home dialysis and most drugs frequently administered to dialysis patients. This payment system
replaced the former system which paid centers a composite rate for a defined set of items and services, while paying separately
for drugs, laboratory tests, and other services that were not included in the composite rate. A stated goal of the new prospective
payment system was to encourage home dialysis. To date, this reimbursement structure has not had a positive impact on the
adoption of home or more frequent hemodialysis or the price of our products. However, the prospective payment system has
had a significant positive impact on the adoption of peritoneal dialysis as evidenced by the significantly increased rates of
training for peritoneal dialysis. We believe this increased focus on peritoneal dialysis growth and peritoneal dialysis training
has been to the detriment of home hemodialysis training rates, as home training resources, including home training nurses in
particular, have been more devoted to peritoneal dialysis training, leaving less time for home hemodialysis training.

Medicare provides broad and well-established reimbursement in the U.S. for treating end-stage renal disease patients with
hemodialysis three times a week. Most patients using the System One in the home, however, have been prescribed to dialyze
more than three times per week to attain the clinical benefits of more frequent dialysis. Given the increased provider costs
associated with providing more frequent dialysis, access to our home hemodialysis products will be impacted by whether
dialysis centers receive or pursue adequate reimbursement for the additional dialysis treatments. Reimbursement for more
frequent hemodialysis requires medical justification provided by the dialysis center based on information from the patient’s
physician, which increases the center’s administrative burden. In addition, there is no national standard for what constitutes
medical justification, thus reimbursement for more frequent hemodialysis varies due to differing Medicare contractor policies
and center billing practices. Dialysis centers may be unwilling to support more frequent home hemodialysis in the absence of
predictable Medicare reimbursement for additional treatments per week based on submitted claims for medical justification.

Currently, only four of the twelve Medicare contractor jurisdictions have issued formal local coverage determinations that
describe medical justification for more frequent hemodialysis. In the remaining jurisdictions, medical justification is
determined on a case-by-case basis. One Medicare contractor without such a local coverage determination, Noridian
Healthcare Solutions, has issued a Medicare coverage article discussing considerations for hemodialysis frequency. Certain
language in the coverage article is unclear or inconsistent with long-standing Medicare policy, including that reiterated in recent
Medicare payment rules, but it may suggest a limitation to coverage of more frequent hemodialysis, even with medical



justification. In partnership with other provider, patient, and professional organizations, we have actively engaged Noridian and
the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services on this question. Many clinics have reported that they have continued to bill,
and be paid for, additional treatments under this article; however, certain clinics have chosen at least at this time not to bill for
more frequent dialysis sessions and this has impacted new patient access at those clinics. It remains unclear how this article will
be implemented and what its impact will be in the long term.

In October 2016, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services issued its final rule to update the payment policies and
rates under the end-stage renal disease prospective payment system for 2017. Among other things, the Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid Services increased the home and self-dialysis training add-on payment and reiterated its policy of paying for
appropriately medically justified hemodialysis treatments provided in excess of three treatments per week.

Measures to reduce healthcare costs may hurt our business.

Our customers are healthcare providers who depend upon reimbursement by government and commercial insurance payors
for dialysis treatments. With a vast majority of U.S. patients with end-stage renal disease covered by Medicare, the Medicare
reimbursement rate is an important factor in a customer’s decision to use the System One or our other products and limits the
prices we may charge for our products. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services issued the 2017 final rule for the end-
stage renal disease prospective payment system, which increases the base reimbursement rate less than 1% over 2016 rates.
Commercial insurance payors may also exert downward pressure on payment rates for dialysis services. A reduction in
reimbursement rates for dialysis treatments may adversely affect our customers’ businesses and cause them to enact cost
reduction measures that may include reducing the scope of their home hemodialysis programs.

In recent years, there have been numerous initiatives on the federal and state levels for comprehensive reforms affecting
the availability of and reimbursement for healthcare services. For example, in 2010, comprehensive U.S. health care reform
legislation was passed that had imposed a 2.3% excise tax on domestic sales of certain medical devices, including our products,
which reduced our profitability. In December 2015, this tax was suspended for two years, but will continue to have a negative
financial impact when it is imposed again starting in 2018, unless permanently suspended or repealed. Rising healthcare costs
have also led many European and other foreign countries to adopt healthcare reform proposals and medical cost containment
measures, including government-imposed industry-wide price reductions, mandatory pricing systems, reference pricing
systems, and payors limiting access to treatments based on cost-benefit analysis. Any of these measures, including the
uncertainty in the medical community regarding their nature and effect, could have an adverse effect on our customers’
purchasing decisions regarding our products and treatments, as well as limit the prices we may charge for our products. During
2017, we face uncertainty regarding potential federal legislative and administrative efforts to repeal, substantially modify or
invalidate some or all provisions of recent U.S. health care reforms. Such changes may negatively impact our prospects for
revenue growth, increase our costs or benefit our competitors. Absent additional clarity on the terms of any such changes, the
impact on our business is uncertain.

We sell a limited number of products.

We derive most of our revenues from the sale or rental of the System One and the related products used with the System
One, with the remainder of our revenues largely coming from the sale of a few key disposable products, including blood tubing
sets and needles. Although we are working on initiatives that should diversify our future revenues, including a system for
peritoneal dialysis and our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, our present business continues to be exposed to risks that are
concentrated in a small number of products. As a result, any event that adversely affects these products or the markets for these
products could have a significant adverse impact on our business.

Our relationships with DaVita and Fresenius are important to our business.

DaVita and Fresenius collectively provide treatment to over two-thirds of U.S. dialysis patients and are our two largest
customers. Sales to them have driven a large portion of our historical revenue growth. Any adverse change in either customer's
ordering or clinical practices, including in response to the establishment of our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, would
have an adverse impact on our revenues. In addition, these large dialysis providers have significant purchasing power, and we
may be required to grant them favorable pricing and other terms for our products that reduce our gross margins and have an
adverse effect on our operating results.

Our home market agreements with DaVita and Fresenius are intended to support the continued expansion of patient access
to home hemodialysis with the System One, but like all our agreements with home customers, these agreements are not
requirements contracts, and they contain no minimum purchase volumes. Our home market agreement with DaVita extends
through December 31, 2018, with monthly renewals thereafter unless terminated by either party with 30 days' prior notice. Our
home market agreement with Fresenius continues to renew on a monthly basis unless we and Fresenius choose to modify the
terms with an amendment or new agreement.

We may be unable to achieve or sustain profitable operations.
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Since inception, we have incurred negative operating margins and losses every quarter. Currently, we have a significant
accumulated deficit. Although we are working towards achieving positive net income for the full 2017 fiscal year, we continue
to invest in our operations, in particular with respect to our product pipeline and NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, to drive
future growth. Accordingly, we cannot ensure the extent or sustainability of our future profitability.

Our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers introduce significant new risks to our business.

As health care providers and participants in federal health care programs, our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers must
comply with complex regulations that are, in some instances, new to our business, including:

• Medicare and Medicaid payment rules, including coverage rules that limit the clinical circumstances under which
payment will be made for more frequent dialysis treatments;

• anti-kickback and related laws prohibiting payments and other remuneration intended to influence the referral of
health care business or selection of a provider;

• prohibitions on submitting false claims for government or commercial insurance reimbursement;

• laws regulating the use and disclosure of patient health information; and

• laws regulating the storage and administration of pharmaceuticals and medical devices.

If we violate such laws and regulations, we may face criminal and civil sanctions, including fines and civil monetary penalties
and exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other government programs. If we are found to have submitted
improper claims for reimbursement to the government or commercial insurers, we may also have to repay amounts received
from government or commercial payors and pay additional damages and interest.

Joint ventures have become common vehicles within the dialysis services industry and are designed to improve the quality
of care while managing healthcare costs by sharing clinical expertise, management experience and industry knowledge in an
efficient manner. A few of our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers are structured as joint ventures in which physicians hold
an interest. These physician owners may also provide medical director services and refer patients to our dialysis centers. There
has been growing governmental scrutiny of joint ventures and other financial arrangements with physicians or physician
groups. Although we seek to structure our joint ventures in compliance with all regulatory requirements, the applicable laws
are broadly written, and it is often difficult to determine precisely how these laws will be applied in specific circumstances.
Regulatory authorities may challenge our joint ventures on the grounds that they are intended to induce patient referrals and, if
successful, may require that we restructure or terminate our joint ventures, repay to Medicare amounts received by them
pursuant to any prohibited referrals and incur the types of penalties described in the preceding paragraph.

Our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers must maintain enrollment in the Medicare program in order to bill and receive
payment for dialysis services provided to patients covered by Medicare and certain private insurers. Medicare enrollment
requires, among other things, that a center successfully complete a certification process conducted by individual state agencies
on behalf of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and that certification requirements be met on an ongoing basis.
Our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers may be unable to obtain Medicare certification in a timely manner, if at all, or could
lose certification upon resurvey if they are found to not meet applicable requirements.

Our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers provide us with valuable experience to better meet and anticipate the needs of
both our customers and patients, and optimize our product technology. Our customers may, however, perceive these centers to
be directly competing with their business which could, and may have already, negatively impact product sales.

We face competition from many sources.

The dialysis therapy market is mature and we face competition from many sources, including those that are listed in the
section of this report entitled “Business - Our Competition.” Our competitors may have significant competitive advantages by:

• offering products and services that are more widely recognized by physicians, patients and providers;

• offering broader product lines which enable them to offer a broader bundle of products;

• having significantly more financial and human resources, more established service and customer support
infrastructures and spending more on product development and marketing;

• having more established sales forces and distribution channels; and

• having more established relationships with the providers of dialysis therapy, including Fresenius which is the world’s
largest provider of dialysis services and products and may at any time reduce its promotion of our dialysis products to
its dialysis patients in favor of other, including its own, dialysis products.

Further consolidation within the highly competitive dialysis industry may exacerbate these risks.
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Our in-center business is increasingly subject to pricing and other competitive pressures within the highly consolidated
U.S. dialysis services industry. A meaningful portion of that business was lost when our needle purchase agreement with
DaVita expired in December 2014, and we experienced reduced demand for our blood tubing sets from Baxter during 2016.
While we believe our in-center products offer benefits over competing products, our customers often regard blood tubing sets
and needles as commodities, and we are vulnerable to large changes in purchasing patterns for these products. Unless we can
successfully demonstrate to customers the differentiating features of our blood tubing sets and needles, we may continue to be
susceptible to pressures to reduce our product pricing and more vulnerable to reduction in sales of our blood tubing sets and
needles.

As we attain greater commercial success, our competitors are likely to develop products that offer features and
functionality similar to the System One and our other products. Improvements in existing competitive products or the
introduction of new competitive products may make it more difficult for us to compete for sales, particularly if those
competitive products demonstrate better reliability, convenience or effectiveness or are offered at lower prices.

The development of viable medical, pharmacological and technological advances in treating or preventing kidney failure
may also limit the market for our products and services. While kidney transplantation is the treatment of choice for most
patients with end-stage renal disease, it is not currently a viable treatment for most patients due to the limited number of donor
kidneys, the high incidence of kidney transplant rejection and the higher surgical risk associated with older patients. This may
change, however, with the development of new medications designed to reduce the incidence of kidney transplant rejection,
progress in using kidneys harvested from genetically engineered animals as a source of transplants and other advances in
kidney transplantation.

We need to maintain strong product reliability to grow our business.

We need to maintain strong reliability for our existing products to achieve our growth and profitability objectives. Poor
product reliability could lead to customer dissatisfaction, adversely affect our reputation and revenues, and increase our service
and distribution costs and working capital requirements. We also need to establish strong product reliability for all new
products we offer. With new products, we are more exposed to risks relating to product quality and reliability until the
manufacturing processes for these new products mature. From time to time, we may transition the manufacturing and supply of
products and components to different suppliers or locations. As we make these changes, we are more exposed to risks relating
to product quality and reliability until the manufacturing processes mature. Like all transitions of this nature, they could
increase our costs in the near term.

We need to develop and commercialize new products to grow our business.

Our future growth requires that we develop and commercialize new products in a timely manner to address changing
market requirements, such as our peritoneal dialysis system and next-generation critical care system. Otherwise, we may lose
revenues or market share to our competitors, which may be difficult to regain. Developing innovative products and bringing
them to market is a highly costly, lengthy and uncertain process, and we may experience delays in commercializing new
products. Our efforts may not produce commercially viable products due to the many technological, regulatory, operational and
other risks associated with product development, including:

• the new product may not perform as intended or may have safety concerns;

• the FDA and other regulatory authorities may not approve the new product or the facilities in which it is manufactured
in a timely manner or at all;

• payors may not reimburse the new product sufficiently or at all;

• competing products may be safer, more effective or easier to use;

• we may be unable to manufacture sufficient quantities of the new product for development or commercialization
activities in a timely and cost-effective manner; and

• market demand for the new product may fall below expectations.

General economic and financial market conditions may exacerbate our business risks.

32



Global macro-economic conditions and the world's financial markets remain susceptible to significant stresses, resulting in
reductions in available credit and government spending, economic downturn or stagnation, foreign currency fluctuations and
volatility in the valuations of securities generally. Our customers and distributors may respond to such economic pressures by
reducing or deferring their capital spending or reducing staff. As a result, they may choose to rent rather than purchase our
equipment or enter into other less-capital intensive purchase structures with us, which may reduce our cash flows, and have
fewer personnel available to train new patients for home hemodialysis. Our international business is particularly vulnerable to
global macro economic conditions. Furthermore, unfavorable changes in foreign exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar could
increase our product costs, reducing our gross profit, or render our products overly expensive, reducing our revenues.

We may not effectively manage our growth.

Our business growth will strain our administrative and operational infrastructure unless we:

• increase our manufacturing capacity to meet customer demand;

• expand our sales and marketing and on-going development capabilities;

• improve our information technology infrastructure, operational, financial and management controls and reporting
systems and procedures; and

• manage the increased complexity and scope of our relationships with various partners, distributors, suppliers,
manufacturers and other organizations.

We may be unable to implement such changes in an efficient and timely manner, and in the process of expansion may
discover deficiencies in our existing systems and controls.

We need to effectively manage our field equipment.

Our home market relies upon an equipment service swap model and, for some of our customers, an equipment rental
model that requires us to effectively manage our System One and PureFlow SL field equipment. While a majority of our home
market customers currently purchase, rather than rent, our equipment, this may change due to pressures within the healthcare
industry to reduce capital spending and other factors. Increases in our rental or service swap equipment would increase our
ongoing cash requirements to fund working capital. In addition, our gross margins may be negatively impacted if we have
excess equipment deployed and unused in the field. If we are unable to successfully track, service and redeploy equipment, we
could incur increased costs, realize increased cash requirements and have material write-offs of equipment. This would
negatively impact our working capital requirements and future profitability.

We may be subject to litigation claims from time to time.

From time to time, we are threatened with individual actions involving our business, including without limitation products
liability, employment, intellectual property, commercial and tort claims. The manufacture and marketing of medical devices, in
particular, has an attendant risk of product liability claims. If any of our employees or products is found to have caused or
contributed to injuries or deaths, we could be held liable for substantial damages. Any claims made against us could adversely
affect our reputation and damage our position in the market. Claims can also be time consuming, distracting and expensive to
defend and could result in a diversion of management and financial resources away from our primary business, in which case
our business may suffer. Any investigation into alleged unlawful conduct could increase our expenses, damage our reputation
and divert management time and attention from operating our business. While we maintain insurance at levels deemed
adequate by management, future claims may exceed our insurance coverage or may not be covered by any insurance.

Acquiring or developing businesses, technologies or products may present new challenges.

In the course of evaluating growth opportunities, we may acquire or develop businesses, technologies or products, as we
did in 2007 with the acquisition of Medisystems and in 2013 with the introduction of our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis
centers. We may also devote resources to potential acquisitions that are never completed or may fail to realize the anticipated
benefits of such efforts. There are substantial risks and uncertainties associated with any growth or change in business lines or
strategy that may prevent us from realizing the anticipated benefits of such opportunities or adversely affect our business,
including:

• need for significant investment without assurance of success;

• potential disruption of our ongoing business;

• need for involvement of senior management to develop the acquired businesses, technologies or products, which will
take away from the time they ordinarily spend on the remainder of our business;

• entry into markets or types of businesses in which we have limited experience;

• impairment of relationships with key partners, customers or suppliers of ours or any acquired business;

33



• addition of new complex compliance obligations;

• difficulty in managing geographically remote units both in the United States and internationally;

• difficulty in successfully implementing, upgrading and deploying in a timely and effective manner new operational
information systems and upgrades of our finance, accounting and product distribution systems;

• difficulty in incorporating acquired technology and rights into our product and service offerings;

• unanticipated expenses and delays in completing acquired development projects and technology integration;

• difficulty in transitioning and integrating the operations and personnel of an acquired businesses, including with
respect to differing and complex accounting and financial reporting systems;

• customers delaying purchases of our products pending resolution of product integration between our existing and our
newly acquired products;

• loss of key employees of an acquired company; and

• inaccurate assumptions of an acquired company's product or service quality.

Further, any acquired technology or product may require additional development efforts prior to commercial sale,
including clinical testing and approval by the FDA and applicable foreign regulatory authorities. All technology and product
candidates are prone to risks of failure typical of medical device product development, including the possibility that a product
candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and effective for approval by regulatory authorities.

We have international operations that introduce a number of risks and uncertainties.

Substantially all of our manufacturing is done outside the United States. We operate manufacturing facilities in Germany,
Italy and Mexico, and purchase components, products and supplies from foreign vendors. We also sell our products
internationally. We are subject to a number of risks and challenges that specifically relate to these international operations,
including:

• foreign exchange risk, in particular with respect to the euro and peso, which could adversely affect our financial
results and our ability to maintain mutually beneficial and profitable relationships with foreign vendors, distributors
and customers, and increase our costs to attract and retain international personnel;

• expropriation and other restrictive government actions;

• changes in intellectual property legal protections and remedies;

• costs and challenges associated with sourcing and shipping goods internationally and importing and exporting goods;

• changes to U.S. and foreign trade policies, including enactment of tariffs or border-adjusted taxes on goods imported
into the U.S.;

• difficulty managing operations in multiple locations;

• local regulations that may restrict or impair our ability to conduct our operations, increase compliance costs, and make
it more expensive and complex to manage our workforce;

• fluctuations in local economic conditions;

• health issues, such as pandemic disease risk, and natural disasters, such as flooding, hurricanes and earthquakes, which
could disrupt our manufacturing and logistical and import activities; and

• in certain locations, risks associated with local instability, including threats of violence, which could lead to
disruptions in supply at our manufacturing facilities or key vendors.

These risks and uncertainties may materially impact our growth strategy in these markets and overall operating profits.
Risks associated with our international operations may increase where we sell our products and services directly rather than
through distributors, as we do in the United Kingdom and Canada.

During June 2016, the referendum by UK voters to exit the European Union ("Brexit") adversely impacted global markets
and resulted in a sharp decline of the British pound sterling against our reporting currency, the US dollar. Continued volatility
in or devaluation of the British pound sterling may adversely affect our results of operations by reducing our reported
international sales and earnings and causing our UK customers to reduce their investment in healthcare. The further impact of
Brexit on our international business will depend on any agreements the UK makes to retain access to EU markets. Although it
is unknown what the terms of the UK’s future relationship with the EU will be, the imposition of greater restrictions on imports
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and exports between the UK and EU countries and an increase in regulatory complexity could adversely affect our relationships
with our customers, suppliers and employees in the UK.

Our In-Center and international businesses rely heavily upon third-party distributors.

Substantially all of our blood tubing sets and needles are sold through distributors. We also use distributors to sell our
products in most of our international markets. Relying on third-party distributors exposes us to many risks, including
competitive pressure, compliance risks, credit risk and concentration. Distributors may sell products that compete with our
products, and we may be unable to motivate them to focus their efforts on selling our products. The trend toward consolidation
among distributors may yield greater purchasing leverage, which may increase the pricing pressures facing our business. If our
distributors fail to comply with applicable laws in the sale and marketing of our products or fulfill any other responsibilities
they may have, our revenues may decline and we may become involved in legal proceedings. Distributors may face financial
difficulties, including bankruptcy, which could harm our collection of accounts receivable and financial results. Moving any of
this business to other distributors would involve switching costs that may be material in the near term.

We rely on the expertise of a concentrated group of employees.

Our success depends upon the skills, experience and efforts of our senior executives and other key personnel, including our
research and development and manufacturing executives and managers. Much of our expertise is concentrated in relatively few
employees, the loss of whom for any reason could negatively affect our business. Competition for our highly skilled employees
is intense, and we cannot prevent the future resignation of any employee.
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Risks Related to the Regulatory Environment

Our products and business are subject to extensive regulation.

We need regulatory approvals to market new products and, in some cases, modifications to existing marketed products.
Regulatory approval pathways for medical devices are complex, time consuming and difficult to define, and they may become
more onerous through additional regulation. We may be unable to obtain the necessary approvals to market our new products
and modifications to marketed products in a timely manner, if at all. Foreign markets are particularly challenging as the
regulatory approval procedure varies from country to country and requires that we comply with numerous regulatory
requirements that differ from the FDA approval process and are not superseded by obtaining approval from the FDA or another
country's regulatory authority. As these regulatory requirements become increasingly more stringent, it may become more
difficult and costly for us to expand into new markets. In certain foreign markets, some of our products are classified as drugs
rather than medical devices, which require us to demonstrate compliance with separate regulations applicable to drug
manufacturers and distributors. These complex regulations may impose additional approval, manufacturing, surveillance and
reporting requirements. Compliance with these additional requirements may increase our costs of doing business in new
foreign markets and delay or prevent our entry into such markets.

Following marketing approval, we must comply with numerous ongoing regulatory requirements and industry codes of
conduct and consensus standards, including those described in the section of this report entitled “Business - Government
Regulation.” Noncompliance with applicable regulations can result in, among other things:

• violation letters;

• fines, injunctions, and civil penalties;

• recall or seizure of products;

• administrative detention, which is the detention by regulatory authorities of medical devices believed to be adulterated
or misbranded;

• operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production;

• failure of the government to grant pre-market clearance or pre-market approval for devices;

• withdrawal of marketing clearances or approvals; and

• criminal prosecution.

Such enforcement measures would require unanticipated expenditures to address or defend such actions and may adversely
affect our business.

New regulations, codes and standards are periodically adopted which may require us to change our existing product
technologies, operating procedures or marketing practices in order to continue selling our products. In addition, regulatory
authorities have been increasingly aggressive in their enforcement activities and scrutiny of medical device and healthcare
companies. Any of these factors may expose us to increased compliance costs and the assessment of significant fines, as well
as risks that we may be unable to satisfy the new regulations, codes or standards, or more expansive interpretations of existing



regulations and have to suspend, curtail or otherwise modify our selling and marketing efforts and other aspects of our
operations.

Our products may be recalled from the market.

Medical devices can experience performance problems in the field that require review and possible corrective action. The
occurrence of component failures, manufacturing errors, software errors, design defects or labeling inadequacies affecting a
medical device could lead to a government-mandated or voluntary recall by the device manufacturer, in particular when such
deficiencies may endanger health. From time to time we have chosen to voluntarily recall certain products that we believed
were mislabeled or otherwise defective. Product recalls may materially divert management attention and financial resources,
expose us to product liability or other claims, harm our reputation with customers and adversely impact our financial results.

We need to protect the privacy of patient health and other personal information.

In the course of performing our business we obtain, from time to time, confidential patient health information and other
personal information. Federal and state laws, as well as the laws of foreign countries, protect the confidentiality of certain
patient health information, in particular individually identifiable information and other personal information, and restrict the use
and disclosure of that information. A description of these laws is included in the section of this report entitled “Business -
Government Regulation - Privacy and Security.” Complying with the privacy and security requirements of such laws imposes
compliance related costs, subjects us to potential regulatory audits and may restrict our business operations. These various laws
may be subject to varying interpretations by courts and government agencies, creating potentially complex compliance issues
for our business. If we were to violate any of our legal obligations to safeguard any confidential patient health or other personal
information against improper use and disclosure, we could lose customers and be exposed to liability, including potential civil
and criminal penalties and contractual liabilities, and our reputation and business could be harmed. Concerns or allegations
about our practices with regard to the privacy or security of personal health information or other privacy-related matters, even if
unfounded, could damage our reputation and harm our business.

We must comply with fraud and abuse laws.

Various federal and state laws, as well as the laws of foreign countries, prohibit payments to induce the referral of
healthcare products or services and require medical device companies to monitor and report certain payments to health care
professionals. These anti-kickback, public reporting and aggregate spend laws affect our sales, marketing and other
promotional activities by limiting the kinds of financial arrangements, including sales programs, we may have with hospitals,
physicians or other potential purchasers or users, including patients, of medical devices and services. They also impose
additional administrative and compliance burdens on us. In particular, these laws influence, among other things, how we
structure our sales and rental offerings, including discount practices, customer support, education and training programs and
physician consulting and other service arrangements. For our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, they also affect our
arrangements with any joint venture partners in a position to refer patients, our medical directors and our patient billing and
collection practices. If we were to offer or pay inappropriate inducements to purchase, order or use our products or services, or
to refer patients to our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, we could be subject to a claim under the federal healthcare
program Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal patient inducement prohibition or similar state laws. If we fail to comply with
particular reporting requirements, we could be subject to penalties under applicable federal or state laws. A shifting and diverse
regulatory environment increases the associated compliance risks since different jurisdictions may have different reporting
requirements.

Other federal and state laws, as well as the laws of foreign countries, generally prohibit individuals or entities from
knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payments to government or commercial payors that are false or
fraudulent, or for items or services that were not provided as claimed. Medical device manufacturers can be held liable under
these laws if they are deemed to “cause” the submission of false or fraudulent claims by providing inaccurate billing or coding
information to customers, by providing improper financial inducements, or through certain other activities. In addition, our
NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers are directly subject to these laws with respect to the reimbursement claims they file with
government payors. Potential false or fraudulent claim risk can arise from promoting and billing for services the government
deems excessive or not medically necessary, as well as from other billing improprieties and from failure to timely return any
identified overpayments. We attempt to ensure that billing by our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers is proper and that
physicians who order NxStage Kidney Care dialysis services document medical need for patients for whom more frequent than
thrice weekly therapy is ordered. Nevertheless, the government may not regard any billing errors that may be made as
inadvertent and may examine our role in providing information to our customers, physicians and patients concerning the
benefits and potential coverage of more frequent therapy. Likewise, our financial relationships with customers, physicians,
patients or others in a position to influence the purchase or use of our products may be subject to government scrutiny or be
alleged or found to violate applicable fraud and abuse laws. False claims laws prescribe civil, criminal and administrative
penalties for noncompliance, which can be substantial, and raise the possibility of exclusion from participation in government
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health care programs, potentially crippling to the line of business involved. Moreover, any investigation into our practices
could cause adverse publicity and require a costly and time consuming response.

Foreign governments tend to impose strict price controls.

We market the System One and certain of our other products internationally. In some foreign countries, particularly in the
European Union, the pricing of medical devices is subject to governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with
governmental authorities can take considerable time after a device has been CE marked. To obtain reimbursement or pricing
approval in some countries, we may be required to supply data that compares the cost-effectiveness of our products to other
available therapies. If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at
unsatisfactory levels, it may not be profitable to sell our products outside of the United States, which would negatively affect
the long-term growth of our business. Furthermore, reimbursement provided for our products in other jurisdictions could
change, positively or negatively. If reimbursements were to be negatively changed, such as in the United Kingdom or Canada
where we sell our products directly, our ability to profitably sell our products could be impaired.

We must comply with import and export laws and regulations.

We import into the United States disposable medical supplies from our manufacturing facilities and vendors located
outside the United States. We have manufacturing facilities in Mexico, Germany and Italy and export various components and
assemblies related to those operations. To a lesser but increasing degree, we also export finished goods from the United States
to foreign countries. The import and export of these items are subject to extensive and complex laws and regulations. If we fail
to comply with these laws or regulations, or fail to interpret our obligations accurately, we may be subject to significant fines,
liabilities, import holds and a disruption in our ability to deliver product. The U.S. federal government has called for
substantial changes to trade, fiscal and tax policies which may include comprehensive tax reform and changes to existing trade
agreements, including but not limited to the North American Free Trade Agreement. Changes to capital and exchange controls,
expropriation or other restrictive government actions could adversely affect our business. We also are subject to changes in tax
and tariff regulations, both domestically and abroad that could increase our costs and reduce our margins. If there are
modifications to the Generalized System of Preferences or cancellation of the Nairobi Protocol tariff classifications that apply
to our products such that our products would be subject to duties, or if the United States imposes tariffs or border-adjusted taxes
on imports to the United States of goods manufactured outside the United States, our expenses could increase and our
profitability may be negatively impacted.

We must comply with anti-bribery laws.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act which generally prohibits U.S. companies from engaging in
bribery or other prohibited payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business and requires
companies to maintain accurate books and records and internal controls, including at foreign controlled subsidiaries. Through
our international activities, we are also subject to the UK Anti-Bribery Act and other similar anti-bribery laws in other
countries. While we have policies and procedures in place designed to promote compliance with such laws, our employees or
other agents may nonetheless engage in prohibited conduct under these laws for which we or our executives might be held
responsible. If our employees or other agents are found to have engaged in such practices, we could suffer severe penalties and
other consequences that may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We must comply with environmental and occupational safety laws.

Our research and development programs as well as our manufacturing operations involve the controlled use of hazardous
materials, and our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers produce medical waste in connection with providing dialysis services.
Accordingly, we are subject to federal, state and local laws, as well as the laws of foreign countries, governing the use, handling
and disposal of these materials. In the event of an accident or failure to comply with environmental or occupational safety laws,
we could be held liable for resulting damages, and any such liability could exceed our insurance coverage.

Our business may be affected by U.S. government contracting risks.

We have agreements with Veterans Health Administration facilities and are one of the key subcontractors on a government
contract to develop a portable medical device to treat sepsis. As a result, we must comply with and are affected by laws and
regulations relating to the award, administration and performance of U.S. government contracts which, among other things,
impose additional costs on our business. If we violate any of these laws or regulations, we may be liable for fines, penalties and
any additional costs the government incurs in procuring replacement services, and we may be excluded from future U.S.
government contracting.
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Risks Related to Operations

We obtain some of our raw materials and production services from a single source.



We depend upon a number of single-source suppliers for certain of our raw materials, components and finished goods,
including the fiber used in our System One filters, our needles and sterile bags, as well as sterilization services. Some of our
most critical single-source supply relationships are with Membrana and Laboratorios PiSA.

Membrana is our only supplier of the fiber used in our filters for System One products under an agreement that expires in
December 2023, and contractually we cannot obtain an alternative source of fiber for our System One products. While our
relationship with Asahi could afford us back-up supply in the event of supply disruptions at Membrana, we do not have the
regulatory approvals necessary to use Asahi fiber in our System One cartridge in the United States, and the performance of
Asahi fiber in our System One has not yet been validated.

Laboratorios PiSA supplies substantially all of our premixed dialysate. Our supply agreement with Laboratorios PiSA
extends through December 2019. We have committed to purchase from Laboratorios PiSA a minimum quantity of premixed
dialysate over the term of the agreement. While we purchase premixed dialysate from another qualified supplier, any significant
disruption in Laboratorios PiSA’s ability to supply premixed dialysate to us would impair our business, at least in the near term.

Our dependence upon these and other single-source suppliers of raw materials, components, finished goods and
sterilization services exposes us to several risks, including disruptions in supply, price increases, late deliveries and an inability
to meet customer demand. This could lead to customer dissatisfaction, damage to our reputation or customers switching to
competitive products. Any interruption in supply could be particularly damaging to our customers using the System One to treat
chronic end-stage renal disease who need access to the System One and related disposables to continue their therapy.

Finding alternative sources for these raw materials, components, finished goods and sterilization services would be difficult
and in many cases entail a significant amount of time, disruption and cost. Although we believe our supply chain has sufficient
inventory of raw materials, components and finished goods to withstand a temporary disruption in supply from any single
source supplier, any permanent or long-term disruption in supply from any single source supplier could lead to supply delays or
interruptions which would damage our business and impair our reputation, at least in the near term.

We do not have long-term supply contracts with many of our third-party suppliers.

We purchase raw materials and components from third-party suppliers, including some single-source suppliers, through
purchase orders and do not have long-term supply contracts with many of our suppliers. Many of our suppliers are not obligated
to perform services or supply products for any specific period, in any specific quantity or at any specific price, except as may
be provided in a particular purchase order. We do not maintain large volumes of inventory from most of our suppliers. If we
inaccurately forecast demand for finished goods, we may be unable to meet customer demand which could harm our
competitive position and reputation. In addition, if we fail to effectively manage our relationships with our suppliers, we may
be required to change suppliers, which may be time consuming and lead to disruptions in our product supply.

We may experience manufacturing disruptions.

We rely on our manufacturing facilities in Mexico, Italy and Germany for the production of our equipment and
disposables. The loss of any of these facilities due to fire, natural disaster, war, power failure or other cause beyond our control
could cause significant production delays, prevent us from meeting customer demand for our products, increase our product
costs, impair our product quality or reliability and result in substantially decreased revenues.

While we have labor agreements with our production employees in Mexico and Italy, we may experience strikes, work
stoppages, work slowdowns, grievances, complaints, claims of unfair labor practices, other collective bargaining disputes or
other labor disputes at our manufacturing facilities. Some of our key single-source suppliers also have labor agreements in
place but nonetheless may be subject to similar risks related to labor disputes. Any such activity likely would cause production
delays and prevent us from delivering our production commitments to customers, which could adversely affect our reputation
and cause our business and operating results to suffer.

Commodity price increases may adversely affect our financial results.

Resin is a key material in the manufacture of our products, including the System One cartridge. We currently source resin
from a small number of suppliers. Periods of rising prices for crude oil, natural gas and other petrochemical intermediates from
which resin is produced have resulted in significant price increases for this material, and similar periods of rising resin prices
may occur in the future. Our contracts with customers restrict our ability to immediately pass on these price increases, and
future pricing to customers may be insufficient to accommodate increasing resin costs. In addition, our overall cost reduction
plans may not sufficiently offset the impact of increased resin costs, which could result in declining margins and operating
results.

We currently incur significant inbound and outbound distribution costs, which are dependent upon fuel prices. Increases in
fuel prices could lead to increases in our distribution costs, which could impair our ability to achieve profitability.

Our business is dependent upon the security and uninterrupted operation of our information technology infrastructure.
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We rely on information technology and telephone networks and systems, including the Internet, to process and transmit
sensitive electronic information, including confidential patient health information, and to manage or support a variety of
business processes and activities, including sales, billing, customer service, procurement and supply chain, manufacturing and
distribution. We use enterprise information technology systems to record, process, and summarize financial information and
results of operations for internal reporting purposes and to comply with regulatory, financial reporting, legal and tax
requirements. Our information technology systems, some of which are managed by third-parties and are highly interconnected,
may be susceptible to damage, disruptions or shutdowns due to computer viruses, attacks by computer hackers, failures during
the process of installing, upgrading or replacing software, databases or components thereof, power outages, hardware failures,
telecommunication failures, user errors or catastrophic events. In addition, these systems can require significant resources to
ensure their continuous operation. Despite the precautionary measures we have taken to prevent breakdowns in our information
technology and telephone systems, if our systems suffer severe damage, disruption or shutdown and we are unable to
effectively resolve the issues in a timely manner, we may be subject to material remediation expenses, reputational harm and
litigation.

39

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

We have to protect our intellectual property.

We rely on patent protection, as well as a combination of copyright, trade secret and trademark laws, to protect our
proprietary technology and prevent others from duplicating our products. However, these means may afford only limited
protection and may not:

• prevent our competitors from duplicating our products;

• prevent our competitors from gaining access to our proprietary information and technology; or

• permit us to gain or maintain a competitive advantage.

These risks may increase in foreign countries whose laws do not protect intellectual property rights effectively or to the same
extent as U.S. laws.

Any of our patents, including those we may license, may be challenged, invalidated, rendered unenforceable or
circumvented. We may not prevail if our patents are challenged by competitors or other third parties. The U.S. federal courts or
equivalent national courts or patent offices elsewhere may invalidate our patents, find them unenforceable or narrow their
scope. Furthermore, competitors may be able to design around our patents, or obtain patent protection for more effective
technologies, designs or methods for treating kidney failure. If these developments were to occur, our products may become
less competitive, and sales of our products may decline.

We have filed numerous patent applications seeking protection of products and other inventions originating from our
research and development. Our patent applications may not result in an issued patent, and any patents that are issued may not
provide meaningful protection against competitors or competitive technologies.

Our products could infringe the intellectual property rights of others.

The medical device industry has been characterized by extensive litigation and administrative proceedings regarding patent
infringement and intellectual property rights. Products to provide kidney replacement therapy have been available for more
than 50 years, and our competitors hold a significant number of patents relating to kidney replacement devices, therapies,
products and supplies. Competitors and other third parties may allege that our products or methods infringe their patents or
other intellectual property rights, and the possibility of such infringement claims may increase as our business expands into
new markets.

Infringement and other intellectual property claims and proceedings brought against us, whether successful or not, could
result in substantial costs and harm to our reputation. Such claims and proceedings can also divert management and key
personnel from other tasks important to the success of the business. In addition, intellectual property litigation or claims could
require us to:

• cease selling or using any of our products that incorporate the asserted intellectual property, which would adversely
affect our revenues;

• pay substantial damages for past use of the asserted intellectual property;

• obtain a license from the holder of the asserted intellectual property, which license may not be available on reasonable
terms, if at all, and which could reduce profitability; and

• redesign or rename, in the case of trademark claims, our products to avoid infringing the intellectual property rights of
third parties, which may not be possible and could be costly and time consuming, if it is possible to do so.



Disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information may harm our business.

In order to protect our proprietary technology and processes, we rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our
corporate partners, employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators and sponsored researchers, advisors and others.
These agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure of confidential information and trade secrets and may not provide an
adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. In addition, others may independently
discover or reverse engineer trade secrets and proprietary information, and in such cases we may be unable to assert any trade
secret rights against such party. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of
our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our competitive position.

Many of our employees have worked at other medical device companies focused on the development of dialysis products,
including our competitors. We may be subject to claims that these employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or
disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend
against these claims. If we fail in defending such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable
intellectual property rights. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial
costs and harm to our reputation and be a distraction to management.
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Risks Related to our Common Stock

Our stock price may fluctuate significantly.

There may be periods of volatility in the market price of our common stock that delay or prevent you from selling your
common stock at or above the price you paid for it. Some of the factors that may cause the market price of our common stock
to fluctuate include:

• timing of market launch and market acceptance of our products;

• timing of achieving profitability from operations;

• changes in estimates of our financial results or recommendations by securities analysts or the failure to meet or exceed
securities analysts' expectations;

• actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results;

• future debt or equity financings;

• developments or disputes with key vendors or customers, or adverse changes to the purchasing patterns of key
customers and distributors;

• disruptions in product supply for any reason, our failure to appropriately forecast supply or demand, difficulties in
moving products across international borders, or the failure of third party suppliers to produce needed products or
components;

• reports by officials or health, medical or regulatory authorities or the general media regarding the potential benefits of
the System One, similar dialysis products distributed by other companies or more frequent or home dialysis;

• delays or failures to obtain marketing approval for new products or modifications to marketed products;

• product recalls and withdrawals;

• defaults under our material contracts, including without limitation our credit agreement;

• regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;

• changes in third-party healthcare reimbursements, particularly a decline in the level of Medicare reimbursement for
dialysis treatments, or the willingness of Medicare contractors to pay for more than three treatments a week where
medically justified;

• regulatory changes that could affect our profitability, such as the imposition of import tariffs and border-adjusted
taxes;

• litigation involving our company or our industry;

• announcements of technical innovations or new products by our competitors;

• developments or disputes concerning our patents or other proprietary rights;

• our ability to manufacture and supply our products to commercial standards;

• significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our competitors;



• departures of key personnel;

• investors' general perception of our company, our products, the economy and general market conditions; and

• the other risks and uncertainties described in these “Risk Factors.”

The stock markets in general have experienced substantial volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating
performance of individual companies. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our common
stock. Periods of volatility in the market price of our securities may engender class action securities litigation against us. Such
litigation, if instituted, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management attention and resources, which could
significantly harm our profitability and reputation.

Provisions in our governing documents and under Delaware law may discourage potential acquisition proposals and
changes in management that stockholders may favor.

Provisions in our charter and bylaws and under the corporation law of Delaware, where we are incorporated, may delay or
prevent a takeover attempt that could be viewed as beneficial to stockholders who wish to receive a premium for their shares
from a potential bidder. These provisions may also discourage stockholders from attempting to replace or remove members of
our board of directors, which in turn may delay or prevent changes in our current management team that stockholders may
favor. These provisions include:

• a prohibition on stockholder actions by written consent;

• the ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to
institute a “shareholders rights plan” that would work to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer,
effectively preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our board of directors;

• advance notice requirements for nominations of directors or stockholder proposals;

• the requirement that board vacancies be filled by a majority of our directors then in office; and

• the prohibition on a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining
with us for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of
our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

If we obtain additional financing for acquisitions and other growth initiatives, it may reduce the market value of our
common shares.

As part of our growth strategy, we may acquire other businesses and technologies and pursue additional business
opportunities. To finance such activity, we may issue equity securities, which may dilute our existing stockholders, and incur
debt, which may place restrictions on our business operations. Such financing activity may reduce the market value of our
common shares and other securities, in particular if the initiatives being funded are not viewed favorably by our stockholders or
are ultimately unsuccessful. Additional financing may not be available on terms favorable to us, or at all, particularly in light of
the volatility in the financial markets and the valuations of securities generally.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located at a facility in Lawrence, Massachusetts under a lease expiring in 2023 that covers
up to 141,000 square feet. The facility is also used for research and development, general and administrative support functions,
customer service and IT support services.

We have a 238,161 square foot manufacturing facility in Tijuana, Mexico under leases that begin to expire in 2019, subject
to renewal upon written notification. This facility supports both our System One and In-Center segments.

We have a 36,300 square foot manufacturing facility in Modena, Italy, a majority of which we own with the remainder
subject to leases that begin to expire in 2018. This facility supports our System One and In-Center segments.

We have a 12,369 square foot manufacturing and research and development facility in Rosdorf, Germany under a lease that
expires in December 2017 and is subject to annual renewals. This facility principally supports our System One segment.

We operate a 50,110 square foot manufacturing facility owned by Asahi in Goettingen, Germany where we manufacturer
products for our System One segment and for sale to Asahi.



We lease clinical and office space for our NxStage Kidney Care business under leases that expire between 2018 and 2026.
Our facilities range in size from approximately 1,300 to 8,000 square feet, with an average size of approximately 5,300 square
feet.

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our current needs and that suitable additional or alternative space
will be available on commercially reasonable terms at such time as it becomes needed.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.



PART II
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Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “NXTM”. The following table sets
forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices of our common stock.

High Low

2016
First Quarter $21.79 $13.49
Second Quarter $21.69 $14.23
Third Quarter $26.07 $21.35
Fourth Quarter $26.83 $21.11

2015
First Quarter $19.19 $16.14
Second Quarter $19.63 $14.14
Third Quarter $18.50 $13.47
Fourth Quarter $22.60 $14.91

Holders

As of February 22, 2017, there were approximately 44 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock. We anticipate that we will retain our earnings
for future growth and therefore do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Our revolving line of credit
with Capital One Financial Corporation and Silicon Valley Bank restricts our ability to pay cash dividends while borrowings
are outstanding. For more information about this revolving line of credit, please see Note 8, Debt and Capital Lease
Obligations, to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read together with the information under “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and the
notes to those consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The selected statements of
comprehensive loss data for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 and balance sheet data as of December 31,
2016 and 2015 set forth below have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report. The selected statements of comprehensive loss data for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 set forth below have been derived from the audited consolidated
financial statements for such years included in prior Annual Reports on Form 10-K.

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

(In thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Comprehensive Loss Data:
Revenues $ 366,378 $ 336,123 $ 301,501 $ 263,429 $ 242,132
Cost of revenues 214,393 204,652 185,598 160,926 149,324

Gross profit 151,985 131,471 115,903 102,503 92,808
Operating expenses:

Selling and marketing 63,878 58,528 55,385 47,842 40,485
Research and development 31,032 26,237 22,635 18,887 17,111
Distribution 28,579 26,211 26,001 21,246 18,888
General and administrative 32,781 35,124 34,069 32,326 27,530

Total operating expenses 156,270 146,100 138,090 120,301 104,014
Loss from operations (4,285) (14,629) (22,187) (17,798) (11,206)
Other expense, net (1,930) (554) (873) (1,008) (2,914)

Net loss before income taxes (6,215) (15,183) (23,060) (18,806) (14,120)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 1,102 1,077 1,253 (245) 1,033

Net loss (7,317) (16,260) (24,313) (18,561) (15,153)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (2,546) (918) (367) — —

Net loss attributable to stockholders of NxStage Medical,
Inc. $ (4,771) $ (15,342) $ (23,946) $ (18,561) $ (15,153)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.07) $ (0.24) $ (0.39) $ (0.31) $ (0.26)
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted 64,520 63,384 61,700 60,261 57,890

December 31,
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 59,632 $ 59,065 $ 52,884 $ 84,134 $ 106,439
Working capital 95,639 86,163 84,395 108,513 122,235
Total assets 317,207 306,874 309,726 306,962 311,949
Long-term liabilities 65,874 70,393 73,415 74,594 75,126
Accumulated deficit (407,601) (402,830) (387,488) (363,542) (344,981)
Total stockholders’ equity $ 202,023 $ 193,520 $ 191,555 $ 194,761 $ 197,591
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview



The results of our operations are included in three separately reportable segments, System One, In-Center, and Services.
Other business activities relates to the manufacturing of dialyzers for sale to Asahi, and research and development and general
and administrative expenses that are excluded from the segment operating performance measures. We refer to our System One
segment, In-Center segment, and Other category as our products business. In the System One segment we derive our revenues
from the sale and rental of the System One and PureFlow SL dialysate preparation equipment and the sale of disposable
products in the home and critical care markets. Home is devoted to the treatment of ESRD patients in the home or a home-like
setting, while critical care is devoted to the treatment of hospital-based patients with acute kidney failure or fluid overload. In
the In-Center segment, we derive our revenues from the sale of blood tubing sets and needles for hemodialysis primarily for the
treatment of ESRD patients at dialysis centers, and needles for apheresis. Our Services segment includes revenues from dialysis
services provided to patients at our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers.

Financial Performance

The following table summarizes our consolidated results (in thousands, except percentages):

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

Products Business (System One Segment, In-Center Segment & Other)
Revenues $ 359,127 $ 332,845 $ 300,598
Gross profit $ 169,389 $ 146,188 $ 123,011
Gross margin percentage 47% 44% 41%
Income (Loss) from operations $ 22,695 $ 9,197 $ (7,261)

Services Segment
Revenues $ 14,781 $ 6,412 $ 1,749
Gross profit $ (16,657) $ (14,717) $ (7,108)
Gross margin percentage n/a n/a n/a
Loss from operations $ (26,233) $ (23,826) $ (14,926)

Eliminations
Elimination of intersegment revenues $ (7,530) $ (3,134) $ (846)
Elimination of intersegment gross profit $ (747) $ — $ —

Total Company
Revenues $ 366,378 $ 336,123 $ 301,501
Gross profit $ 151,985 $ 131,471 $ 115,903
Gross margin percentage 41% 39% 38%
Loss from operations $ (4,285) $ (14,629) $ (22,187)

For several years, we have focused on operating and financial improvements. During 2016 and 2015, these efforts resulted
in revenues increasing by 9% to $366.4 million and by 11% to $336.1 million, respectively, versus prior years, with sales in the
home and critical care markets principally driving the growth. Driving continued improvements will remain an area of focus in
2017 and beyond within our products business. At the same time, we expect to continue investing in our Services segment,
which we expect will have a negative impact on our total operating performance in the near term and may offset performance
improvements we expect in our products business.
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Statement of Comprehensive Loss Components

Revenues

In the System One segment we derive our revenues from the sale and rental of equipment and the sale of disposable
products in the home and critical care markets. In the home market, dialysis center customers purchase or rent the System One
equipment, including cycler and PureFlow SL, and then purchase the related disposable products based on a specific patient
prescription. In the critical care market, we sell or rent the System One and sell related disposables to hospital customers. In the
In-Center segment, we derive our revenues from the sale of needles and blood tubing sets. Nearly all of our sales in the In-
Center segment are through supply and distribution contracts with distributors. Our Services segment includes revenues from
dialysis services provided to patients at our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers.

In the home market, the majority of our revenues are derived from recurring sales of disposable products. For customers
that purchase the System One, we recognize revenues from the equipment sale ratably over the expected service obligation
period which is typically five to seven years. In the case of certain skilled nursing facility and in-center settings, revenues may
be recognized over a one year period. For customers that rent the System One, we recognize revenue on a monthly basis. We
recognize revenues related to the disposable products upon delivery. Over time, as more home patients are treated with the



System One and more systems are placed in patient homes, we expect to derive a growing recurring revenue stream from the
sale of related disposables.

Our contracts with dialysis centers in the home market for ESRD home dialysis patients generally include terms providing
for the sale of disposable products to accommodate up to the number of prescribed treatments per month per patient and the
purchase or monthly rental of System One cyclers and, in most instances, our PureFlow SL equipment. These contracts
typically have a term of one to seven years, and may be renewed on a month-to-month basis thereafter, subject to a 30-day
termination notice. Under these contracts, if home hemodialysis is prescribed, supplies are shipped directly to patient homes
and paid for by the treating dialysis center. We also include vacation delivery terms, providing for the shipment of products to a
designated vacation destination for a specified number of vacation days. We derive a small amount of revenues from the sale of
supplementary products and services such as equipment maintenance and service fees, ancillaries, reserve inventory and special
deliveries.

In the critical care market we recognize revenues upon delivery in accordance with contract terms. Our contracts with
hospitals generally include terms providing for the sale of our System One equipment and disposables, although we also
provide an equipment rental option. These contracts typically have a term of one year. We derive a small amount of revenues
from the sale of one- and two-year service contracts following the expiration of our standard one-year warranty period for
System One equipment. To further support service in the critical care market, we have a bio-medical training program, whereby
we train bio-medical engineers on how to service and repair certain aspects of the System One in the critical care market. Bio-
medical training is typically provided under a two-year contract following the expiration of our standard one-year warranty
period for System One equipment. As more System One equipment is placed within hospitals, we expect to continue to derive a
growing recurring revenue stream from the sale of disposable cartridges and fluids as well as, to a much lesser degree, from
service and bio-medical training contracts.

In the In-Center segment nearly all sales to end users are structured through supply and distribution contracts with several
significant distributors; however, in many instances we have direct contractual relationships with our end user customers. These
contracts typically contain minimum volume commitments with negotiated pricing triggers at different volume tiers. Revenues
are recognized upon delivery in accordance with contract terms.

The majority of our revenues have been generated from sales to customers in the U.S. We sell our System One and certain
of our other products internationally through direct sales in the UK and Canada and through distributors in other countries. We
recognize revenues from equipment sales to our international distributors at the time of shipment or, if applicable, delivery in
accordance with contract terms. Disposable product revenues are recognized upon delivery. We also manufacture and sell
dialyzers to Asahi and recognize revenues at the time of shipment in accordance with contract terms.

Revenues in our Services segment are derived from dialysis care services provided to patients at our NxStage Kidney Care
dialysis centers.

We offer certain distributors rebates based on sales to specific end users. Our revenues are presented net of these rebates.
For our System One segment, as of December 31, 2016, we had $5.4 million reserved against trade accounts receivable for
future distributor rebates and recorded $14.0 million, $11.1 million and $8.5 million during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively,
as a reduction of revenues in connection with distributor rebates. For our In-Center segment, as of December 31, 2016, we had
$3.2 million reserved against trade accounts receivable for future estimated distributor rebates and recorded $7.4 million, $7.6
million, and $8.2 million during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, as a reduction of revenues in connection with rebates.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists primarily of direct product costs, material and labor required to manufacture our products,
service of System One equipment that we sell or rent to customers and manufacturing overhead. It also includes the cost of
servicing, repairing and inspecting System One equipment prior to sale or during the warranty period, patient care costs at our
NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers and stock-based compensation for certain personnel. The cost of our products depends on
several factors, including the efficiency of our manufacturing operations, the cost at which we can obtain labor and products
from third-party suppliers, product reliability and related servicing costs and the design of our products.

Operating Expenses

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salary, benefits and stock-based compensation
for sales, marketing and business development personnel, travel, promotional and marketing materials and other expenses
associated with providing clinical training to our customers. Included in selling and marketing are the costs of clinical
educators, usually nurses, we employ to teach our customers about our products and prepare our customers to instruct their
patients and their partners in the operation of our products, customer service and technical support personnel. Also included in
this category are the personnel and other costs associated with our market development activities to establish, develop and
operate our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, including administrative support functions directly related to the startup and
support of this initiative.
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Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salary, benefits and stock-based
compensation for research and development personnel, supplies, materials and expenses associated with product design and
development, clinical studies, regulatory submissions, reporting and compliance and expenses incurred for outside consultants
or firms who furnish services related to these activities.

Distribution. Distribution expenses include the freight costs of delivering our products to our customers or our customers’
patients, depending on the market and the specific agreements with our customers, salary, benefits and stock-based
compensation for distribution personnel and the cost of any equipment lost or damaged in the distribution process. We use
common carriers and freight companies to deliver our products and do not operate our own delivery service. Also included in
this category are the expenses of shipping products under warranty from customers back to our service center for repair and the
related expense of shipping a replacement product to our customers or their patients.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salary, benefits and stock-based
compensation for our executive management, legal and finance and accounting staff, fees of outside legal counsel, fees for our
annual audit and tax services and general expenses to operate the business, including insurance and other corporate-related
expenses. Also included in general and administrative expenses, beginning in 2013, are tax expenses incurred related to the
medical device excise tax.

48

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Revenues

Our revenues for 2016 and 2015 were as follows (in thousands, except as percentages of revenues):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015

System One segment
Home $ 208,586 57 % $ 182,572 54 %
Critical Care 75,337 21 % 65,203 20 %

Total System One segment 283,923 78 % 247,775 74 %
In-Center segment 63,038 17 % 74,768 22 %
Other 12,166 3 % 10,302 3 %

Products subtotal 359,127 98 % 332,845 99 %
Services segment 14,781 4 % 6,412 2 %
Elimination of intersegment revenues (7,530) (2)% (3,134) (1)%

Total $ 366,378 100 % $ 336,123 100 %

Home product revenues increased $26.0 million, or 14%, for 2016 versus 2015, driven primarily by the increase in the
number of patients prescribed to use the System One both in the U.S. and internationally, offset in part by unfavorable foreign
currency fluctuations. We expect future demand for our products and revenue growth in the home market to be strong as we
further penetrate this market, both in the U.S. and internationally, and leverage the annuity nature of our business. We further
expect that our System One segment revenues will be susceptible to fluctuations in equipment sales, changes in inventory
levels at our international distributors and changes in currency exchange rates.

Critical Care product revenues increased $10.1 million, or 16%, for 2016 versus 2015, driven by higher sales of System
One disposables and equipment. We expect future demand for our products and revenue growth to be strong as we seek to
further penetrate this market and leverage the annuity nature of our business. However, sales of our System One equipment in
critical care may fluctuate due to timing of sales and the overall capital spending environment of our customers.

In-Center segment revenues decreased $11.7 million, or 16%, for 2016 versus 2015, due to lower demand for our blood
tubing sets from Baxter offset in part by increased blood tubing set sales and needle sales to other customers, and variations in
inventory management policies at both our distributors and end users. We anticipate In-Center segment revenues will remain
consistent in 2017 compared to 2016.

Other revenues for 2016 and 2015 relate to dialyzers sold to Asahi. The increase in revenues was due to increased volume.
Sales to Asahi may fluctuate due to timing of sales, inventory management policies at Asahi and changes in currency exchange
rates.

Service segment revenues for 2016 and 2015 relate to dialysis services provided to patients at our NxStage Kidney Care
dialysis centers. We expect future revenues to increase modestly, but may fluctuate in the near term based on payor mix and the
timing of certain payments.



Gross Profit (Loss)

Our gross profit (loss) for 2016 and 2015 were as follows (in thousands, except as percentages of revenues):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015

System One segment $ 149,770 53% $ 127,495 51%
In-Center segment 18,115 29% 20,278 27%

Subtotal 167,885 48% 147,773 46%
Other 1,504 n/a (1,585) n/a

Products subtotal $ 169,389 47% 146,188 44%
Services segment (16,657) n/a (14,717) n/a
Elimination of intersegment gross profit (747) n/a — n/a

Gross profit $ 151,985 41% $ 131,471 39%

Gross profit as a percentage of revenues for the System One segment improved versus 2015 primarily driven by
contractual price improvements, currency exchange rates and product mix, offset in part by increased service costs. We expect
to sustain gross profit as a percentage of revenues in our System One segment above 50% as we continue to work to lower
costs through process improvements, increase volume and improve our manufacturing operations.

Gross profit as a percentage of revenues for the In-Center segment increased versus 2015 driven primarily by favorable
product mix and currency exchange rates. We expect gross profit as a percentage of revenues will decrease as a result of lower
volumes and changes in product mix.

The Other category relates to costs associated with the manufacturing of dialyzers for sale to Asahi, which should provide
us with long term cost efficiencies through increased dialyzer production volumes. In the first half of 2016, we received
reimbursements from Asahi for $0.7 million related to additional startup costs incurred in 2015 with the build out of the
manufacturing facility in Germany which was recorded as a reduction of cost of revenues.

The negative gross profit as a percentage of revenues incurred by our Services segment was driven by costs associated
with the startup and support of our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers; however, the margin percentage improved versus
2015 due to continued revenue growth. We expect the Services segment gross margin will continue to be negatively impacted
by costs associated with the development and operation of our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, coupled with the impact
of payor mix and the timing of certain payments.

In aggregate, total company gross profit as a percentage of revenues will be negatively impacted by costs associated with
our continued investment in our Services segment.
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Selling and Marketing

Our selling and marketing expenses and selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues for 2016 and 2015
were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015

System One segment $ 47,969 17% $ 43,607 18%
In-Center segment 6,333 10% 5,812 8%

Products subtotal 54,302 15% 49,419 15%
Services segment 9,576 n/a 9,109 n/a

Total Selling and marketing $ 63,878 17% $ 58,528 17%

Selling and marketing expenses increased $5.4 million, or 9%, for 2016 versus 2015 but remained relatively consistent as
a percentage of revenues.

Selling and marketing expenses for the System One segment increased due to increased personnel and personnel-related
costs but decreased slightly as a percentage of revenues due to our ability to continue to leverage our infrastructure. Selling and
marketing for the In-Center segment increased as a percentage of revenue primarily driven by lower revenues.

Selling and marketing expenses for our Services segment increased $0.5 million, for 2016 versus 2015 due to increased
expenses for personnel and other costs associated with our market development activities to establish, develop and operate our



NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, including administrative support functions directly related to the startup and support of
this initiative.

We anticipate that selling and marketing expenses will continue to increase but remain relatively consistent as a percentage
of revenues in the near term.
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Research and Development

Our research and development expenses for 2016 and 2015 were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015

Research and development $ 31,032 8% $ 26,237 8%

Research and development expenses increased $4.8 million, or 18% for 2016 versus 2015. The increase was primarily due
to increased personnel and personnel-related costs and increased project related spending.

For the near term, we expect research and development expenses will increase but remain consistent as a percentage of
revenues as we seek to further develop and enhance the System One, invest in our peritoneal dialysis program and next-
generation critical care system to expand our product portfolio.

Distribution

Our distribution expenses for 2016 and 2015 were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015

System One segment $ 26,889 9% $ 24,140 10%
In-Center segment 1,690 3% 2,071 3%

Total Distribution $ 28,579 8% $ 26,211 8%

Distribution expenses increased $2.4 million, or 9%, for 2016 versus 2015 driven mainly by higher shipment volumes in
the System One segment; however, it has remained relatively consistent as a percentage of revenues in both segments. We
expect that distribution expenses will remain consistent as a percentage of revenues at least in the near term.

General and Administrative

Our general and administrative expenses for 2016 and 2015 were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015

General and administrative $ 32,781 9% $ 35,124 10%

General and administrative expenses decreased by $2.3 million, or 7%, for 2016 versus 2015. The decrease was primarily
due to the suspension of the medical device tax, offset by increased personnel related costs, and professional service fees. We
expect general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues to decline modestly compared to prior periods as we
continue to leverage our infrastructure.

Other Expense

Interest expense decreased $0.1 million for 2016 versus 2015. Interest expense includes interest costs and other fees related
to our debt obligations, including capital leases.

Other expense, net includes foreign currency gains and losses and during 2015 included $0.7 million in realized gains
recognized from corporate equity instruments designated as short term trading securities.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes of $1.1 million during both 2016 and 2015 relates to the profitable operations of certain
foreign subsidiaries.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

Revenues



Our revenues for 2015 and 2014 were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,
2015 2014

System One segment
Home $ 182,572 54 % $ 157,822 52%
Critical Care 65,203 20 % 55,609 19%

Total System One segment 247,775 74 % 213,431 71%
In-Center segment 74,768 22 % 78,885 26%
Other 10,302 3 % 8,282 3%

Products subtotal 332,845 99 % 300,598 100%
Services segment 6,412 2 % 1,749 —%
Elimination of intersegment revenues (3,134) (1)% (846) —%

Total $ 336,123 100 % $ 301,501 100%

Home product revenues increased $24.8 million, or 16%, during 2015 compared to 2014. This increase was driven
primarily by the increase in the number of patients prescribed to use the System One both in the U.S. and internationally.

Critical Care product revenues increased $9.6 million, or 17%, during 2015 compared to 2014, driven by higher sales of
System One disposables and equipment.

In-Center segment revenues decreased $4.1 million, or 5%, during 2015 compared to 2014, driven by lower needle sales
consistent with the expiration of DaVita's needle purchase agreement in December 2014 offset in part by increased blood tubing
set sales and needle sales to other customers.

Other revenues for 2015 and 2014 relate primarily to dialyzers sold to Asahi. The increase in revenues was due to
increased volume, partially offset by unfavorable changes in currency exchange rates.

Service segment revenues for 2015 and 2014 relate to dialysis services provided to patients at our NxStage Kidney Care
dialysis centers.

Gross Profit (Loss)

Our gross profit (loss) for 2015 and 2014 were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,
2015 2014

System One segment $ 127,495 51% $ 102,420 48%
In-Center segment 20,278 27% 20,765 26%

Subtotal 147,773 46% 123,185 42%
Other (1,585) n/a (174) n/a

Products subtotal 146,188 44% 123,011 41%
Services segment (14,717) n/a (7,108) n/a

Gross profit $ 131,471 39% $ 115,903 38%

Gross profit as a percentage of revenues for the System One segment improved versus 2014 primarily driven by favorable
product mix, favorable currency exchange rate changes versus the U.S. Dollar, decreased costs and contractual price
improvements, offset in part by increased service costs.

Gross profit as a percentage of revenues for the In-Center segment increased versus 2014 driven primarily by unfavorable
product mix, partially offset by favorable currency exchange rates and cost improvements.

The Other category relates to costs associated with the manufacturing of dialyzers for sale to Asahi, which should provide
us with long term cost efficiencies through increased dialyzer production volumes.

The negative gross profit as a percentage of revenues incurred by our Services segment was driven by costs associated
with starting up our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers.

Selling and Marketing

Our selling and marketing expenses for 2015 and 2014 were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):
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Years Ended December 31,
2015 2014

System One segment $ 43,607 18% $ 41,763 20%
In-Center segment 5,812 8% 5,804 7%

Products subtotal 49,419 15% 47,567 16%
Services segment 9,109 n/a 7,818 n/a

Total Selling and marketing $ 58,528 17% $ 55,385 18%

Selling and marketing expenses increased $3.1 million, or 6%, during 2015 compared to 2014 but remained consistent as a
percentage of revenues.

Selling and marketing expenses for the System One and In-Center segments increased due to increased personnel and
personnel-related costs but decreased as a percentage of revenues in the System One segment due to our ability to continue to
leverage our infrastructure.

Selling and marketing expenses for our Services segment increased $1.3 million versus 2014 due to increased expenses
for personnel and other costs associated with our market development activities to establish, develop and operate NxStage
Kidney Care dialysis centers, including administrative support functions directly related to the startup and support of this
initiative.

Research and Development

Our research and development expenses for 2015 and 2014 were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,
2015 2014

Research and development $ 26,237 8% $ 22,635 8%

Research and development expenses increased $3.6 million, or 16%, but remained consistent as a percentage of revenues
during 2015 compared to 2014. The increase was primarily due to increased personnel and personnel-related costs and
increased project related spending.

Distribution

Our distribution expenses for 2015 and 2014 were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,
2015 2014

System One segment $ 24,140 10% $ 23,855 11%
In-Center segment 2,071 3% 2,146 3%

Total Distribution $ 26,211 8% $ 26,001 9%

Distribution expenses increased $0.2 million, or 1%, during 2015 compared to 2014 driven mainly by higher shipment
volumes; however, it remained relatively consistent as a percentage of revenues during 2015 compared to 2014 in both
segments.

General and Administrative

Our general and administrative expenses for 2015 and 2014 were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,
2015 2014

General and administrative $ 35,124 10% $ 34,069 11%

General and administrative expenses increased $1.1 million, or 3%, but remained relatively consistent as a percentage of
revenues during 2015 compared to 2014. The increase in general and administrative expenses was due to increased personnel
and personnel-related costs and other related infrastructure costs.

Other Income (Expense)

52



Interest expense increased $0.3 million during 2015 compared to 2014. Interest expense includes interest costs and other
fees related to our debt obligations, including our capital lease obligations.

Other income (expense), net includes foreign currency gains and losses and during 2015 includes $0.7 million realized
gains recognized from corporate equity instruments designated as short term trading securities.

Provision for Foreign Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes of $1.1 million during 2015 and $1.3 million during 2014 relates to the profitable
operations of certain foreign subsidiaries.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have operated at a loss since our inception in 1998. As of December 31, 2016, our accumulated deficit was $407.6
million and we had cash and cash equivalents of $59.6 million, with substantially all of that cash located in the U.S., and
working capital of $95.6 million.

We expect to continue to generate positive cash flow. We believe, based on current projections and the current nature of
our business, that we have the required resources to fund our ongoing operating requirements, which include selling and
marketing activities to increase public awareness of the System One, our research and development activities to develop new
products and enhance our existing products, and our continued investments in our existing NxStage Kidney Care dialysis
centers. If we determine that additional investment in these or any other initiatives would be beneficial, we may choose to
access the credit or capital markets to provide additional liquidity. However, we may not be successful in securing such
additional financing.

Our ongoing cash requirements include funding normal working capital needs including inventory and field equipment
assets as well as funding the losses from our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers. Field equipment assets include System
One equipment rented to customers in the home market and our "service pool" of equipment, which is equipment owned and
maintained by us that is swapped for equipment owned or rented by our customers that needs repair or maintenance. While a
majority of our home market customers have committed to purchase, rather than rent, the significant majority of their future
System One equipment requirements, any excess rental or service swap equipment would increase our working capital
requirements.

We have a revolving credit facility with Capital One Financial Corporation and Silicon Valley Bank that allows for
borrowing up to $35 million and expires in June 2019. Availability of credit is subject to a borrowing base that is calculated
with reference to certain of our accounts receivable, inventory and equipment, and adjustments to such borrowing base are at
the discretion of the lenders. The revolving credit facility requires that we comply with certain covenants while borrowings are
outstanding, contains events of default customary for an agreement of this type and is secured by substantially all of our assets.
As of December 31, 2016, there were no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility, we were in compliance
with all applicable covenants and, subject to the lenders’ adjustments described above, we had approximately $28 million of
credit commitment available for borrowing.

We have several smaller loans with original principal amounts totaling $2.4 million with annual interest rates of
approximately 2.0% to 6.0%, payable over a period of five to ten years secured by certain assets.

We maintain post-employment benefit plans for employees in certain foreign subsidiaries. The plans provide lump sum
benefits, payable based on statutory regulations for voluntary or involuntary termination. Where required, we obtain an annual
actuarial valuation of the benefit plans. We have recorded a liability of $1.7 million at December 31, 2016 and 2015, for costs
associated with these plans. The expense recorded in connection with these plans was not significant during 2016, 2015 or
2014.

The following table sets forth the components of our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015

(In thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 4,587 $ 10,542
Net cash used in investing activities (9,361) (10,861)
Net cash provided by financing activities 5,275 7,333
Foreign exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents 66 (833)

Net cash flow $ 567 $ 6,181



Net cash provided by operating activities. Net cash flows from operating activities decreased by $6.0 million during 2016,
versus 2015 driven by higher working capital requirements including growth in inventory to support increased volume and
timing of accounts receivable collections, offset by improved net loss after adjustments for non-cash items such as depreciation
and amortization and stock-based compensation and timing of payments to our vendors. We expect working capital to fluctuate
due to various factors including inventory requirements and the timing of certain payments from our customers and to our
vendors.

Cash flow from deferred revenues improved by $0.1 million during 2016 as compared to 2015. Amortization of deferred
revenues into revenues relating to sales of home equipment was $18.2 million during 2016 and $17.3 million during 2015.

Net cash used in investing activities. For each of the periods above, net cash used in investing activities reflected
purchases of property and equipment, primarily for the build-out of NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers coupled with
expenditures for our manufacturing facilities as a result of our efforts to maintain and expand our manufacturing operations,
along with purchases of equipment for research and development and information technology. For 2016, cash used in investing
activities also includes $0.5 million related to our 2015 acquisition of controlling interest in a dialysis center.

The decrease of $2.7 million in purchases of property and equipment was driven primarily by decreased spending
associated with our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers and our manufacturing facilities. Capital expenditures for our
NxStage Kidney Care centers were $3.7 million, and $4.7 million during 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Net cash provided by financing activities. During 2016 and 2015, we received $6.0 million and $6.7 million, respectively,
of net cash flows from stock plan activities. Proceeds from stock incentive plans are subject to fluctuation based primarily on
the number of options exercised and, to a lesser extent, the weighted-average exercise price. During 2016 and 2015, we
received $1.3 million and $0.9 million, respectively, in investments by noncontrolling interest holders. During 2015, we
received $1.3 million in proceeds from a term loan. Cash provided by financing activities during both 2016 and 2015 was
mainly reduced by cash used to pay our capital lease obligations.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any significant off-balance sheet arrangements.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual commitments as of December 31, 2016 and the effect those commitments
are expected to have on liquidity and cash flow in future periods (in thousands):

Payments Due By Period

Total
Less Than
One Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years

More Than
5 Years

Capital lease obligations, including interest $ 14,380 $ 1,872 $ 3,294 $ 2,544 $ 6,670
Operating leases 24,592 4,995 9,402 6,805 3,390
Debt, including interest 1,833 407 815 444 167
Purchase obligations 49,770 30,646 18,188 936 —
Total $ 90,575 $ 37,920 $ 31,699 $ 10,729 $ 10,227

Our capital lease obligations include our capital lease obligation due to Asahi related to a manufacturing facility in
Germany along with $5.9 million representing the estimated residual value of the manufacturing facility in Germany at the end
of the estimated lease term which only becomes due and payable at Asahi's option if we terminate our agreement with Asahi.

Our purchase obligations include minimum purchase commitments under agreements with certain of our suppliers,
primarily for the purchase of fluids for our System One segment and needles for our In-Center segment, and purchase orders to
purchase goods or services both of which are in the normal course of business. Certain of these commitments may be extended
or canceled at our option.

The contractual commitments included in the table above do not include post-employment benefit obligations and
unrecognized tax benefits. We maintain post-employment benefit plans for employees in certain foreign subsidiaries and may
be required to make cash outlays related to the settlement of these obligations. However, the timing of such cash outlays is
uncertain. Please see Note 13, Employee Benefit Plan to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report
for further details. We may be required to make cash outlays related to our unrecognized tax benefits. However, we are unable
to make reasonably reliable estimates of the period of cash settlement, if any, with the respective taxing authorities. Please see
Note 11, Income Taxes to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for further details.

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates



Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements requires us to make significant estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses. These items are regularly monitored and analyzed by management for changes in facts and
circumstances, and material changes in these estimates could occur in the future. Changes in estimates are recorded in the
period in which they become known. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ substantially from our estimates.

Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements included in this report
describes the significant accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. A summary of
those accounting policies and estimates that we believe are most critical to fully understanding and evaluating our financial
results is set forth below. This summary should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the
related notes included elsewhere in this report.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from product sales and services when earned. Revenues are recognized when: (a) there is persuasive
evidence of an arrangement, (b) the product has been shipped or services and supplies have been provided to the customer, (c)
the sales price is fixed or determinable and (d) collection is reasonably assured.

Certain agreements with distributors allow for product returns and credits. For shipment of product sold to distributors,
revenue is recognized at the time of sale if a reasonable estimate of future returns or credit can be made. If a reasonable
estimate of future returns or credit cannot be made, we recognize revenue using the "sell-through" method. Under the "sell-
through" method, revenue and related costs of revenue is deferred until the final resale of such products to end customers.

In addition to contractually determined volume discounts, in many agreements we offer rebates based on sales to specific
end customers and discounts for early payment. Rebates and discounts are recorded as a reduction of sales and trade accounts
receivable, based on our best estimate of the amount of probable future rebate or discount on current sales.

We enter into multiple-element arrangements that may include a combination of equipment, related disposables and
services. Revenue arrangements with multiple elements are divided into separate units of accounting if specified criteria are
met, including whether the delivered element has stand-alone value to the customer, the consideration received is allocated
among the separate units based on their respective selling price, and the applicable revenue recognition criteria are applied to
each of the separate units.

We determine selling price using vendor specific objective evidence ("VSOE"), if it exists, otherwise third-party evidence
of selling price is used. If neither VSOE nor third-party evidence of selling price exists for a unit of accounting, we use best
estimated selling price ("BESP"). We generally expect that we will not be able to establish third-party evidence due to the
nature of our products and the markets in which we compete, and, as such, we typically will determine selling price using
VSOE or BESP.

We determine BESP for an individual element based on consideration of both market and Company-specific factors,
including the selling price and profit margin for similar products, the cost to produce the deliverable and the anticipated margin
on that deliverable and the characteristics of the varying markets in which the deliverable is sold.

System One Segment

We derive revenue in the home market from the sales of hemodialysis therapy to customers in which the customer either
purchases or rents the System One and/or PureFlow SL hardware and purchases a specified number of disposable products and
service.

For customers that purchase the System One and PureFlow SL hardware, in the U.S. home market, due to the depot service
model whereby equipment requiring service is picked up and a replacement device is shipped to the site of care, we recognize
fees received from equipment sale as revenue on a straight-line basis over the expected term of our remaining service
obligation and direct costs relating to the delivered equipment are deferred and amortized over the same expected period as the
related revenue. Disposable products revenue is recognized on a monthly basis upon delivery.

Under the rental arrangements, revenue is recognized on a monthly basis in accordance with agreed upon contract terms
and pursuant to binding customer purchase orders and fixed payment terms.

Our sales arrangements with our international distributors are structured as direct product sales and have no significant
post-delivery obligations with the exception of standard warranty obligations. Revenue from direct product sales is recognized
upon delivery in accordance with contract terms.

In the critical care market, we structure sales of the System One and disposable products as direct product sales and have
no significant post-delivery obligations with the exception of standard warranty obligations. Revenue from direct product sales
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is recognized upon delivery in accordance with contract terms. Certain of these arrangements provide for training, technical
support and extended warranty services to our customers. We recognize training and technical support revenue when the related
services are performed. In the case of extended warranty, the service revenue is recognized ratably over the extended warranty
period.

In-Center Segment

Our In-Center segment sales are structured as direct product sales primarily through distributors, and we have no
significant post delivery obligations with the exception of standard warranty obligations. Revenue from direct product sales is
recognized upon delivery in accordance with contract terms. Some of our distribution contracts for the In-Center segment
contain minimum volume commitments with negotiated pricing discounts at different volume tiers. Each agreement may be
canceled upon a material breach, subject to certain curing rights, and in many instances minimum volume commitments can be
reduced or eliminated upon certain events.

Services Segment

Revenues in our Services segment are derived from dialysis care services provided to patients at our NxStage Kidney Care
dialysis centers.

Revenues are recognized based on a customary fee schedule, net of estimated contractual allowances to reflect the
estimated amounts to be received from the payor. Revenues are recognized in the period in which services are provided when
we have the ability to reasonably estimate amounts ultimately collectible from the payor. In instances where we do not have the
ability to reasonably estimate amounts ultimately collectible, as is often the case with non-contracted commercial health plans
and amounts due from patients (including co-pay and deductible amounts), revenue is recognized in the period in which cash is
received.

Inventory Valuation

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost, determined using the first-in first-out method (FIFO), or market (net realizable
value). We write down the carrying value of inventory for estimated obsolescence when warranted by an amount equal to the
difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based on assumptions of future demand and remaining
shelf-life. We also review our inventory value to determine if it reflects the lower of cost or market based on factors such as
inventory items sold at negative gross margins and purchase commitments. The medical device industry is characterized by
rapid development and technological advances as well as regulatory and quality manufacturing guidelines that could result in
obsolescence of inventory. Additionally, our estimates of future product demand may prove to be inaccurate.

Field Equipment

Field equipment consists of equipment being utilized under disposable-based rental agreements as well as “service pool”
equipment. Service pool equipment is equipment owned and maintained by us that are swapped for equipment that need repairs
or maintenance by us while being rented or owned by a customer. We continually monitor the number of cyclers in the service
pool, as well as cyclers that are in-transit or otherwise not being used by a patient, and assess whether there are any indicators
of impairment for such equipment. We also review field equipment carrying value for reasonableness. We consider factors such
as actual equipment disposals and our ability to verify the equipment’s existence in the field to identify lost equipment. We
review the estimated useful life of our field equipment periodically for reasonableness and make changes when appropriate.
Factors considered in determining the reasonableness of the useful life include expected future design improvements,
equipment age and actual equipment disposals.

Accounting for Stock-Based Awards

Stock-based compensation expense is estimated as of the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized
as expense over the requisite service period, which generally equals the vesting period, based on the number of awards that are
expected to vest. Estimating the fair value for stock options requires judgment, including the expected term of our stock
options, volatility of our stock, expected dividends, risk-free interest rates over the expected term of the options and the
expected forfeiture rate. In connection with our performance based programs, we make assumptions principally related to the
number of awards that are expected to vest after assessing the probability that certain performance criteria will be met.

Valuation of Intangibles and Other Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including intangible assets, are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or circumstances indicate
that their carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important include, but are not limited to, significant
underperformance relative to historical or projected future results, significant negative industry factors and significant changes
in strategy or operations that negatively affect the utilization of our long-lived assets. The evaluation of the impairment of long-
lived assets, other than goodwill, is based on expectations of non-discounted future cash flows compared to the carrying value
of the long-lived asset groups. If the sum of the expected non-discounted future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of
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the long-lived assets, we would recognize an impairment loss if the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value.
Our expected non-discounted future cash flows are based upon cash flow projections and, if appropriate, include assumed
proceeds upon sale of the asset group at the end of the cash flow period. We believe our procedures for developing cash flow
projections, including the estimated sales proceeds, are reasonable and consistent with current market conditions for each of the
dates when impairment testing has been performed. The cash flow projections that are used contain our best estimates, using
appropriate and customary assumptions and projections at the time. If the cash flow projections or the significant operating
assumptions upon which they are based change in the future, we may be required to record additional impairment charges.

Goodwill

We assess goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter and whenever events or circumstances indicate
impairment may exist. This test includes first a qualitative assessment and then, if necessary, a quantitative assessment to
determine if the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. Our System One, In-center and Services reporting
units contain goodwill of $41.1 million, $0.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively. Factors considered in the qualitative
assessment include, but are not limited to, both macroeconomic conditions and entity-specific conditions. For the quantitative
assessment the reporting unit's fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow or other fair value measurement. Assessing
the impairment of goodwill requires us to make assumptions and judgments including the identification of reporting units and
determination of the fair value of our reporting units based on estimates of future cash flows and the selection of discount rates.
Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the estimated fair values of reporting units and could result
in a goodwill impairment charge in a future period. However, our annual impairment testing indicated no impairment.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We periodically assess our income tax positions and record tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon our
evaluation of the facts, circumstances and information available at the reporting date. If our judgment as to the likely resolution
of the position changes, if the matter is ultimately settled or if the statute of limitation expires, the effects of the change would
be recognized in the period in which the change, resolution or expiration occurs.

We conduct business globally and file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various states and foreign
jurisdictions. We estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves estimating
our current tax expense, including assessing the risks associated with tax positions, together with assessing temporary and
permanent differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes. We evaluate the
need for valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets based on positive and negative evidence about our ability to realize
deferred tax attributes. Our estimates can vary due to the profitability mix of jurisdictions, foreign exchange movements,
changes in tax law, regulations or accounting principles, as well as certain discrete items. In the event that actual results differ
from our estimates or we adjust our estimates in the future, we may need to increase or decrease income tax expense, which
could have a material impact on our financial position and results of operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

A discussion of recent accounting pronouncements is included in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to
our consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

Our interest rate risk is currently limited to our investments. However, this risk is mitigated given our investment portfolio
currently consists of treasury obligations money market funds. We manage our investment portfolio in accordance with our
investment policy. The primary objectives of our investment policy are to preserve principal, maintain a high degree of liquidity
to meet operating needs and obtain competitive returns subject to prevailing market conditions. Our investment policy specifies
the credit quality standards for our investments and limits the amount of exposure from any single issue, issuer or type of
investment.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar and a majority of our revenues and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars.
However, we have manufacturing, service and distribution operations in foreign locations. In addition, we purchase products
for resale in the U.S. from foreign companies and have agreed to pay them in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, including
the euro. Furthermore, certain revenues are denominated in other currencies, primarily the British pound, Canadian dollar and
euro. As a result, we are potentially exposed to adverse as well as beneficial movements in foreign currency exchange rates.
For example, a hypothetical 10% adverse change in exchange rates could have the net effect of reducing our operating profit by
approximately $0.7 million.



We utilize natural hedges to minimize our transaction exposures. Also, certain of our long-term supply agreements include
foreign exchange risk sharing at different exchange rate levels limiting our exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates
for our purchase commitment exposures. Finally, we enter into foreign exchange forward contracts on peso and euro
denominated expenses to further reduce our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations from our foreign
manufacturing and service operations located in Mexico and Europe.

Our foreign exchange forward contracts are entered into with large financial institutions and have durations of up to twelve
months. These contracts are designated as cash flow hedges intended to offset the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on
forecasted manufacturing and service costs. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and
qualifying as cash flow hedges is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss and is subsequently reclassified into
earnings in the period in which the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. As of December 31, 2016, the notional
amount of our outstanding contracts that are designated as cash flow hedges was approximately $18.6 million. Based on our
analysis, a hypothetical adverse foreign exchange rate movement of 10% against our contracts would have resulted in a net loss
in fair value of these contracts of approximately $2.0 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of NxStage Medical, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NxStage Medical, Inc. as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2016. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public CompanyAccounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of NxStage Medical, Inc. at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
NxStage Medical, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework) and our report dated February 28, 2017 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 28, 2017
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NXSTAGE MEDICAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2016 2015

(In thousands, except share data)
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 59,632 $ 59,065
Accounts receivable, net 32,286 25,195
Inventory 46,845 38,391
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,136 6,254

Total current assets 144,899 128,905
Property and equipment, net 61,561 66,711
Field equipment, net 22,309 20,744
Deferred cost of revenues 33,165 33,068
Intangible assets, net 9,688 11,744
Goodwill 42,648 42,710
Other assets 2,937 2,992

Total assets $ 317,207 $ 306,874
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 14,177 $ 10,767
Accrued expenses 30,985 27,266
Current portion of long-term debt 328 315
Other current liabilities 3,770 4,394

Total current liabilities 49,260 42,742
Deferred revenues 49,001 51,362
Long-term debt 1,305 1,664
Other long-term liabilities 15,568 17,367

Total liabilities 115,134 113,135
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions 50 219
Stockholders’ equity:

Undesignated preferred stock: par value $0.001 per share, 5,000,000 shares authorized;
no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 — —
Common stock: par value $0.001 per share, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 65,883,026
and 64,873,038 shares issued as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively 65 64
Additional paid-in capital 631,219 612,487
Accumulated deficit (407,601) (402,830)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (6,101) (4,031)
Treasury stock, at cost: 936,360 and 822,059 shares as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively (16,184) (13,864)

Total NxStage Medical, Inc. stockholders’ equity 201,398 191,826
Noncontrolling interests not subject to put provisions 625 1,694

Total stockholders’ equity 202,023 193,520
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 317,207 $ 306,874

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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NXSTAGE MEDICAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

(In thousands, except per share data)
Revenues $ 366,378 $ 336,123 $ 301,501
Cost of revenues 214,393 204,652 185,598

Gross profit 151,985 131,471 115,903
Operating expenses:

Selling and marketing 63,878 58,528 55,385
Research and development 31,032 26,237 22,635
Distribution 28,579 26,211 26,001
General and administrative 32,781 35,124 34,069

Total operating expenses 156,270 146,100 138,090
Loss from operations (4,285) (14,629) (22,187)
Other (expense) income:

Interest expense, net (1,000) (1,115) (863)
Other (expense) income, net (930) 561 (10)

(1,930) (554) (873)
Net loss before income taxes (6,215) (15,183) (23,060)
Provision for income taxes 1,102 1,077 1,253

Net loss (7,317) (16,260) (24,313)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (2,546) (918) (367)

Net loss attributable to stockholders of NxStage Medical, Inc. $ (4,771) $ (15,342) $ (23,946)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.07) $ (0.24) $ (0.39)

Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted 64,520 63,384 61,700
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (2,070) (1,839) (2,404)

Total comprehensive loss (9,387) (18,099) (26,717)
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (2,546) (918) (367)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to stockholders of NxStage
Medical, Inc. $ (6,841) $ (17,181) $ (26,350)

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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NXSTAGE MEDICAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (7,317) $ (16,260) $ (24,313)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 32,637 30,715 27,697
Stock-based compensation 10,117 12,598 12,881
Other 2,445 1,302 1,877
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (7,388) (1,130) (4,188)
Inventory (31,069) (12,113) (35,063)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (68) (77) (2,214)
Accounts payable 3,532 (2,775) (212)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 4,141 635 4,235
Deferred revenues (2,443) (2,353) (973)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 4,587 10,542 (20,273)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (513) — —
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities — 676 —
Purchases of property and equipment (8,848) (11,537) (20,097)

Net cash used in investing activities (9,361) (10,861) (20,097)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants and employee
stock purchase plans 5,994 6,663 11,133
Investment by noncontrolling interest holder 1,255 929 930
Proceeds from loans and lines of credit — 1,275 —
Repayments on loans and lines of credit (384) (143) (98)
Payments on capital leases (1,590) (1,391) (1,448)
Debt issuance costs — — (1,056)

Net cash provided by financing activities 5,275 7,333 9,461
Foreign exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents 66 (833) (341)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 567 6,181 (31,250)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 59,065 52,884 84,134
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 59,632 $ 59,065 $ 52,884

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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NXSTAGE MEDICAL, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. Nature of Operations, Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

Nature of Operations

We are a medical technology company that develops, manufactures and markets innovative products and services for
patients suffering from chronic or acute kidney failure. Our primary product, the System One, was designed to satisfy an unmet
clinical need for a system capable of delivering the therapeutic flexibility and clinical benefits of traditional dialysis machines
in a smaller, portable, easy-to-use form that can be used by healthcare professionals and trained lay users alike in a variety of
settings, including patient homes, as well as more traditional care settings such as hospitals and dialysis centers. Given its
design, the System One is particularly well-suited for home hemodialysis and a range of dialysis therapies that are more
practical to deliver in the home setting, including more frequent hemodialysis and nocturnal hemodialysis. Clinical literature
suggests such therapies provide patients better clinical outcomes and improved quality of life. We also operate a small number
of NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers, independently and in some instances as joint ventures, that treat end-stage renal
disease (ESRD) patients directly. These centers provide us with valuable experience to better meet and anticipate the needs of
both our customers and patients, while optimizing our product technology. In addition, these centers provide us with the
opportunity to innovate and foster new care delivery models to advance the standard of renal care across other markets. More
specifically, at NxStage Kidney Care we offer a range of treatment options, including home hemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis
and flexible in-center hemodialysis. These centers also help us to devise best practices for successful home dialysis programs
and provide sites for future clinical trials of our products. We are headquartered in Lawrence, Massachusetts, with
manufacturing facilities in Mexico, Germany and Italy. Through our international network of affiliates and distribution
partners, patients in over 21 countries have been treated with our products.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of NxStage Medical, Inc. have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and with the requirements of
Regulation S-X.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Such financial statements reflect all adjustments that, in the
opinion of management, are necessary for a fair presentation of the results of the periods presented. All such adjustments are of
a normal recurring nature.

Principles of Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of NxStage Medical, Inc. and our wholly-owned subsidiaries
and other entities in which we maintain a majority voting interests or for which we maintain effective control including variable
interest entities ("VIEs") for which we are deemed the primary beneficiary. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated. Noncontrolling interests represent the proportionate equity interests in the consolidated
entities that are not wholly owned by us. Noncontrolling interests of acquired entities are recognized at their initial fair value.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from product sales and services when earned. Revenues are recognized when: (a) there is persuasive
evidence of an arrangement, (b) the product has been shipped or services and supplies have been provided to the customer, (c)
the sales price is fixed or determinable and (d) collection is reasonably assured.

Certain agreements with distributors allow for product returns and credits. For shipment of product sold to distributors,
revenue is recognized at the time of sale if a reasonable estimate of future returns or credit can be made. If a reasonable
estimate of future returns or credit cannot be made, we recognize revenue using the "sell-through" method. Under the "sell-
through" method, revenue and related costs of revenue is deferred until the final resale of such products to end customers.

In addition to contractually determined volume discounts, in many agreements we offer rebates based on sales to specific
end customers and discounts for early payment. Rebates and discounts are recorded as a reduction of sales and trade accounts
receivable, based on our best estimate of the amount of probable future rebate or discount on current sales.



We enter into multiple-element arrangements that may include a combination of equipment, related disposables and
services. Revenue arrangements with multiple elements are divided into separate units of accounting if specified criteria are
met, including whether the delivered element has stand-alone value to the customer, the consideration received is allocated
among the separate units based on their respective selling price, and the applicable revenue recognition criteria are applied to
each of the separate units.

We determine selling price using vendor specific objective evidence ("VSOE"), if it exists, otherwise third-party evidence
of selling price is used. If neither VSOE nor third-party evidence of selling price exists for a unit of accounting, we use best
estimated selling price ("BESP"). We generally expect that we will not be able to establish third-party evidence due to the
nature of our products and the markets in which we compete, and, as such, we typically will determine selling price using
VSOE or BESP.

We determine BESP for an individual element based on consideration of both market and Company-specific factors,
including the selling price and profit margin for similar products, the cost to produce the deliverable and the anticipated margin
on that deliverable and the characteristics of the varying markets in which the deliverable is sold.

Any tax assessed by a governmental authority that is incurred as a result of a revenue transactions (e.g. sales tax) is
excluded from revenues and reported on a net basis

System One Segment

We derive revenue in the home market from the sales of hemodialysis therapy to customers in which the customer either
purchases or rents the System One and/or PureFlow SL hardware and purchases a specified number of disposable products and
service.

For customers that purchase the System One and PureFlow SL hardware, in the U.S. home market, due to the depot service
model whereby equipment requiring service is picked up and a replacement device is shipped to the site of care, we recognize
fees received from equipment sale as revenue on a straight-line basis over the expected term of our remaining service obligation
and direct costs relating to the delivered equipment are deferred and amortized over the same expected period as the related
revenue. Disposable products revenue is recognized on a monthly basis upon delivery.

Under the rental arrangements, revenue is recognized on a monthly basis in accordance with agreed upon contract terms
and pursuant to binding customer purchase orders and fixed payment terms.

Our sales arrangements with our international distributors are structured as direct product sales and have no significant
post-delivery obligations with the exception of standard warranty obligations. Revenue from direct product sales is recognized
upon delivery in accordance with contract terms.

In the critical care market, we structure sales of the System One and disposable products as direct product sales and have
no significant post-delivery obligations with the exception of standard warranty obligations. Revenue from direct product sales
is recognized upon delivery in accordance with contract terms. Certain of these arrangements provide for training, technical
support and extended warranty services to our customers. We recognize training and technical support revenue when the related
services are performed. In the case of extended warranty, the service revenue is recognized ratably over the extended warranty
period.

In-Center Segment

Our In-Center segment sales are structured as direct product sales primarily through distributors, and we have no
significant post delivery obligations with the exception of standard warranty obligations. Revenue from direct product sales is
recognized upon delivery in accordance with contract terms. Some of our distribution contracts for the In-Center segment
contain minimum volume commitments with negotiated pricing discounts at different volume tiers. Each agreement may be
canceled upon a material breach, subject to certain curing rights, and in many instances minimum volume commitments can be
reduced or eliminated upon certain events.

Services Segment

Revenues in our Services segment are derived from dialysis care services provided to patients at our NxStage Kidney Care
dialysis centers.

Revenues are recognized based on a customary fee schedule, net of estimated contractual allowances to reflect the
estimated amounts to be received from the payor. Revenues are recognized in the period in which services are provided when
we have the ability to reasonably estimate amounts ultimately collectible from the payor. In instances where we do not have the
ability to reasonably estimate amounts ultimately collectible, as is often the case with non-contracted commercial health plans
and amounts due from patients (including co-pay and deductible amounts), revenue is recognized in the period in which cash is
received.

67



Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

Assets and liabilities of our foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates, and income and
expense items are translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Foreign exchange gains and (losses) on
intercompany loans considered permanent investments are recorded in other comprehensive loss. Gains and (losses) realized
from transactions denominated in foreign currencies, including intercompany balances not considered permanent investments,
are included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss within other income (expense), net.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly-liquid investments purchased with original maturities of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents include amounts invested in treasury obligation money market funds. Cash equivalents are stated at cost plus
accrued interest, which approximates fair value.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, derivatives and accounts receivable. To mitigate such risk, with respect to cash and cash equivalents, we place our
cash in bank deposit accounts with financial institutions that have investment grade ratings and capital ratios exceeding
minimum Federal Reserve Adequacy Guidelines and in treasury obligation money market funds. To mitigate concentration of
credit risk with respect to derivatives we enter into transactions with highly-rated financial institutions and frequently monitor
the credit worthiness of our counterparties.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is primarily limited to certain customers to whom we make
substantial sales. Two customers represented 12% and 10% of accounts receivable at December 31, 2016 and one customer
represented 12% of accounts receivable at December 31, 2015. To reduce risk, we routinely assess the financial strength of our
customers and closely monitor their amounts due and, as a result of our assessment, we believe that our accounts receivable
credit risk exposure is limited. Historically, we have not experienced any significant credit losses related to an individual
customer or group of customers in any particular market or geographic area. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts
based on an analysis of historical losses from uncollectible accounts, aging of unpaid accounts receivable balances and risks
identified for specific customers who may not be able to make required payments. Provisions for the allowance for doubtful
accounts are recorded in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive
loss.

Activity related to allowance for doubtful accounts consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended
Balance at

Beginning of Year Provision Write-offs
Balance at End

of Year

December 31, 2016 $ 417 $ 179 $ (61) $ 535
December 31, 2015 $ 425 $ 20 $ (28) $ 417
December 31, 2014 $ 321 $ 219 $ (115) $ 425

We use and are dependent upon a number of single source suppliers of raw materials, components, finished goods and
sterilization services. We are dependent on the ability of our suppliers to provide products on a timely basis and on favorable
pricing terms. The loss of certain principal suppliers or a significant reduction in product availability from principal suppliers
would have a material adverse effect on us, at least in the near term. We believe that our relationships with our suppliers are
satisfactory.

Fair Value Measurements

U.S. GAAP defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. U.S. GAAP requires an entity to maximize the use of
observable inputs, where available, and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.

The Company has certain financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, certain
nonfinancial assets that may be measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. The fair value disclosures of these assets and
liabilities are based on a three-level hierarchy, which is defined as follows:

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement
date.

Level 2 Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable
market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
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Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
of the assets or liabilities.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement
in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Derivative instruments, namely our foreign exchange forward contracts, are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value at
the balance sheet date. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and highly effective as cash flow hedges are
deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and subsequently recognized in cost of revenues in the same period
the hedged items are recognized. The ineffective portion of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, are recorded
in other income (expense), net. If the underlying forecasted transaction does not occur, or it becomes probable that it will not
occur, the gains and losses on the related derivative instrument are recognized in earnings and any related gains and losses
recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) are reclassified into earnings.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost, determined using the first-in first-out method (FIFO), or market (net realizable
value). We write down the carrying value of inventory for estimated obsolescence when warranted by an amount equal to the
difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based on assumptions of future demand and remaining
shelf-life. We also review our inventory value to determine if it reflects the lower of cost or market based on factors such as
inventory items sold at negative gross margins and purchase commitments.

Property and Equipment and Field Equipment

Property and equipment and field equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided
over the estimated useful lives of the related assets using the straight-line method for financial statement purposes. The
estimated useful lives of our assets are periodically reviewed for reasonableness. Changes in useful lives are accounted for
prospectively. Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. When property and equipment are retired, sold or otherwise
disposed of, the asset's carrying amount and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or
loss is included in operations. When field equipment is sold, the asset's carrying amount and related accumulated depreciation
is removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is deferred and recognized in operations on a straight-line basis over the
same period as the related revenues.

We capitalize certain costs, including internal payroll and external direct project costs, incurred in connection with
developing or obtaining software designated for internal use. These costs are included in property and equipment and are
amortized over the estimated useful lives of the related software.

Construction-in-process is stated at cost, which includes the cost of construction and other direct costs attributable to the
construction. No provision for depreciation is made on construction-in-process until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and put into use. Construction-in-process at December 31, 2016 and 2015 primarily represents the costs of building,
machinery and equipment under installation.

Field equipment consists of equipment being utilized under disposable-based rental agreements as well as “service pool”
equipment. Service pool equipment is equipment owned and maintained by us that are swapped for equipment that need repairs
or maintenance by us while being rented or owned by a customer. We record a provision for any excess, lost or damaged
equipment when warranted based on an assessment of the equipment in the service pool. Write-downs for equipment are
included in distribution expenses.

The estimated useful lives of property and equipment and field equipment are as follows:

Estimated
Useful Life

Buildings 30 years
Equipment and tooling 5 to 12 years
Leasehold improvements Lesser of the lease term (including any renewal periods if

appropriate) or estimated useful life of the asset
Computer and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Molds 5 to 7 years
Furniture 5 to 7 years
Field equipment 5 to 7 years
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Intangibles and Other Long-Lived Assets

Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. For assets with determinable useful lives, amortization
is recognized using the straight-line method over the estimated economic lives of the respective intangible assets. Long-lived
assets, including intangible assets, are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or circumstances indicate that their carrying
value may not be recoverable.

In 2016 and 2015, events and circumstances have indicated that certain long-lived tangible assets in the Services segment
may not be recoverable. Therefore, a recoverability test, as required, was performed at the center level by comparing the
centers' estimated future undiscounted cash flows, within the initial lease term (which is the equivalent to the depreciable life of
the centers' most significant asset, its leasehold improvements), to the carrying value of the centers. As of December 31, 2016,
our estimate of future undiscounted net cash flows for the majority of our centers indicated such carrying amounts were
expected to be recovered. We recognized in cost of revenues an impairment charge of $0.5 million and $0.2 million in 2016 and
2015, respectively. During 2014, no impairment was recognized.

The evaluation of the impairment of long-lived assets, other than goodwill, is based on expectations of non-discounted
future cash flows compared to the carrying value of the long-lived asset groups. If the sum of the expected non-discounted
future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the long-lived assets, we would recognize an impairment loss if the
carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value. Our expected non-discounted future cash flows are based upon cash
flow projections and, if appropriate, include assumed proceeds upon sale of the asset group at the end of the cash flow period.
We believe our procedures for developing cash flow projections, including the estimated sales proceeds, are reasonable and
consistent with current market conditions for each of the dates when impairment testing has been performed.

As of December 31, 2016, our expected non-discounted future cash flows for the majority of our centers indicated no
impairment. Developing cash flow projections used in our impairment test requires significant estimates and judgment.
Among other things, slower than expected patient ramp or lower than expected reimbursement rates would negatively impact
our cash flow projections in the near term, which could result in the need to recognize an impairment for at least some portion
of these centers' assets in the future.

For certain of our centers, we recorded an impairment of $0.5 million in cost of revenues during the fourth quarter of 2016
to write-down the asset group’s carrying value to its fair value. Fair value of the asset group was estimated using a discounted
cash flow approach. Estimating fair value requires significant judgment in the selection of the valuation technique and
assumptions used in developing cash flow projections, growth rates and discount rates. Our assumptions are based on our best
estimates, using appropriate and customary market participant assumptions. Any adverse changes in certain valuation
assumptions or future cash flow projections could result in the need to record additional impairment to write down all or a
portion the centers’ remaining asset carrying value of $2.4 million at December 31, 2016.

Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less selling costs.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired business over the acquisition value of the related net assets at the
date of acquisition. We test goodwill at least annually for impairment, or more frequently when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the goodwill might be impaired. This impairment test is performed annually during the fourth
quarter. This test includes first a qualitative assessment and then, if necessary, a quantitative assessment to determine if the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. Our System One, In-center and Services reporting units contain
goodwill of $41.1 million, $0.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively. Factors considered in the qualitative assessment include,
but are not limited to, both macroeconomic conditions and entity-specific conditions. For the quantitative assessment the
reporting unit's fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow or other fair value measurement.

During 2016, 2015 and 2014 we utilized the qualitative assessment to assess the fair value of our System One and In-center
reporting units and concluded that it was more likely than not that the fair value of our reporting units was greater than their
carrying value.

During 2016, for our Services reporting unit, we utilized the quantitative assessment noting that the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, indicating that goodwill was not impaired. We estimated the fair value of our Services
reporting unit using a discounted cash flow approach. Estimating the fair value of our Services reporting unit requires
significant judgment in the selection of the valuation technique and assumptions used in cash flow projections, growth rates and
discount rates. Our assumptions are based on our best estimates, using appropriate and customary market participant
assumptions. Developing cash flow projections involves significant judgment with respect to patient ramp and reimbursement
rates, operating income, capital expenditures and changes in working capital. Reductions in our cash flow projections due to
slower than expected patient ramp or lower than expected reimbursement rates, among other things, or adverse changes in
certain valuation assumptions could result in a goodwill impairment charge of up to $1.0 million in the future.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense is estimated as of the grant date based on the fair value of the award. We use the Black-
Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options and quoted market prices of our common stock to
estimate fair value of restricted stock. The expected term is estimated based on the contractual term of each grant and takes
into account the historical experience and relevant factors concerning expected exercise and termination behavior of
participants. The risk free interest rate for each grant is equal to the U.S. Treasury rate in effect at the time of grant for
instruments with an expected life similar to the expected term. The stock volatility assumption is based solely on our historical
volatility over the expected term of the award. The dividend yield of zero is based upon the fact that we have not historically
granted cash dividends, and do not expect to issue dividends in the foreseeable future.

We recognize stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period, which equals the vesting period, net of
forfeitures. Forfeiture rates are estimated based on historical pre-vesting forfeiture history and are updated on a quarterly basis
to reflect actual forfeitures of unvested awards and other known events. For awards that vest based on employment, we
recognize the associated compensation expense on a straight-line basis. For performance based awards, we recognize expense
using the graded vesting methodology based on the number of shares expected to vest. Compensation expense associated with
these performance based awards is adjusted quarterly to reflect subsequent changes in the estimated outcome of performance-
related conditions until the date the results are determined.

Warranty Costs

We accrue estimated costs that we may incur under our product warranty programs at the time the product revenue is
recognized, based on contractual rights and historical experience. Warranty expense is included in cost of revenues in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. The following is a rollforward of our warranty accrual (in thousands):

Year Ended

Balance at
Beginning of

Year Provision Usage
Balance at End

of Year

December 31, 2016 $ 389 $ 457 $ (566) $ 280
December 31, 2015 $ 287 $ 526 $ (424) $ 389
December 31, 2014 $ 297 $ 441 $ (451) $ 287

Distribution Expenses

Distribution expenses are charged to operations as incurred and consist of costs incurred in shipping product to and from
customers and the cost of any equipment lost or damaged in the distribution process. Shipping and handling costs billed to
customers are included in revenues.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred.

Income Taxes

We record the tax effect of transactions when such transactions are recorded in our consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss. We record a deferred tax asset or liability based on the difference between the financial statement and tax
basis of assets and liabilities, as measured by the enacted tax rates. Our provision for income taxes represents the amount of
taxes currently payable, if any, plus the change in the amount of net deferred tax assets or liabilities. A valuation allowance is
provided against net deferred tax assets if recoverability is uncertain on a more likely than not basis.

We periodically assess our exposures related to our provisions for income taxes and accrue for contingencies that may
result in potential tax obligations. For those positions where it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will be sustained, we
record the largest amount of tax benefit with a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement
with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. For those income tax positions where it is not more
likely than not that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit is recognized in the financial statements. We recognize
interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.

We conduct business globally and file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various states and foreign
jurisdictions. We estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. We have accumulated significant
losses since our inception in 1998. The utilization of these losses may be limited in future years based on the profitability of
certain entities.

Subsequent Events
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Events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2016 have been evaluated for potential recognition or disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Implemented Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-5, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic
350-40): "Customer's Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement." Under this standard, if a cloud computing
arrangement includes a software license, the software license element of the arrangement should be accounted for consistent
with the acquisition of other software licenses. If a cloud computing arrangement does not include a software license, the
arrangement should be accounted for as a service contract. The update was effective for us beginning January 1, 2016. The
adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our financial statements.

In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805): "Simplifying the Accounting
for Measurement-Period Adjustments". The new standard requires that an acquirer recognize adjustments to provisional
amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are
determined and sets forth new disclosure requirements related to the adjustments. The new standard was effective for us
beginning January 1, 2016. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-9, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” The standard provides that
revenue should be recognized when an entity transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the standard
requires disclosure of the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flow arising from contracts with
customers. The FASB has issued several amendments and updates to the new revenue standard, including how an entity should
identify performance obligations. As amended, the new guidance is effective for us beginning January 1, 2018. The new
guidance allows for full retrospective adoption applied to all periods presented or a modified retrospective adoption with the
cumulative effect of initially applying the new guidance recognized at the date of initial application. In 2016, we commenced
our evaluation of the impact of the standard, by establishing a cross functional team and evaluating the anticipated impact on
significant contracts from each of our business segments. We are evaluating the potential impact and method of adoption of on
our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures and are comparing our current policies and practices to the
requirements of the standard. We have developed a project plan to develop processes and tools and to assess the internal
control structure in order to adopt the standard on January 1, 2018. We believe, at a minimum, that the standard will impact the
timing of revenue recognition for our Services segment as the standard eliminates cash basis revenue recognition and instead
requires revenues to be estimated and recognized upon transfer of the promised goods and services. We have periodically
briefed our Audit Committee on our progress made towards adoption. Based on our evaluation to date, we anticipate being able
to estimate the impacts of adopting the ASU in the second half of 2017.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330): "Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory." The
update requires that an entity should measure in scope inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion,
disposal, and transportation. The amendments will be effective for us beginning January 1, 2017. The adoption of this update is
not expected to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02: "Accounting for Leases" which amends the existing accounting
standards for leases. The new standard requires lessees to record a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability on the
balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than twelve months. For lessees, leases will continue to be classified as either
operating or financing in the income statement. This ASU is required to be applied with a modified retrospective approach and
requires application of the new standard at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. The new guidance is
effective for us beginning January 1, 2019 and early adoption is permitted. We intend to adopt this standard as of January 1,
2019. We are currently evaluating the potential impact this standard will have on our financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09: “Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting,”
which simplifies several aspects of the accounting for employee share-based payment transactions for both public and
nonpublic entities, including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures, and statutory tax withholding requirements, as well as
classification in the statement of cash flows. The new guidance is effective for us beginning January 1, 2017 and early adoption
is permitted. We intend to adopt this standard as of January 1, 2017. We have elected to continue to estimate forfeiture rates.
This new standard will impact our income tax footnote disclosures. Upon adoption the cumulative excess tax deductions related
to stock-based compensation that were previously unrecognized and instead tracked and disclosed separately, will be
recognized as a deferred tax asset with an offsetting valuation allowance. Other than this change in footnote disclosure, the
adoption will not have a material impact on our financial statements and related disclosure.
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In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01: "Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a
Business" which changes the definition of a business to assist entities with evaluating when a set of transferred assets and
activities is a business. The update is effective for us beginning January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted, including for
interim or annual periods in which the financial statements have not been issued or made available for issuance. The adoption
of this update is not expected to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04: "Intangibles - Goodwill and Other Topics (Topic 350): Simplifying
the Test for Goodwill Impairment". The purpose of this update is to reduce the cost and complexity of evaluating goodwill for
impairment. It eliminates the need for entities to calculate the impaired fair value of goodwill by assigning the fair value of a
reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities as if that reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination. Under this
update, an entity will perform its goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying
amount. An impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the reporting unit's fair value.
The update is effective for us beginning January 1, 2020. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill
impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. We anticipate early adopting the update in 2017 on a
prospective basis.
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3. Inventory

Inventory includes material, labor and overhead. The components of inventory are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2016 2015

Purchased components $ 14,967 $ 15,294
Work in process 13,939 10,080
Finished goods 17,939 13,017

$ 46,845 $ 38,391

4. Property and Equipment, Field Equipment and Deferred Cost of Revenues

Property and Equipment, net

The components of property and equipment, net are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2016 2015

Equipment and tooling $ 39,921 $ 38,084
Leasehold improvements 35,146 29,927
Computer and office equipment 10,035 9,632
Molds 6,805 6,580
Furniture 3,561 2,930
Building 8,057 8,122
Land 956 999
Construction-in-process 4,237 7,298

108,718 103,572
Less accumulated depreciation (47,157) (36,861)

Property and equipment, net $ 61,561 $ 66,711

Depreciation expense, including amortization of capital leases, for property and equipment was $11.6 million, $10.4
million and $7.1 million during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Capitalized computer development costs, net were $1.8
million and $2.7 million at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 respectively, and we recognized amortization expense
of $0.9 million during each of 2016, 2015 and 2014.

Our property and equipment includes the following amounts for assets subject to capital leases (amounts in thousands):



December 31,

2016 2015

Manufacturing facility in Germany $ 21,007 $ 21,762
Other assets subject to capital lease 3,024 $ 2,889
Less accumulated depreciation (6,402) (4,699)

Assets subject to capital leases, net $ 17,629 $ 19,952

Manufacturing Facility in Germany

Pursuant to our Dialyzer Production Agreement entered into in May 2009 with Asahi we agreed to oversee construction of
a new manufacturing facility in Germany which was completed in December 2012 and operate the facility and manufacture
dialyzers for our own use and for sale to Asahi under a manufacturing agreement during the initial term of the agreement
through June 2021 and thereafter, unless either party provides notice of its intent not to renew. Asahi funded construction costs
of the facility, including land, building and equipment. Given our involvement in the facility during construction and our
continued involvement in its operation we have recorded the cost of the new facility, including building and equipment, within
property and equipment, net on our consolidated balance sheet, as required, along with a corresponding liability which has been
divided into two separate components, namely a capital lease obligation and deferred revenue, based on their relative fair
values. The capital lease obligation is decreased by payments made to Asahi for dialyzers manufactured for our own use and
increased by interest expense. The deferred revenue is recognized in revenues on a straight-line basis over the expected term of
the Dialyzer Production Agreement.

During 2015, additional assets were placed into service at a total cost of $1.3 million. The corresponding liability was
divided into two separate components, including a capital lease obligation and deferred revenue, based on their relative fair
values of $0.7 million and $0.7 million, respectively.

The fair value of the capital lease obligation was determined based on the present value of the financing payments due plus
the residual value guarantee. The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of this liability included our incremental
borrowing rate, the fixed amount per dialyzer payment due to Asahi totaling fifty percent of the cost of the facility paid by
Asahi, and the estimated residual value of the facility assets at the end of the estimated lease term all of which we determined
to be Level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of the deferred revenue was determined using cost plus a reasonable margin for contract manufacturing in
Germany, Level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy.

The capital lease obligation and deferred revenue balances are $11.0 million and $6.2 million, respectively, at
December 31, 2016.

Field Equipment, net

The components of field equipment, net are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2016 2015

Field equipment $ 70,743 $ 64,796
Less accumulated depreciation (48,434) (44,052)

Field equipment, net $ 22,309 $ 20,744

Depreciation expense for field equipment, which is recorded in costs of revenues in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss, was $5.5 million, $5.0 million and $4.2 million during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Deferred Costs of Revenues

Amortization expense of direct costs relating to deferred equipment revenues was $13.3 million, $12.6 million and $13.5
million during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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5. Intangible Assets

The components of intangible assets, net are as follows (in thousands):



December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 Estimated

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Useful
Life

Bloodline, needle and other patented and unpatented
technology $ 6,200 $ (6,200) $ 6,200 $ (6,200) 8 years
Trade names 2,300 (1,520) 2,300 (1,355) 14 years
Customer relationships 26,138 (17,230) 26,166 (15,367) 10/14 years

Intangible assets, net $ 34,638 $ (24,950) $ 34,666 $ (22,922)

We recognized amortization expense of $2.0 million, $2.6 million and $2.8 million during 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.

The estimated future aggregated amortization expense for intangible assets as of December 31, 2016 is as follows (in
thousands):

2017 $ 2,035
2018 2,035
2019 2,035
2020 2,035
2021 1,548

$ 9,688
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6. Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing loss attributable to NxStage Medical, Inc. common stockholders (the
numerator) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding (the denominator) for the period. The computation
of diluted loss per share is similar to basic loss per share, except that the denominator is increased to include the number of
additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the potentially dilutive common shares had been issued.

The following potential common stock equivalents, as calculated using the treasury stock method, were not included in the
computation of diluted net loss per share as their effect would have been anti-dilutive due to the net loss incurred (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

Options to purchase common stock 785 732 876
Unvested restricted stock 361 350 236

Total 1,146 1,082 1,112

7. Accrued Expenses, Other Current Liabilities, and Other Long Term Liabilities

The components of accrued expenses are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2016 2015

Payroll, compensation and related benefits $ 14,086 $ 14,061
Distribution expenses 4,804 3,465
General and administrative expenses 4,415 2,309
Other 7,680 7,431

Total $ 30,985 $ 27,266

The components of other current liabilities are as follows (in thousands):



December 31,
2016 2015

Deferred revenue, current portion $ 1,035 $ 1,363
Capital lease obligations 1,840 2,184
Other 895 847

Total $ 3,770 $ 4,394

The components of other long term liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2016 2015

Capital lease obligations $ 9,991 $ 10,815
Lease incentive obligations 3,059 3,743
Benefit plan obligations 1,678 1,681
Other 840 1,128

Total $ 15,568 $ 17,367
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8. Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

Revolving Line of Credit

We have a revolving line of credit, currently with Capital One Financial Corporation and SVB, that allows for borrowings
up to $35 million. Availability of credit is subject to a borrowing base that is calculated with reference to certain of our
accounts receivable, inventory and equipment, and adjustments to such borrowing base are at the discretion of the lenders. The
revolving line of credit is secured by substantially all of our assets and expires in June 2019. Borrowings bear interest at an
annual rate equal to (1) a LIBOR rate plus 2.5% or (2) a base rate plus 1.5%, where the base rate is the highest of (a) the Prime
Rate, (b) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5% and (c) a LIBOR rate plus 1%, at our election. The revolving credit facility requires
us to comply with certain covenants while borrowings are outstanding and contains events of default customary for a
transaction of this type.

Other Debt

We have several smaller loans with original principal amounts totaling $2.4 million with annual interest rates of
approximately 2.0% to 6.0%, payable over a period of five to ten years secured by certain assets.

Capital Lease Obligations

Our capital lease obligations consist of certain property and equipment financed through capital leases and our capital lease
obligation due to Asahi related to the manufacturing facility in Germany. Approximate future minimum payments under our
capital leases as of December 31, 2016 are as follows (in thousands):

2017 $ 1,872
2018 1,688
2019 1,606
2020 1,517
2021 1,027
Thereafter (1) 6,670

Total minimum lease payments 14,380
Less: Amount representing interest (2,549)

Present value of future minimum lease payments $ 11,831

_________________________________

(1) Amount includes $5.9 million representing the estimated residual value of the manufacturing facility in Germany at the end of the
estimated lease term, which only becomes due and payable at Asahi's option if we terminate our agreement with Asahi.

9. Business Segment and Geographic Information



We have three reportable business segments: System One, In-Center, and Services. The operating results of NxStage
Kidney Care are included in our Services segment. We refer to our System One segment, In-Center segment, and Other
category as our products business.

Our System One segment includes revenues from the sale and rental of the System One and PureFlow SL dialysate
preparation equipment and the sale of disposable products to customers in the home market, including through our NxStage
Kidney Care dialysis centers, and critical care market. The home market is devoted to the treatment of ESRD patients in the
home or a home-like setting, while the critical care market is devoted to the treatment of hospital-based patients with acute
kidney failure or fluid overload. Some of our largest customers in the home market provide outsourced renal dialysis services to
some of our customers in the critical care market. Sales of product to both markets are made primarily through dedicated sales
forces and distributed directly to the customer, or the patient, with certain products sold through distributors.

Our In-Center segment includes revenues from the sale of blood tubing sets and needles for hemodialysis primarily for the
treatment of ESRD patients at dialysis centers and needles for apheresis. Nearly all In-Center products are sold through national
distributors.

The remainder of our products business, which is included within the Other category, relates to the manufacturing of
dialyzers for sale to Asahi Kasei Kuraray Medical Co., Ltd. (Asahi) and research and development and general and
administrative expenses that are excluded from the segment operating performance measures.

Our Services segment includes revenues from dialysis services provided to patients at our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis
centers. Sales of the System One and related products to our NxStage Kidney Care dialysis centers are included in System One
segment revenues, which are then eliminated upon consolidation.

The accounting policies of our reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies. Our chief operating decision maker allocates resources to our business segments and assesses segment
performance based on segment profit (loss), which consists of revenues less cost of revenues, selling and marketing and
distribution expenses.

The following summarizes the operating performance of our reportable segments (in thousands):

System One In-Center Other Services
Intersegment
Elimination Total

Year Ended December 31, 2016
Revenues from external customers $ 276,393 $ 63,038 $ 12,166 $ 14,781 $ — $ 366,378
Intersegment Revenues 7,530 — — — (7,530) —

Revenues 283,923 63,038 12,166 14,781 (7,530) 366,378
Segment profit (loss) 74,912 10,092 (62,309) (26,233) (747) (4,285)
Depreciation and amortization 23,671 2,003 4,427 4,781 (2,245) 32,637
Segment assets 135,038 21,246 138,273 23,620 (970) 317,207

Year Ended December 31, 2015
Revenues from external customers $ 244,641 $ 74,768 $ 10,302 $ 6,412 $ — $ 336,123
Intersegment Revenues 3,134 — — — (3,134) —

Revenues 247,775 74,768 10,302 6,412 (3,134) 336,123
Segment profit (loss) 59,748 12,395 (62,946) (23,826) — (14,629)
Depreciation and amortization 20,554 1,835 5,004 3,322 — 30,715
Segment assets 120,253 24,232 142,842 19,547 — 306,874

Year Ended December 31, 2014
Revenues from external customers $ 212,585 $ 78,885 $ 8,282 $ 1,749 $ — $ 301,501
Intersegment Revenues 846 — — — (846) —

Revenues 213,431 78,885 8,282 1,749 (846) 301,501
Segment profit (loss) 36,802 12,815 (56,878) (14,926) — (22,187)
Depreciation and amortization 20,205 1,608 4,829 1,055 — 27,697
Segment assets 127,212 29,613 136,041 16,860 — 309,726

The following table presents a reconciliation of the total segment assets to total assets (in thousands):
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December 31,
2016 2015

Total segment assets $ 179,904 $ 164,032
Intersegment elimination (970) —
Corporate assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 59,632 59,065
Accounts Receivable, net 632 846
Property and equipment, net 16,600 19,232
Intangible assets, net 9,688 11,744
Goodwill 42,648 42,710
Prepaid and other assets 9,073 9,245

Total assets $ 317,207 $ 306,874

Long-lived tangible assets consist of property and equipment, net and field equipment, net. The following table presents
total long-lived tangible assets by geographic area (in thousands):

December 31,
2016 2015 2014

United States $ 46,724 $ 46,551 $ 45,501
Mexico 13,431 14,233 12,689
Other Americas 571 825 482

Total Americas 60,726 61,609 58,672
Germany 17,574 19,053 21,246
Other Europe 5,754 6,793 7,774

Total Europe 23,328 25,846 29,020
Total $ 84,054 $ 87,455 $ 87,692

Substantially all of our revenues are derived from the sale of the System One and related products, which cannot be used
with any other dialysis system, and from needles and blood tubing sets in the U.S.

The following table summarizes the number of customers who individually make up greater than ten percent of total
revenues:

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

DaVita 20% 20% 21%
Fresenius 18% 17% 16%

Sales to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. (DaVita) and Fresenius Medical Care (Fresenius) are in the System One segment.
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10. Commitments and Contingencies

Minimum Purchase Commitments

We have agreements with certain of our suppliers, primarily for the purchase of fluids for our System One segment and
needles for our In-Center segment, that include minimum purchase commitments. As of December 31, 2016, we had a total of
$28.9 million in minimum purchase commitments under these agreements, $9.8 million over the next year, $18.2 million over
the next one to two years and $0.9 million over the next four to five years.

Operating Leases

Our operating leases relate to our corporate headquarters and NxStage Kidney Care facilities, as well as our foreign leased
manufacturing facilities in Mexico, Germany and Italy.

Our corporate headquarters lease has an initial term of eleven years through mid-2023 with an early termination provision
after seven years, subject to certain terms and conditions, with two 5-year options to extend beyond the initial term on



substantially the same terms and at rent equal to ninety-five percent of the then fair market value. The lease included a tenant
improvement allowance of $4.3 million.

Our NxStage Kidney Care facility lease agreements have initial lease terms expiring from 2018 to 2026, and contain
renewal options ranging from five to ten years at the fair rental value at the time of renewal. The leases are generally subject to
periodic consumer price index increases or contain fixed escalation clauses and include tenant improvement allowances ranging
from $0.1 million to $0.3 million per facility.

Our foreign leased manufacturing facilities are subject to lease agreements with termination dates through December 2017
to 2021 and contain renewal options at the fair rental value at the time of renewal.

Our lease agreements contain certain provisions that require us to pay executor costs such as real estate taxes, operating
expenses and common utilities. Rent expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Tenant improvement
allowances are recorded as a deferred rent obligation and amortized to rent expense over the term of the lease.

Rent expense under our operating leases was $5.0 million, $4.5 million and $3.8 million during 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.

The future minimum rental payments as of December 31, 2016 under our operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

2017 $ 4,995
2018 5,115
2019 4,287
2020 3,710
2021 3,095
Thereafter 3,390

$ 24,592

Legal Contingencies

From time to time, during the ordinary course of operations, we are party to litigation and arbitration and are subject to
investigations relating to various aspects of our business. We regularly analyze current information about such claims for
probable losses and provide accruals for such matters, including the estimated legal expenses and consulting services in
connection with these matters, as appropriate. We utilize our internal legal department as well as external resources for these
assessments. In making the decision regarding the need for loss accrual, we consider the degree of probability of an
unfavorable outcome and our ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss.

In management's opinion, we are not currently involved in any legal proceedings which, individually or in the aggregate,
are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
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11. Income Taxes

The following is a summary of income (loss) before income taxes by geography (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

U.S. $ (9,265) $ (17,672) $ (24,315)
Foreign 3,050 2,489 1,255

Total $ (6,215) $ (15,183) $ (23,060)

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):



Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

Current:
U.S. - State $ 73 $ 86 $ 57
Foreign 1,200 1,225 1,278

Total Current 1,273 1,311 1,335
Deferred:

Foreign (171) (234) (82)
Total Deferred (171) (234) (82)

Total Provision $ 1,102 $ 1,077 $ 1,253

We recorded income tax expense during 2016, 2015 and 2014 for certain profitable foreign subsidiaries.

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

Federal statutory rate 34.0 % 34.0 % 34.0 %
Stock compensation (1.5)% (2.5)% 2.0 %
State income tax, net of federal tax benefit (2.3)% (2.8)% 1.9 %
U.S. research credits 18.9 % (0.3)% 4.1 %
Foreign income inclusion in the U.S. (10.4)% (5.0)% (2.8)%
Valuation allowance (47.4)% (25.8)% (39.7)%
Change in tax reserves (0.5)% (0.5)% — %
Minority Interest (15.9)% (0.9)% (0.5)%
Other, net 7.4 % (3.3)% (4.4)%

Effective tax rate (17.7)% (7.1)% (5.4)%

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflect the tax effects of differences in the recognition of income and expense
items for tax and financial reporting purposes. During our fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 we began presenting all
deferred tax assets and liabilities as noncurrent on our Consolidated Balance Sheets prospectively. Deferred tax assets
(liabilities) are made up of the following (in thousands):
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December 31,
2016 2015

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 115,151 $ 115,851
Tax credits 11,180 10,052
Stock-based compensation 7,339 6,684
Capitalized research and development 2,167 2,598
Financing liabilities 5,161 6,217
Other 8,349 7,625

Total deferred tax assets 149,347 149,027
Deferred tax liabilities:

Fixed assets (5,754) (7,442)
Intangible assets (3,606) (4,282)
Other (187) (524)

Total deferred tax liabilities (9,547) (12,248)

Net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 139,800 136,779
Less valuation allowance (138,795) (135,817)

Net deferred tax assets $ 1,005 $ 962

As of December 31, 2016, we had U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $371 million
and $177 million, respectively, available to offset future taxable income. A portion of the federal net operating loss, $52.9
million, and state net operating losses, $34.7 million, is attributable to excess tax deductions related to stock-based
compensation. We will record the benefit of these excess tax deductions beginning with the year-ended December 31, 2017,
offset by a full valuation allowance, in accordance with ASU No. 2016-09: “Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment
Accounting”. The federal and state net operating loss carryforwards will expire between 2017 and 2036 if not utilized. We also
had federal and state research and development credit carryforwards of $7.8 million and $2.3 million ($3.4 million gross),
respectively, which begin to expire in 2020 if not utilized. We also had foreign tax credits of approximately $1.0 million that
will expire between 2018 and 2021 if not utilized. All years remain open for examination by the United States Internal Revenue
Service ("IRS") due to the losses incurred and years 2011 through 2016 remain open for examination in the various states and
non-US tax jurisdictions in which we files tax returns.

During 2016, the deferred tax valuation allowance increased by approximately $3.0 million, primarily as the result of
increases to federal and state tax credits and changes to deferred temporary tax differences. A full valuation allowance has been
recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements to offset our U.S. and specific foreign deferred tax assets
because the future realizability of such assets is uncertain. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets we consider,
among other things, the expected reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable income. Valuation allowances
are reversed only when we have adequate history of taxable income and projections for future taxable income. We believe that
the future realization of these assets is not more likely than not given the expected future tax losses in these jurisdictions.

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards are subject to review
and possible adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service and state tax authorities. Net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards may become subject to an annual limitation in the event of certain cumulative changes in the ownership interest
of significant shareholders over a three-year period in excess of 50 percent, as defined under Sections 382 and 383 of the
Internal Revenue Code, respectively, as well as similar state provisions. This could limit the amount of tax attributes that can be
utilized annually to offset future taxable income or tax liabilities. The amount of the annual limitation is determined based on
the value of the Company immediately prior to the ownership change. Subsequent ownership changes may further affect the
limitation in future years. The Company has completed several financings since its inception which it believes has resulted in a
change in control as defined by Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code. We believe $1.5 million of our net
operating losses will expire unused due to limitations.

For applicable years, the Company generated research credits but has not conducted a study to document its qualified
activities. This study may result in an adjustment to the Company’s research and development credit carryforwards; however,
until a study is completed and any adjustment is known, no amounts are being presented as an uncertain tax position. A full
valuation allowance has been provided against the Company’s research and development credits and, if an adjustment is
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required, this adjustment would be offset by an adjustment to the deferred tax asset established for the research and
development credit carry-forwards and the valuation allowance.

The below table details the changes in unrecognized tax benefits, which if recognized would favorably impact our effective
tax rate (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

Balance at beginning of the year $ 379 $ 347 $ 411
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax positions taken
during the current year 89 66 88
Increase (decrease) in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax
positions taken during a prior year 115 (34) (110)
Reductions due to lapse of applicable statute of limitations (66) — —
Reductions due to audit settlement — — (42)

Balance at end of year $ 517 $ 379 $ 347

As of December 31, 2016 we had a liability for unrecognized tax benefits included in the balance sheet of approximately
$0.5 million, all of which would impact our effective tax rate if recognized. We had less than $0.1 million accrued as of
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 for interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits.

We monitor the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries and, as necessary, provide for income taxes on those earnings
that are not deemed permanently invested. As of December 31, 2016, there were no significant undistributed earnings of
foreign subsidiaries that were deemed permanently invested.
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12. Stock Plans and Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Incentive Plans

We maintain the 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2014 Plan) that governs awards to both employees and non-employees.
The 2014 Plan replaced and superseded our 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (2005 Plan) except that awards granted under the 2005
Plan remain in effect pursuant to their original terms. While the 2014 Plan authorizes a variety of equity-based and cash
awards, we generally offer equity incentives under the 2014 Plan in the form of restricted stock units, stock options and
performance shares. Restricted stock units customarily vest over a period of three or four years. Stock options expire ten years
from the date of grant and customarily vest over a period of four years for employees and one year for members of our Board
of Directors. Performance shares are issued to certain employees and executive officers and entitle recipients to earn restricted
stock units based on the achievement of annual corporate financial performance metrics; any earned restricted stock units
customarily vest over a period of three years. We settle stock option exercises and the vesting of restricted stock units with
newly issued common shares. Pursuant to the 2014 Plan, each share award other than options or stock appreciation rights will
reduce the number of total shares available for grant by 1.62 shares. A total of 5.6 million shares, together with any unissued
shares that may carry over from the 2005 Plan, have been authorized for grant under the 2014 Plan and at December 31, 2016,
2.0 million shares remained available for future grant.

We also maintain the 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (2005 Purchase Plan), which authorizes the issuance of up to
0.9 million shares of common stock to participating employees through a series of periodic offerings. Each six-month offering
period begins in January and July. An employee becomes eligible to participate in the 2005 Purchase Plan once he or she has
been employed for at least three months and is regularly employed for at least 20 hours per week for more than three months in
a calendar year. The price at which employees can purchase common stock in an offering is 95 percent of the closing price of
our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on the lower of the first or last day of the offering period, unless
otherwise determined by the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee of the Board. As of December 31, 2016, 0.2
million shares were available for future issuance under the 2005 Purchase Plan.

Stock Options

A summary of the status of stock options granted under all of our plans at December 31, 2016, and changes during the year
then ended, is as follows:



Stock Options Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Aggregate

Intrinsic Value

Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(In thousands) (In years)

Outstanding at beginning of year 4,084,256 $ 14.29
Granted 1,334,351 $ 15.94
Exercised (658,444) $ 12.50
Forfeited or expired (103,758) $ 14.02

Outstanding at end of year 4,656,405 $ 15.02 $ 52,094 6.71
Fully vested and exercisable 2,818,091 $ 14.54 $ 32,896 5.58
Fully vested, exercisable and expected to vest 4,511,178 $ 15.00 $ 50,577 6.66

The aggregate intrinsic value for stock options is calculated based on the market price of our common stock as of
December 31, 2016, less the exercise price of the underlying awards, excluding out-of-the-money awards. The total fair value
of options that vested during 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $6.1 million, $4.8 million and $4.9 million, respectively. The aggregate
intrinsic value of options exercised during 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $5.6 million, $10.4 million and $9.2 million, respectively.
The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised is calculated based on the market price of our common stock on the exercise
date, less the exercise price of underlying award.

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $5.89, $6.16 and $5.80 per option,
respectively. The fair value of options at date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the
following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

Expected life (in years) 5.00 to 9.92 4.80 to 10.00 4.40 to 5.00
Risk-free interest rate 1.20% to 2.45% 1.34% to 2.27% 1.56% to 1.69%
Expected stock price volatility 38% to 43.05% 38% to 42.52% 43% to 45%
Expected dividend yield — — —

Restricted Stock

The total fair value of restricted stock that vested was $5.1 million, $5.5 million and $3.2 million during 2016, 2015 and
2014, respectively. The weighted-average fair value of restricted stock granted during 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $16.33,
$16.71 and $14.35 per unit, respectively. The following table summarizes the status of the unvested restricted stock:

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant-date
Fair Value

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(In thousands) (In years)

Unvested at December 31, 2015 1,251,079 $ 15.02
Granted 668,846 $ 16.33
Vested (357,461) $ 14.22
Forfeited (418,664) $ 16.28

Unvested at December 31, 2016 1,143,800 $ 15.57 $ 29,979 1.88

The aggregate intrinsic value for restricted stock is calculated based on the market price of our common stock as of
December 31, 2016.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The weighted-average fair value of stock purchase rights granted as part of the 2005 Purchase Plan during 2016, 2015 and
2014 was $4.07, $1.74 and $1.46 per share, respectively. The fair value of the employees' stock purchase rights was estimated
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions:
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Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

Expected life (in months) 6 6 6
Risk-free interest rate 0.37% to 0.49% 0.11% to 0.13% 0.07% to 0.10%
Expected stock price volatility 39.6% to 48.2% 18.4% to 22.4% 26.3% to 27.4%
Expected dividend yield — — —

There were 37,531, 50,343 and 70,899 shares issued under the 2005 Purchase Plan during 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively, which resulted in share-based compensation expense of $0.2 million in 2016 and $0.1 million in each of 2015 and
2014.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The following table presents stock-based compensation expense included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
loss (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

Cost of revenues $ 1,371 $ 1,068 $ 1,212
Selling and marketing 3,304 4,458 4,442
Research and development 1,536 1,979 1,726
General and administrative 3,906 5,093 5,501

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 10,117 $ 12,598 $ 12,881

As of December 31, 2016, approximately $16.7 million of unrecognized stock compensation cost related to nonvested
stock options and restricted stock (net of estimated forfeitures) is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
2.6 years.
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13. Employee Benefit Plans

401(k) Retirement Plan

We have a 401(k) retirement plan (401(k) Plan) for the benefit of eligible employees, as defined. Each participant may
elect to contribute up to 75% of his or her compensation to the 401(k) Plan each year, subject to certain IRS limitations. We
contribute 100% of the first 3% of the employee's contribution and 50% of the next 2% of the employee's contribution. We
contributed $2.5 million, $1.8 million and $1.7 million to the 401(k) Plan during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Other Compensation Plans

We maintain postemployment benefit plans for employees in certain foreign subsidiaries. These unfunded plans provide
lump sum benefits, payable based on statutory regulations for voluntary or involuntary termination. We have recorded a
liability of $1.7 million, as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, as other long-term liabilities for costs
associated with these plans. The expense recorded in connection with these plans was not significant during 2016, 2015 and
2014.

14. Stockholders' Equity

We received 114,301, 49,786 and 196,378 shares of common stock that were surrendered in payment for the exercise of
stock options during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

15. Business Combination

During 2015, as part of our NxStage Kidney Care market development activities, we acquired a fifty-one percent
controlling interest in a privately held dialysis clinic that offers home hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis services for $0.6
million in cash, paid in 2016.

16. Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests represent the third-party equity ownership interests in consolidated entities for which we have
effective control, including variable interest entities (VIE) for which we are deemed the primary beneficiary.

We assess the terms of our investment interests to determine if any of our investees meet the definition of a VIE. For any
VIEs, we perform an analysis to determine whether our variable interests give us a controlling financial interest in a VIE. The
analysis identifies the primary beneficiary of a VIE as the enterprise that has both 1) the power to direct activities of a VIE that



most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and 2) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to
receive benefits from the entity.

As of December 31, 2016, we have 7 VIEs included in our consolidated financial statements all of which are NxStage
Kidney Care dialysis centers. We are the managing member or we have a majority seat on the entity’s board of managers,
manage these entities through a management services agreement, and provide operating and capital funding as necessary for
the entities to accomplish their operational and strategic objectives which transfer substantial power over and economic
responsibility for the entities to us.

The analysis upon which these consolidation determinations rest are complex, involve uncertainties, and require significant
judgment on various matters. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, total assets of our VIEs were $8.0 million and $11.0 million,
and total liabilities and noncontrolling interests of our VIEs were $7.2 million and $10.2 million, respectively.

We have potential obligations to purchase the noncontrolling interests held by third parties in certain of our consolidated
subsidiaries. These obligations are in the form of put provisions and are exercisable at the third-party owners' discretion given
specific facts and circumstances as outlined in each specific put provision. If these put provisions were exercised, we would be
required to purchase all the third-party owners' noncontrolling interests at a fair value at the time of exercise pursuant to the
terms of the agreement. At December 31, 2016 the Company's noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions were less than
$0.1 million and none of the rights were exercisable.

The following table sets forth the changes in noncontrolling interest not subject to put provisions for the periods indicated
(in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,694 $ 1,088 $ 525
Capital contributions by noncontrolling interest 630 1,316 930
Sales of noncontrolling interests 679 208 —
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest in consolidated subsidiary (2,378) (918) (367)

Balance at end of period $ 625 $ 1,694 $ 1,088

17. Derivative Instruments and Hedging

We operate manufacturing and service facilities in Mexico, Germany, and Italy and we purchase materials and pay our
employees at those facilities in pesos and euros, and as such, we are potentially exposed to adverse as well as beneficial
movements in currency exchange rates. We enter into foreign exchange forward contracts to minimize the impact of currency
exchange rate fluctuations on these peso and euro denominated expenses. These contracts have a duration of up to twelve
months and are designated as cash flow hedges. The counterparties to these foreign exchange forward contracts are
creditworthy financial institutions; therefore, we do not consider the risk of counterparty nonperformance to be material. The
notional amount of our outstanding contracts that are designated as cash flow hedges was $18.6 million and $22.1 million at
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. The fair value of these contracts is recorded on the balance sheet
within prepaid expenses and other current assets or accrued expenses depending on the gain (loss) position. The fair value of
these contracts was a liability of $1.8 million and $1.1 million at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. The
cash flows related to our currency exchange contracts are classified as operating cash flows, which is consistent with the cash
flow treatment of the underlying items being hedged.

Gains or losses related to hedge ineffectiveness recognized in earnings were not material during 2016, 2015 or 2014.
Given the short-term nature of our contracts, any gains or losses recorded within accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) will be recognized in earnings within the next twelve months.



The following table presents the effect of these contracts designated as cash flow hedges on our consolidated financial
statements (in thousands):

Gain (Loss)
Recognized in OCI
(Effective Portion)

Gain (Loss)
Reclassified from
OCI into Income

(Effective Portion)

Classification within the
Condensed Consolidated

Statement of
Comprehensive Loss

Year Ended December 31, 2016
Foreign exchange forward contracts $ (2,712) $ (1,910) Cost of revenues

Year Ended December 31, 2015
Foreign exchange forward contracts $ (2,140) $ (1,745) Cost of revenues

Year Ended December 31, 2014
Foreign exchange forward contracts $ (1,223) $ (258) Cost of revenues

86

18. Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income

The following additional information is provided with respect to the accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income as
presented on the condensed consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):

Unrealized gain (loss)
on derivative
instruments Other (2) Total

Balance, net of tax, as of December 31, 2013 $ (123) $ 335 $ 212
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications (1,223) (1,439) (2,662)
Loss reclassified to earnings (1) 258 — 258

Total other comprehensive income (loss) (965) (1,439) (2,404)
Balance, net of tax, as of December 31, 2014 $ (1,088) $ (1,104) $ (2,192)

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications (2,140) (1,444) (3,584)
Gain reclassified to earnings (1) 1,745 — 1,745

Total other comprehensive income (loss) (395) (1,444) (1,839)
Balance, net of tax, as of December 31, 2015 $ (1,483) $ (2,548) $ (4,031)

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications (2,712) (1,268) (3,980)
Gain/Loss reclassified to earnings (1) 1,910 — 1,910

Total other comprehensive income (loss) (802) (1,268) (2,070)
Balance, net of tax, as of December 31, 2016 $ (2,285) $ (3,816) $ (6,101)

(1) Reclassifications of gains (losses) on derivative instruments are included in cost of revenues on the consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss. See Note 17, Derivative Instruments and Hedging for further information.

(2) Other includes cumulative translation adjustments and, to a lesser extent, pension benefits.

19. Fair Value Measurements

We measure the fair value of our foreign exchange forward contracts classified as derivative instruments using an income
approach, based on prevailing market forward rates less the contract rate multiplied by the notional amount. The product of this
calculation is then adjusted for counterparty risk.

We did not have any transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 and Level 3 during the twelve months ended December 31,
2016.

The following tables present assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and their level within the
value hierarchy (in thousands):



December 31, 2016

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3) Total Fair Value

Assets
Money market funds (1) $ 34,804 $ — $ — $ 34,804

Liabilities
Foreign exchange forward contracts (2) $ — $ 1,771 $ — $ 1,771

December 31, 2015

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3) Total Fair Value

Assets
Money market funds (1) $ 34,776 $ — $ — $ 34,776
Foreign exchange forward contracts (2) — 51 — 51

Liabilities
Foreign exchange forward contracts (2) $ — $ 1,192 $ — $ 1,192

(1) Money market funds are included within cash and cash equivalents.
(2) Foreign exchange forward contracts are included within prepaid expenses and other current assets or accrued expenses depending on the

gain (loss) position.

The carrying amount of our long-term debt approximates fair value at December 31, 2016. The fair value of our long-term
debt was estimated using inputs derived principally from market observable data, including current rates offered to us for debt
of the same or similar remaining maturities. Within the hierarchy of fair value measurements, these are Level 2 inputs.

The carrying amounts reflected in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents (including money market
funds), accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current and non-current assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses
approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.
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20. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following additional information is provided with respect to the consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014

Supplemental Disclosures:
Cash paid for interest $ 639 $ 703 $ 671
Cash paid for taxes 983 919 903

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:
Transfers from inventory to field equipment $ 20,920 $ 16,675 $ 25,370
Transfers from field equipment to deferred cost of revenues 13,400 11,638 13,110
Payment of corporate bonus plan in common stock — 1,103 —
Market value of shares received in payment for exercise of stock options 2,320 875 3,026
Construction-in-process financed by construction liability 187 1,332 4,898
Property and equipment acquired under capital lease 127 354 76
Acquisition of business — 513 —
Increase in deferred revenues related to the new manufacturing facility in Germany — 663 3,608
Capital contributions by noncontrolling interest 54 325 —

21. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth selected quarterly information (unaudited) (in thousands, except per share data):



Three Months Ended
March 31,

2016
June 30,

2016
September 30,

2016
December 31,

2016

Revenues $ 89,207 $ 92,207 $ 91,951 $ 93,013
Gross profit 36,517 38,423 39,181 37,864
Loss from operations (975) (1,180) 24 (2,154)
Net loss (1,783) (2,225) (890) (2,419)
Net loss attributable to stockholders of NxStage Medical, Inc. (1,276) (1,732) (166) (1,597)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.02) $ (0.03) $ (0.00) $ (0.02)

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2015
June 30,

2015
September 30,

2015
December 31,

2015

Revenues $ 79,482 $ 80,316 $ 86,521 $ 89,804
Gross profit 30,126 30,864 34,718 35,763
Loss from operations (5,579) (5,116) (1,635) (2,299)
Net loss (5,863) (5,594) (2,002) (2,801)
Net loss attributable to stockholders of NxStage Medical, Inc. (5,658) (5,327) (1,687) (2,670)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.09) $ (0.08) $ (0.03) $ (0.04)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2016. The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act,
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within
the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls
and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company's management, including its principal executive and
principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management recognizes
that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of
achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2016,
our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective to achieve their stated purpose.

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act) occurred during the three months ended December 31, 2016 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We, as management of NxStage Medical, Inc., are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's principal executive and principal
financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors, management and
other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and
procedures that:

• Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets;

• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and



• Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management has evaluated the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based
on the control criteria established in a report entitled Internal Control - Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework).

Based on such evaluation, we have concluded that NxStage's internal control over financial reporting is effective as of
December 31, 2016.

The independent registered public accounting firm of Ernst & Young LLP, as auditors of NxStage's consolidated financial
statements, has issued an attestation report on its assessment of NxStage's internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of NxStage Medical, Inc.

We have audited NxStage Medical, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on
criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) (the COSO criteria). NxStage Medical, Inc.'s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, NxStage Medical, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of NxStage Medical, Inc. as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2016 of NxStage Medical, Inc., and our report dated February 28, 2017 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
February 28, 2017
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

We have included information about our executive officers in Part I of this Annual Report under the caption “Executive
Officers”. Certain documents relating to our corporate governance, including our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which
is applicable to our directors, officers and employees, and the charters of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of our Board of Directors, are available on our website at
www.nxstage.com. We intend to make all required disclosures regarding any amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of
our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics on our website. We include our website address in this Annual Report only as an
inactive textual reference and do not intend it to be an active link to our website.

The response to the remainder of this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the
sections entitled “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” and “Other Matters - Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” contained in the proxy statement for our 2017 annual meeting of stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the sections entitled
“Information About Executive and Director Compensation” and “Corporate Governance” contained in the proxy statement for
our 2017 annual meeting of stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the sections entitled “Stock
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Information About Executive and Director Compensation”
contained in the proxy statement for our 2017 annual meeting of stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the sections entitled
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Corporate Governance” contained in the proxy statement for our 2017
annual meeting of stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the section entitled
“Corporate Governance” contained in the proxy statement for our 2017 annual meeting of stockholders.



PART IV
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report under “Item 8 — Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data”:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 60
Consolidated Balance Sheets 61
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 62
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 63
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 65
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 66

(b) Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits are incorporated herein by reference and are
filed as part of this Annual Report.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

None. No financial statement schedules have been filed as part of this Annual Report because they are either not
applicable or the required information has been included in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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As a leading medical technology company, NxStage has been innovating 

improvements in renal care for a little more than a decade.  Our greatest 

successes come from our belief that we can create a therapy paradigm 

that provides dialysis patients with better clinical results and the freedom to 

live their lives on their own terms.  Consistent with this vision, the NxStage® 

System One™ has provided life-changing therapy to over 30 thousand 

patients in their homes around the world. We continue to make significant 

and exciting progress.

EACH YEAR, OUR COMPANY HAS 
BEEN GETTING STRONGER.
 

2016 was a great year for NxStage. We achieved our financial objectives, 

advanced our innovative pipeline, and continued to execute on our 

strategic goals. Our focus on innovation and execution is delivering results 

and setting the foundation for our next wave of growth.  Most importantly, 

we believe we are having a positive impact on patients’ lives. 

Our 2016 Performance

We delivered $366 million in revenue for 2016 and cut our net loss by 

over two-thirds when compared with the prior year. We also had our ninth 

straight quarter of operating profitability in our Products Business, more 

than doubling it year over year.  Beyond the numbers, our team has been 

working hard to expand adoption of our home therapy within the United 

States and internationally, advance our innovative product pipeline, and 

deliver new customer wins within our Critical Care market.  

Over the past year, we also saw a significant publication from the American 

Journal of Kidney Disease highlighting the compelling clinical data in 

support of more frequent hemodialysis, a meaningful improvement in 

training reimbursement from the Centers of Medicare & Medicaid Services, 

continued progress with our patient marketing activities, and growing 

adoption of our Nx2me Connected Health® solution. In addition, we 

continue to build a presence within the skilled nursing market, where the 

System One provides on-site dialysis, eliminating the burden of travel to 

and from a dialysis clinic for these patients.  

SETTING THE FOUNDATION FOR 
OUR NEXT WAVE OF GROWTH.
Our Innovative Pipeline

For over a decade, NxStage has been changing the way people think about 

dialysis.  We are proud that our current portfolio of products includes many 

of the industry’s ‘firsts’ in terms of technology and clearances that are 

having a wonderful impact on patients’ lives and transforming renal care. 

We are committed to continuing this rich history of innovation with three 

major system introductions that are uniquely designed to improve ease 

of use, reduce burden of therapy, improve clinical flexibility and improve 

the economics of our therapy. With continued execution, we believe these 

innovations can take us from our current $1 billion market opportunity to a 

$5 billion opportunity.   

Our Next Generation Hemodialysis System

Our next generation hemodialysis system is designed to maintain and 

extend NxStage’s leadership in home hemodialysis. We began a multi-

phase launch of this system in August of 2016. To date, this launch has 

included software improvements and a cycler with a new touch screen user 

interface and integrated blood pressure monitor.  These features and new 

functionality deliver significant benefits to our patients, including improved 

setup time and ease of use.  We will continue to invest in bringing additional 

next generation capabilities to our patients and customers as we move 

forward. 

Our Peritoneal Dialysis System

We believe the peritoneal dialysis (PD) market is a significant opportunity for 

NxStage. PD is an established $3 billion worldwide market that we believe 

will continue to grow faster than the overall dialysis market. Our goal is 

to deliver a compelling and differentiated PD system that gives physicians 

and patients exciting new options and improves clinical outcomes. We are 

building off our success in on-site fluid systems to change how PD is done 

- very similar to our approach in home hemodialysis.  

Our Next Generation Critical Care System

Our next generation critical care system is the result of the work we have 

been doing with the U.S. Department of Defense through its DARPA 

program. We believe we have developed some amazing technology with 

this program, and we expect to delight the Critical Care market in terms 

of flexibility, simplicity, and ease of use, all in a surprisingly small package. 

We believe this new system will expand our market gains in the United 

States, and provide us with the feature set to successfully compete within 

the international critical care market. 

WE ARE SEEING EVIDENCE THAT 
OUR VISION IS BECOMING REALITY.
 

We are confident in our strategy and believe that we are well positioned to 

capitalize on the opportunities ahead to deliver exciting long-term growth.  

We are seeing evidence that our vision to change renal care and deliver 

solid returns to our shareholders is becoming a reality. We have much more 

to accomplish, but our future has never been brighter.  We plan to keep 

our heads down, stay focused and continue executing, exactly as we have 

done in the past.  

I believe NxStage can help improve the lives of many more patients, and I 

appreciate the commitment of everyone who shares in our vision. On behalf 

of the Board of Directors and the employees of NxStage, thank you for your 

continued support. 

We look forward to another great year.

Sincerely,

Founder and Chief Executive Officer  

Why offer

at my Skilled Nursing Facility?
On-Site Hemodialysis

Differentiate services and  gain referrals

Less disruptions to patient  care schedules, 
meals, and  medications

Decreased transportation  expenses of 
patients going  to and from dialysis centers

More time for patient  rehabilitation needs

Increased patient census1

1

2

3

4

5
Reference: 
1. Data on File. 2016. NxStage Medical, Inc. Health Advances Interviews.
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Thousands of patients 
Millions of treatments
Years of experience

NxStage System One with Nx2me Connected Health™


